
 

 
AGENDA 

City of Lucas  
City Council Meeting  

October 3, 2019  
7:00 PM  

City Hall – Council Chambers 
665 Country Club Road – Lucas, Texas  

 
Notice is hereby given that a special meeting of the Lucas City Council will be held on Thursday, October 3, 2019 at 7:00 pm at Lucas 
City Hall, 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, Texas 75002-7651 at which time the following agenda will be discussed.  As authorized by 
Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may convene into closed Executive Session for the purpose of seeking 
confidential legal advice from the City Attorney on any item on the agenda at any time during the meeting.  
 
Call to Order  
 

• Roll Call 
• Determination of Quorum  
• Reminder to turn off or silence cell phones 
• Pledge of Allegiance 

 
Citizen Input  
The Citizen Input portion of the agenda is an opportunity for the public to address the City Council on any subject.  By completing a 
“Request to Speak” form and submitting to the City Secretary, citizens have an opportunity to speak at the City Council meeting.  
However, in accordance with the Texas Open Meetings Act, the City Council cannot discuss issues raised or make any decisions but 
may refer items to City Staff for research and possible inclusion on a future agenda.  
 
1. Citizen Input (Mayor Jim Olk) 
 
Community Interest  
Pursuant to Section 551.0415 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may report on the following items: 1) expression of thanks, 
congratulations or condolences; 2) information about holiday schedules; 3) recognition of individuals; 4) reminders about upcoming 
City Council events; 5) information about community events; and 6) announcements involving imminent threat to public health and 
safety.  
 
2. Items of Community Interest. (Mayor Jim Olk) 

 
Consent Agenda  
All items listed under the consent agenda are considered routine and are recommended to the City Council for a single vote approval.  
If discussion is desired, an item may be removed from the consent agenda for a separate vote.  
 
3. Consent Agenda:  
 

A. Consider approval of the minutes of the August 29, 2019 City Council meeting. (City 
Secretary Stacy Henderson)  

 



B. Consider approval of the minutes of the September 19, 2019 City Council meeting. (City 
Secretary Stacy Henderson)  

 
C. Consider adopting Ordinance 2019-10-00896 amending the Code of Ordinances by 

amending Chapter 13 titled “Utilities” by retitling Article 13.03 “Water Conservation Plan 
and Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan”; by retitling Section 13.03.001 
“Adoption of Plans” and Section 13.03.002 titled “Penalty” to adopt the “2019 Water 
Conservation Plan for the City of Lucas” and “2019 Water Resource and Emergency 
Management Plan. (Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn) 

 
Regular Agenda  
 
4. Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract for the construction of On-Call 

Miscellaneous Grading, Excavation, and Finish Work via Work and Purchase Orders (Bid 
#014-18a) with Four Star Excavation, Inc. in the amount not to exceed $100,000 from account 
Improvements Roads 11-8209-301. (City Engineer Stanton Foerster)  

 
5. Consider approving Resolution R 2019-10-00490 supporting the application to the 2019/2020 

Collin County Call for City Projects for West Lucas Road thoroughfare improvements. (City 
Engineer Stanton Foerster) 

 
6. Review the City Charter and provide direction to the City Attorney regarding any proposed 

amendments and consider proceeding with a Charter amendment election on May 2, 2020. 
(City Attorney Joe Gorfida) 

 
7. Discuss permitting the sale of beer and wine produced locally during the Lucas Farmers 

Market.  (Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn) 
 
Executive Session Agenda  
Pursuant to Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may convene into closed Executive Session for the 
purpose of seeking confidential legal advice from the City Attorney regarding any item on the agenda at any time during the meeting. 
This meeting is closed to the public as provided in the Texas Government Code.  
 
8. Executive Session:  An Executive Session is not scheduled for this meeting.  
 
9. Adjournment.  
 
Certification  
I do hereby certify that the above notice was posted in accordance with the Texas Open Meetings Act on the bulletin board at Lucas 
City Hall, 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, TX 75002 and on the City’s website at www.lucastexas.us on or before 5:00 p.m. on  
September 25, 2019.   
 
 

___________________________   
Stacy Henderson, City Secretary 

 
 
In compliance with the American with Disabilities Act, the City of Lucas will provide for reasonable accommodations for persons 
attending public meetings at City Hall. Requests for accommodations or interpretive services should be directed to City Secretary Stacy 
Henderson at 972.912.1211 or by email at shenderson@lucastexas.us at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 



Item No. 01 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

Requester: Mayor Jim Olk 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Citizen Input  
 
Background Information  
 
NA 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
NA 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
  
NA 
 
Motion  
 
NA 



Item No. 02 
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

Requester: Mayor Jim Olk 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
2. Items of Community Interest.  
 
Background Information  
 
NA 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
NA 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
 
NA 
 
Motion  
 
NA 
 
 



Item No. 03 
 
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

Requester: City Secretary Stacy Henderson, Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
3. Consent Agenda:  
 

A. Consider approval of the minutes of the August 29, 2019 City Council meeting.  
 
B. Consider approval of the minutes of the September 19, 2019 City Council meeting.  
 
C. Consider adopting Ordinance 2019-10-00896 amending the Code of Ordinances by 

amending Chapter 13 titled “Utilities” by retitling Article 13.03 “Water Conservation 
Plan and Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan”; by retitling Section 
13.03.001 “Adoption of Plans” and Section 13.03.002 titled “Penalty” to adopt the 
“2019 Water Conservation Plan for the City of Lucas” and “2019 Water Resource 
and Emergency Management Plan. 

 
Background Information  
 
Agenda Item 3C:  
The City of Lucas is required every five years to update the Drought Contingency Plan. The City 
is currently under the North Texas Municipal Water District (NTMWD) 2014 Drought 
Contingency Plan and Emergency Management Plan.  The NTMWD has updated the 2014 
Drought Contingency Plan with the 2019 Water Conservation Plan and the 2019 Water Resource 
and Emergency Management Plan. 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 

1. Minutes of the August 29, 2019 meeting.  
2. Minutes of the September 19, 2019 meeting  
3. Ordinance 2019-10-00896 – Drought Contingency Plan  

 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
 
City Staff recommends approval of the Consent Agenda.  
 
Motion  
 
I make a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented.  



1 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  A u g u s t  2 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

City of  Lucas 
City Council Meeting 

August 29, 2019 
7:05 P.M. 

(or immediately following the Lucas Fire Control, Prevention and EMS District meeting) 
City Hall - 665 Country Club Road – Lucas Texas 

 
MINUTES 

Call to Order  
 
Mayor Olk called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m. 
 
City Councilmembers Present: 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele  
Councilmember Wayne Millsap (arrived at 7:12pm)  
Councilmember Tim Baney 
Councilmember Steve Duke 
Councilmember Debbie Fisher 
Councilmember Philip Lawrence  
 

Staff Present: 
City Manager Joni Clarke  
City Secretary Stacy Henderson   
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn  
Finance Director Liz Exum  
City Engineer Stanton Foerster 
Fire Chief Ted Stephens  
 

Mayor Olk determined that a quorum was present. Everyone was reminded to silence their cell 
phones and the Pledge of Allegiance was recited.   
 
Citizen Input 
 
1.  Citizen Input. 
 
There was no citizen input at this meeting.  
 
Community Interest 
 
2. Items of Community Interest. 
 
Mayor Olk noted that the Lucas Farmers Market would take place on October 12 and November 2 
at the Community Park, and the Public Lands Trail Cleanup event was scheduled for September 21. 
Mayor Olk also explained that he and City Manager Joni Clarke met with Collin County Judge Chris 
Hill and Commissioner Williams regarding the County’s transportation plan for expansion, and the 
City’s vision for future roadways in Lucas. Mayor Olk noted that the City would continue working 
with the County regarding expansion of Lucas roadways in accordance with the City’s vision.  
 
Chief Stephens noted that National Night Out would be held October 1.  

 
Consent Agenda  
 
3. Consent Agenda:  



2 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  A u g u s t  2 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

 
3A.  Consider amending the Fiscal Year 18/19 budget 11-4914 insurance proceeds in the 

amount of $6,295.36 and associated expense account 11-6212-232 Vehicle 
Maintenance for property damage repairs for the hailstorm that occurred on March 25, 
2019.   
 

3B. Consider amending FY 2018-2019 budget by appropriating $27,806 from unrestricted 
Water Fund reserves to account 51-6400-233 Repairs and Maintenance Water Systems 
for repair and replacement of burned out pumps and faulty clay valves damaged during 
peak water volume usage consumed during the months of July and August.  

 
 
MOTION:  A motion was made by Councilmember Duke, seconded by Councilmember Baney to 

approve the Consent Agenda as presented. The motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 
vote.  

 
Regular Agenda  
 
4. Consider approving a City-sponsored fall parade event on Saturday, October 19, 2019.  
 
City Manager Joni Clarke stated that a citizen group was interested in holding a community event at 
the Community Park, but due to certain challenges was unable to do so.  As a compromise, City 
staff was suggesting a city sponsored fall parade and pet costume contest on October 19 that would 
be held in lieu of the parade at Founders Day. Ms. Clarke stated that staff would manage the parade 
and include volunteers.  
 
Councilmember Fisher stated that volunteers should be utilized in a better capacity to involve the 
community and maintain a lighter workload for staff.  
 
The City Council discussed the current workload of staff, the concern of holding too many events in 
the fall, and the need for volunteers to handle a majority of the workload for the event.  
 
Brenda Rizos, 1200 Winningkoff, discussed the details of the community event that the volunteer 
group wanted to hold, but due to insurance and park ordinance regulations were not able to 
conduct. Ms. Rizos stated that they were interested in volunteering for the parade and taking on 
various aspects of the event.  
 
The City Council discussed logistics of the event, such as road closures, utilization of Collin County 
Deputies, and who would handle certain details of the event.  
 
Tracy Matern, 2 Choice Lane, stated that the only items City staff needed to take part in was the 
insurance for the event, traffic related items, and utilization of the deputies. The volunteers would 
handle the remainder of the event.  
 
MOTION:  A motion was made by Councilmember Baney, seconded by Councilmember Duke 

to approve a City-sponsored fall parade event on Saturday, October 19, 2019.  The 
motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote.  

 
 
 



3 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  A u g u s t  2 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

 
 
  
5. Consider approving Resolution R-2019-08-00488 supporting 1) the reconstruction of 

the intersection of FM 1378 and FM 3286; 2) a TxDOT study and consideration of 
the roundabout at said intersection; and 3) providing for an effective date.  

 
Mayor Pro Tem Peele explained that the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) had 
presented to the City a proposal for the reconstruction of the intersection that included a 4-lane 
divided roadway with a median that limited access to the Bait shop and did not allow for a left turn 
onto Cedar Bend.  Mayor Pro Tem Peele stated that the City must seek alternatives that can be 
presented to TxDOT for consideration. Mayor Pro Tem Peele shared the research that she had 
conducted regarding roundabouts, traffic calming devices, and traffic circles, the distinction between 
each item, and what their purpose was related to moving traffic. Mayor Pro Tem Peele discussed 
roundabouts as a viable option for the intersection because it provided continuous traffic flow, the 
size could accommodate between one to four lanes, and roundabouts also accommodate larger 
vehicles and trailers such as horse trailers and fire engines.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Peele asked that voting on this item be delayed until the September 5, 2019 Council 
meeting to allow additional time to get information out to the citizens.  
 
Mayor Olk called the following individuals forward that requested to speak:  
 
Patsy Black, 2180 Snider Lane, expressed her concern that a roundabout would not be able to 
handle the amount of traffic at the intersection currently, and if an 18-wheeler could maneuver 
within the roundabout.  
 
Brenda Rizos, 1200 Winningkoff, expressed her concerns regarding the larger trailers and trucks 
being able to maneuver within the roundabout and if the roundabout would provide relief to the 
congestion at that intersection.  
 
Mohammad Dezfoolian, 175 Southview, owner of the Lucas Food Mart expressed his concern that 
TxDOTs proposal would cut off access to his property and was unsure if the roundabout would 
ease congestion in the area.  
 
City Engineer Stanton Foerster discussed with the Council the timeline and process for approving 
and constructing roadways.  Mr. Foerster stated that a Resolution from the Council would be 
needed for TxDOT to consider another alternative. 
 
Mayor Olk read emails received into the record from the following individuals:  
 
Richard Meyer, 1475 Holy Oak, stated he was in favor of the roundabout. 
Scott and Angela Areis, stated their opposition to the roundabout. 
Kenneth Bird, 4 Orchard Road, stated their opposition to the roundabout. 
 
MOTION:  A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Peele, seconded by Councilmember Duke to 

table this item for consideration to the September 5, 2019 City Council meeting.  
The motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote.  

 



4 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  A u g u s t  2 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

6. Consider adopting Ordinance 2019-08-00898 approving the budget for fiscal year 
beginning October 1, 2019 and ending September 30, 2020.  

 
MOTION: A motion was made by Mayor Olk, seconded by Councilmember Duke to 

adopt Ordinance 2019-08-00898 approving the budget for fiscal year beginning 
October 1, 2019 and ending September 30, 2020. The motion passed 
unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote with the following roll call vote taken:  

 
Councilmember Fisher:  Yes 
Councilmember Baney:  Yes 
Councilmember Duke:  Yes 
Mayor Olk:    Yes 
Mayor Pro Tem Peele:   Yes  
Councilmember Millsap:  Yes 
Councilmember Lawrence:  Yes  

 
MOTION:  A motion was made by Mayor Olk, seconded by Councilmember Lawrence to 

ratify the property tax revenue increase reflected in the fiscal year 2019-2020 
adopted budget. The motion passed by a 6 to 1 vote with the following roll call 
vote taken:  

 
Councilmember Fisher:  Yes 
Councilmember Baney:  Yes 
Councilmember Duke:  Yes 
Mayor Olk:    Yes 
Mayor Pro Tem Peele:   Yes  
Councilmember Millsap:  Nay 
Councilmember Lawrence:  Yes  

  
7. Consider adopting Ordinance 2019-08-00899 of the City of Lucas, Texas, levying Ad 

Valorem Taxes for the Tax Year 2019 (Fiscal Year 2019-2020) at a rate of $0.303216 per 
one hundred ($100) assessed valuation on all taxable property within the corporate 
limits of the City of Lucas as of January 1, 2019.  

 
MOTION:  A motion was made by Councilmember Lawrence, seconded by Baney to 

approve the property tax rate be increased by the adoption of a tax rate of 
$0.303216, which is effectively a 1.96 percent increase in the tax rate. The 
motion passed by a 6 to 1 vote with the following roll call vote taken:  

 
Councilmember Fisher:  Yes 
Councilmember Baney:  Yes 
Councilmember Duke:  Yes 
Mayor Olk:    Yes 
Mayor Pro Tem Peele:   Yes  
Councilmember Millsap:  Nay 
Councilmember Lawrence:  Yes  

 
  



5 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  A u g u s t  2 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

Executive Session Agenda  
 
8. Executive Session.  
 
Pursuant to Section 551.072 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council will convene into 
Executive Session to deliberate the purchase of real property located within the City of Lucas.  
 
The City Council convened into Executive Session at 8:29 pm.  
 
9. Reconvene from Executive Session and take any action necessary as a result of the 

Executive Session.  
 
The City Council reconvened from Executive Session at 8:41pm.  There was no action taken as a 
result of the Executive Session.  
 
10. Adjournment.  
 
MOTION:  A motion was made by Mayor Olk, seconded by Councilmember Millsap to adjourn 

the meeting at 8:41 pm. The motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote.  
 
 
APPROVED:       ATTEST: 
 
 
        ____________________________ 
Mayor Jim Olk  Stacy Henderson, City Secretary  



1 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  S e p t e m b e r  1 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

City of  Lucas 
City Council Meeting 

September 19, 2019 
7:00 P.M. 

City Hall - 665 Country Club Road – Lucas Texas 
 

MINUTES 
Call to Order  
 
Mayor Olk called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
City Councilmembers Present: 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele  
Councilmember Tim Baney 
Councilmember Steve Duke 
Councilmember Debbie Fisher 
Councilmember Philip Lawrence  
 
City Councilmember Absent: 
Councilmember Wayne Millsap   
 

City Staff Present: 
City Manager Joni Clarke  
City Secretary Stacy Henderson   
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn  
City Engineer Stanton Foerster 
Fire Chief Ted Stephens  
EMS Officer Aaron Alderdice  
 
 

Mayor Olk determined that a quorum was present. Everyone was reminded to silence their cell 
phones and the Pledge of Allegiance was recited.   
 
Citizen Input 
 
1.  Citizen Input. 
 
There was no citizen input at this meeting.  
 
Community Interest 
 
2. Items of Community Interest. 
 
Mayor Olk noted the following items of community interest:  
 

• Lucas Farmers Market would take place on October 12 and November 2 at the Community 
Park 

• A Public Lands Trail Cleanup event was scheduled for September 21 at the Brockdale Park 
and Highland Park trailheads  

• Registration for the Scarecrow Contest begins October 1  
• A City sponsored equestrian and pet parade was scheduled for October 19 from 10 am to 

Noon at Hart Elementary 
  



2 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  S e p t e m b e r  1 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

Consent Agenda  
 
3. Consent Agenda:  
 

A. Consider approval of the minutes of the September 5, 2019 City Council meeting.  
 
B. Consider authorizing the Mayor to enter into an interlocal agreement between the City 

of Lucas and Collin County for animal sheltering services for a one-year period 
beginning October 1, 2019 through September 30, 2020.  

 
C. Consider adopting Ordinance 2019-09-00900 of the City of Lucas, Texas, amending 

the Code of Ordinances by amending Chapter 3 titled “Building Regulations” by 
amending Article 3.04 titled “Building Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the 
International Building Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.05 Titled 
“Mechanical Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the International Mechanical 
Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.06 titled “Plumbing” by amending 
Division 2 titled “Plumbing Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the International 
Plumbing Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.07 titled “Electricity” by 
amending Division 3 titled “Electrical Code” by adopting the 2014 National Electrical 
Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.08 titled “Residential Code” by 
adopting the 2015 Edition of the International Residential Code with amendments and 
Appendices A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, J, M, N, O. P, Q and U, save and except Sections 
R324.1 through R324.2 of the 2003 International Residential Code which remain 
unchanged to require Residential Fire Sprinklers; by amending Article 3.09 titled 
“Energy Conservation Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the International 
Energy Conservation Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.10 titled “Fuel 
Gas Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the International Fuel Gas Code with 
amendments; by adding a new Article 3.20 titled “Existing Building Code” to adopt 
the 2015 Edition of the International Building Code with amendments; by adding a 
new Article 3.21 titled “Swimming Pool and Spa Code” to adopt the 2015 Edition of 
the International Swimming Pool and Spa Code with amendments; by amending 
Chapter 5 titled “Fire Prevention and Protection” by amending Article 5.03 titled “Fire 
Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the International Fire Code with amendments 
and Appendices A-I and the latest edition of the National Fire Protection Association 
Standard 1, save and except Section 903.2 of the 2003 International Fire Code which 
remains unchanged to require the installation of automatic sprinkler systems 
throughout all levels of new Group A, B, E, F, H, I, M, R, S and Commercial U 
Occupancies.  

 
Councilmember Fisher and Mayor Pro Tem Peele asked that Agenda Item 3C be removed from the 
Consent Agenda for further discussion.  
  
MOTION:  A motion was made by Councilmember Fisher, seconded by Councilmember 

Lawrence to approve Agenda Items A and B on the Consent Agenda. The motion 
passed unanimously by a 6 to 0 vote.  

  



3 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  S e p t e m b e r  1 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

 
Regular Agenda  
 
3C. Consider adopting Ordinance 2019-09-00900 of the City of Lucas, Texas, amending 

the Code of Ordinances by amending Chapter 3 titled “Building Regulations” by 
amending Article 3.04 titled “Building Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the 
International Building Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.05 Titled 
“Mechanical Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the International Mechanical 
Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.06 titled “Plumbing” by amending 
Division 2 titled “Plumbing Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the International 
Plumbing Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.07 titled “Electricity” by 
amending Division 3 titled “Electrical Code” by adopting the 2014 National 
Electrical Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.08 titled “Residential 
Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the International Residential Code with 
amendments and Appendices A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, J, M, N, O. P, Q and U, save 
and except Sections R324.1 through R324.2 of the 2003 International Residential 
Code which remain unchanged to require Residential Fire Sprinklers; by amending 
Article 3.09 titled “Energy Conservation Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the 
International Energy Conservation Code with amendments; by amending Article 3.10 
titled “Fuel Gas Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the International Fuel Gas 
Code with amendments; by adding a new Article 3.20 titled “Existing Building 
Code” to adopt the 2015 Edition of the International Building Code with 
amendments; by adding a new Article 3.21 titled “Swimming Pool and Spa Code” to 
adopt the 2015 Edition of the International Swimming Pool and Spa Code with 
amendments; by amending Chapter 5 titled “Fire Prevention and Protection” by 
amending Article 5.03 titled “Fire Code” by adopting the 2015 Edition of the 
International Fire Code with amendments and Appendices A-I and the latest edition 
of the National Fire Protection Association Standard 1, save and except Section 903.2 
of the 2003 International Fire Code which remains unchanged to require the 
installation of automatic sprinkler systems throughout all levels of new Group A, B, 
E, F, H, I, M, R, S and Commercial U Occupancies.  

 
Mayor Olk noted that Appendix Q related to swimming pools had been removed from the 
International Residential Code as it was already addressed in the International Building Code.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Peele and Councilmember Fisher were concerned that eliminating the exemption 
from the International Building Code for accessory buildings under 120 square feet would negatively 
impact single-family homes and agricultural properties.  
 
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn responded that the International Building Code only 
applied to non-residential structures and their accessory buildings. The International Residential 
Code applied to residential structures and their accessory buildings. Staff was not proposing to 
eliminate the exemption for small accessory structures from the International Residential Code, only 
the International Building Code.  
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Fisher, seconded by Councilmember Baney 

to approve Ordinance 2019-09-00900 of the City of Lucas, Texas adopting the 
International Codes as outlined above.  The motion passed unanimously by a 6 to 0 
vote.  

 



4 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  S e p t e m b e r  1 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

4. Consider amending the existing agreement with Barnes Waste Disposal for solid 
waste collection and disposal services and increase the rate for basic, expanded and 
expanded plus service by $0.78.  

 
City Manager Joni Clarke stated that Barnes Waste Disposal notified the City of the disposal rate 
increase from the Melissa landfill, and that a $0.78 increase was being requested by Barnes for each 
category of solid waste services.  Ms. Clarke noted that Barnes was in year two of their five-year 
contract.  
 
Norman Barnes, Barnes Waste Disposal stated that he received notice in early September that the 
Melissa landfill would be raising their rates from $34.00 per ton to $38.00 per ton to dispose of 
waste collected.  Mr. Barnes stated that they were proposing to raise costs to cover the additional 
fees.  
 
Councilmember Lawrence asked when the Melissa landfill had their last rate increase?  Mr. Barnes 
responded approximately ten years ago.  
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Lawrence, seconded by Councilmember 

Duke to approve amending the existing agreement with Barnes Waste Disposal for 
solid waste collection and disposal services and increase the rate for basic, expanded 
and expanded plus service by $0.78 monthly. The motion passed unanimously by a 6 
to 0 vote.  

 
5. Provide an overview of Lucas Fire-Rescue’s emergency medical services (EMS) 

billing policy and practices.  
 
EMS Officer Aaron Alderdice discussed with the Council the emergency medical services billing 
policy and practices provided by their outside vendor Emergicon.  Mr. Alderdice discussed billing of 
Medicare and commercial insurances, and that the City had a 51 percent collection rate which was 
above average for the area. Mr. Alderdice noted that Emergicon receives 11 percent of what was 
collected.  He also discussed how customers were billed depending on the level of service received.  
 
The City Council was in agreement that the collection of services was being handled appropriately.  
 
6. Consider approving the updated Capital Improvement Plan from October 1, 2019 

through September 30, 2025.  
 
City Engineer Stanton Foerster explained that the Capital Improvement Plan was updated to include 
2019 Certificate of Obligation water and roadway projects, as well as updating completed projects 
with actual funds spent.  
 
Councilmember Fisher asked that street maintenance identified in year 2021-2026 as well as year 
2026-2031 be reduced from $1,000,000 to $750,000. 
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Mayor Olk, seconded by Councilmember Baney to approve 

the updated Capital Improvement Plan from October 1, 2019 through September 
30, 2025.  The motion passed unanimously by a 6 to 0 vote.  

 
 
 



5 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  S e p t e m b e r  1 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

7. Consider appointments to the Technology Committee to fill vacant positions.  
 
Councilmember Fisher noted that the positions previously held by Trey Sleeper and John Frazier 
needed to be filled on the Technology Committee.  Councilmember Fisher nominated Jamie Gibson 
and Troy Dechant to the Technology Committee.  
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Fisher, seconded by Councilmember Baney 

to appoint Jamie Gibson and Troy Dechant to the Technology Committee.  The 
motion passed unanimously by a 6 to 0 vote.  

 
8. Consider approving Resolution R 2019-09-00489 nominating up to five board 

candidates to the Collin Central Appraisal District Board of Directors.  
 
Councilmember Fisher nominated Wayne Coltrane to the Collin Central Appraisal District Board of 
Directors, noting that he came highly recommended.  He was an Appraisal Review Analyst and 
Certified Broker Appraiser and would be a good fit for this board.  
 
Mayor Olk noted that Councilmember Millsap supported Wayne Mayo and the City of Allen 
requested the City also provide support for Gary Rodenbaugh.  Mayor Olk reminded the Council 
that up to five members could be nominated.  
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Peele, seconded by Councilmember Duke to 

approve Resolution R 2019-09-00489 nominating Wayne Coltrane, Wayne Mayo and 
Gary Rodenbaugh to the Collin Central Appraisal District Board of Directors. The 
motion passed unanimously by a 6 to 0 vote.  

 
9. Consider a request from the City of Lucas Farmers Market Committee to exempt 

participants from permitting fees for the October 12 and November 2 Farmers 
Market as required per the City’s Code of Ordinances, Article 4.000 Health 
Department, Section 4.100 Commercial Business.  

 
City Manager Joni Clarke explained that two farmers markets were being held in October and 
November to assist in building the event and establishing a farmers market in Lucas. Staff was 
requesting to exempt participants from permitting fees for these two events to attract vendors and 
staff would come back at a future date where a fee schedule could be recommended.  Ms. Clarke 
noted that over 30 vendors would be participating in the event.  
 
The Council discussed the collection of fees at a future date, waiving fees for the first two events 
and having a place for donations.  The application and approval process were also discussed and 
having an appropriate number of produce and food versus artisans.  
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Lawrence, seconded by Councilmember 

Duke to exempt participants from permitting fees for the October 12 and November 
2 Farmers Market.  The motion passed unanimously by a 6 to 0 vote.  

  



6 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  S e p t e m b e r  1 9 ,  2 0 1 9  

 
Executive Session Agenda  
 
10. Executive Session. 
 
An Executive Session was not held at this meeting.  
 
Adjournment  
 
11. Adjournment.  
 
MOTION:  A motion was made by Mayor Olk, seconded by Councilmember Baney to adjourn 

the meeting at 8:10 pm. The motion passed unanimously by a 6 to 0 vote.  
 
 
APPROVED:       ATTEST: 
 
 
        ____________________________ 
Mayor Jim Olk  Stacy Henderson, City Secretary  



 
City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2019-10-00896 
(Adopting 2019 Water Conservation Plan and 2019 Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan for the City of Lucas) 
Approved October 3, 2019 

ORDINANCE 2019-10-00896 
[ADOPTING 2019 WATER CONSERVATION PLAN AND 2019 WATER RESOURCE 

AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR THE CITY OF LUCAS] 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, TEXAS, AMENDING 
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES BY AMENDING CHAPTER 13 

TITLED “UTILITIES” BY RETITLING ARTICLE 13.03 “WATER 
CONSERVATION PLAN AND WATER RESOURCE AND EMERGENCY 
MANAGEMENT PLAN”; BY RETITLING SECTION 13.03.001 
“ADOPTION OF PLANS” AND SECTION 13.03.002 TITLED “PENALTY” 
TO ADOPT THE “2019 WATER CONSERVATION PLAN FOR THE CITY 
OF LUCAS” AND “2019 WATER RESOURCE AND EMERGENCY 
MANAGEMENT PLAN”; PROVIDING A REPEALING CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED 
THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH 
OFFENSE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Lucas, Texas (the "City"), recognizes that the amount of water 
available to its water customers is limited; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City recognizes that due to natural limitations, drought conditions, 
system failures and other acts of God which may occur, the City cannot guarantee an uninterrupted 
water supply for all purposes at all times; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Water Code and the regulations of the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality (the "Commission") require that the City adopt a Water Conservation Plan 
and a Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has determined an urgent need in the best interest of the public to 
adopt a Water Conservation Plan and a Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 54 of the Local Government Code, the City is authorized 
to adopt such Ordinances necessary to preserve and conserve its water resources; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend the Code of Ordinances by adopting the 
“2019 Water Conservation Plan for the City of Lucas” and the North Texas Municipal Water 
District (“NTMWD”) Model Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan” which shall be 
officially known as the “2019 Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan for the City of 
Lucas”, attached hereto as Exhibit “A,” incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof, 
as official City policy; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LUCAS, COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS: 
 



 
City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2019-xx-xxxx 
(Adopting 2019 Water Conservation Plan and 2019 Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan for the City of Lucas) 
Approved: October 3, 2019 
 

SECTION 1. That the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances is amended by amending 
Chapter 13 titled “Utilities” by retitling Article 13.03 to “2019 Water Conservation Plan for the 
City of Lucas”, to read as follows: 

“Chapter 13 
UTILITIES 

 
. . . . 
 

ARTICLE 13.03  WATER CONSERVATION PLAN AND WATER RESOURCE AND 
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 
 
Sec. 13.03.001  Adoption of plans 
 
The city council hereby approves and adopts the “2019 Water Conservation Plan for the City of 
Lucas” and the “2019 Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan for the City of Lucas” 
(the “plans”), attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, as if recited verbatim herein. The city commits to 
implement the requirements and procedures set forth in the adopted plan. 
 
Exhibit “A” is hereby adopted by reference for the city and made part hereof for all purposes, the 
same as if fully copied herein. 
 
Sec. 13.03.002  Penalty 
 
(a) It is unlawful for any person to violate the provisions of the plan. 
 
(b) For a first violation of any provision of the plan or this article, the city shall issue a letter 
and provide educational materials on water conservation, including a copy of the relevant 
provisions of this article to the water user violating the provisions of this article. The city shall 
give the water user a reasonable time to correct the violation. 
 
(c) For a second violation of any provision of the plan or this article, the city shall issue the 
water user a citation and upon conviction shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the sum of two 
thousand dollar ($2,000.00). 
 
(d) The city's current five-tier level conservation rate structure is in effect year-round to 
encourage ongoing water conservation. Additional rate surcharges may be established when it is 
required to meet the reduction goal in each respective stage of this article. 
 
. . . ” 
 
  SECTION 2.  That all provisions of the Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, in conflict 
with the provisions of this ordinance be, and the same are hereby, repealed, and all other provisions 
of the Ordinances of the City not in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in 
full force and effect. 



 
City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2019-xx-xxxx 
(Adopting 2019 Water Conservation Plan and 2019 Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan for the City of Lucas) 
Approved: October 3, 2019 
 

 
 SECTION 3. An offense committed before the effective date of this ordinance is 
governed by prior law and the provisions of the Code of Ordinances, as amended, in effect when 
the offense was committed and the former law is continued in effect for this purpose.   
 
 SECTION 4.  That should any word, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase or 
section of this ordinance, be adjudged or held to be void or unconstitutional, the same shall not affect 
the validity of the remaining portions of said ordinance, which shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

SECTION 5. That any person violating any of the provisions or terms of this Ordinance 
shall be subject to the same penalty as provided for in the Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas 
as heretofore amended and upon conviction shall be punished by a fine not to exceed the sum of 
Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) for each offense. 

 
 SECTION 6. This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and 
the publication of the caption, as the law and charter in such cases provides. 
 
DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNSEL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, 
COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS, ON THIS 3RD DAY OF OCTOBER, 2019. 
 
      APPROVED: 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Jim Olk, Mayor  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________  ____________________________________ 
Joseph J. Gorfida, Jr., City Attorney  Stacy Henderson, City Secretary 
(09-25-2019:TM 111148) 
 
 



 
City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2019-10-00896 
(Adopting 2019 Water Conservation Plan and 2019 Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan for the City of Lucas) 
Approved October 3, 2019 

EXHIBIT “A” 
2019 Water Conservation Plan for the City of Lucas and  

2019 Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan for the City of Lucas 





























































































































































































































Item No. 04 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

Requester: City Engineer Stanton Foerster  
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract for the construction of On-Call 
Miscellaneous Grading, Excavation, and Finish Work via Work and Purchase Orders (Bid #014-
18a) with Four Star Excavation, Inc. in the amount not to exceed $100,000 from account 
Improvements Roads 11-8209-301.  
 
Background Information  
 
On August 15, 2019, the City entered into a $50,000 contract with Four Star Excavation, Inc. for 
On-Call Miscellaneous Grading, Excavation, and Finish Work via Work and Purchase Orders.  
In a timely and efficient manor, Four Star completed the following projects via Work Orders #1 
and #2: 
 
1. Clean out five culvers on the north side of East Winningkoff Road between Winningkoff 

Road and Welborn Lane and riprap ends; 
2. Clean out culvert under Snider Lane immediately east of Shady Lane and riprap ends; 
3. Remove and reinstall Toole Drive culvert for 7791 East Parker Road; 
4. Reestablish ditch, install culvert across Snider Lane on the north side of 2250 Snider 

Lane, and riprap northside inlet; 
5. Clean out culvert under Lime Cove immediately north of Citrus Way; 
6. Repair culvert and riprap westside outfall at 1865 Shady; and 
7. Extend culvert and riprap southside outfall at 1780 Snider. 

 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Four Star Contract for FY 19-20 
2. Exhibit A  
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
Use $100,000 from budgeted $750,000 Improvements Roads (11-8209-301). 
 
Recommendation  
  
City staff recommends entering into an agreement with Four Star Excavation for the following 
projects as well as other projects to be named later: 
  



Item No. 04 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

• Mandarin Cove at Citrus Way – replace culvert with correct size; 
• 133 Brockdale Park Road – repair separation; 
• Several (4 or 5) culverts across Orchard Road – cleanout inlet and outlet sides, riprap if 

necessary; 
• Christian Lane at Lakeview Drive – extend culvert and add riprap; 
• 3 Harvest Way – remove parallel culvert pipe and riprap culvert; and 
• 895 Bentwater Drive – clean out culvert and riprap outfall. 

 
Motion  
I make a motion to approve/deny authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract for the 
construction of On-Call Miscellaneous Grading, Excavation, and Finish Work via Work and 
Purchase Orders (Bid #014-18a) with Four Star Excavation, Inc in the amount not to exceed 
$100,000 from account Improvements Roads (11-8209-301).  
 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF LUCAS, TEXAS 
 

 

 

 

 

PUBLIC WORKS CONSTRUCTION PROJECT 
 

Four Star Excavation, Inc. 
 



 i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
ARTICLE I; THE CONTRACT AND THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 1 
 1.1 The Contract    1 
 1.2. The Contract Documents   1 
 1.3 Entire Agreement    1 
 1.4 No Privity with Others   1 
 1.5 Intent and Interpretation   1 
 1.6 Ownership of Contract Documents  2 
 
ARTICLE II; THE WORK    2 
 2.1      2 
 2.2 Work     2 
 
ARTICLE III; CONTRACT TIME    3 
 3.1 Substantial Completion   3 
 3.2 Time      3 
 3.3 Time is of the Essence   3 
 3.4 Liquidated Damages; Early Completion Bonus 4 
 3.5 No Damages for Delay; No Back-Charges; Damage Waiver 4 
 
ARTICLE IV; CONTRACT PRICE   5 
 4.1 The Contract Price   5 
 
ARTICLE V; PAYMENT OF THE CONTRACT PRICE 5 
 5.1 Schedule of Values   5 
 5.2 Payment Procedure   5 
 5.3 Withheld Payment   6 
 5.4 Unexcused Failure to Pay   6 
 5.5 Certificate of Substantial Completion 7 
 5.6 Completion and Final Payment  7 
 
ARTICLE VI; THE CITY     8 
 6.1 Information, Services and Things Required from City 8 
 6.2 Right to Stop Work   8 
 6.3 City's Right to Perform Work  8 
 
ARTICLE VII; THE CONTRACTOR   8 
 7.1 Must Follow Contract   8 
 7.2 Use of Web-Based Project Management System 8 
 7.3 Prosecution of Work   8 
 7.4 Warranty    9 
 7.5 Permits; Fees; Licenses   9 
 7.6 Supervision    9 
 7.7 Work Schedule    9 
 7.8 On-Site Drawings   10 
 7.9 As-Built Plans, Shop Drawings, Product Data, and Samples 10 
 7.10 Cleaning the Site and the Project  10 
 7.11 Access to Work and Inspections  10 
 7.12 Indemnity and Disclaimer   10 
 7.13 Nondiscrimination   11 
 7.14 Prevailing Wage Rates   11 
 7.15 Job Site Safety Precautions  11 
 7.16 Warning Devices and Barricades  12 
 7.17 Protection of Utilities and Other Contractors 12 
 



 

 
ii 

ARTICLE VIII; CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION  12 
 8.1 The Engineer    12 
 8.2 Engineer's Administration   12 
 8.3 Claims by the Contractor   13 
 8.4 Extra Work    13 
 8.5 Claims for Additional Costs or Time; Contract Price Increase 14 
 8.6 Field Orders    14 
 8.7 Mediation    14 
 
ARTICLE IX; SUBCONTRACTORS   15 
 9.1 Definition    15 
 9.2 Award of Subcontracts   15 
 
ARTICLE X; CHANGES IN THE WORK   15 
 10.1 Changes Permitted   15 
 10.2 Change Order Defined   15 
 10.3 Changes in the Contract Price  15 
 10.4 Minor Changes    16 
 10.5 Effect of Executed Change Order  16 
 10.6 Notice to Surety; Consent   16 
 
ARTICLE XI; UNCOVERING AND CORRECTING WORK 16 
 11.1 Uncovering Work   16 
 11.2 Correcting Work    16 
 11.3 City May Accept Defective or Nonconforming Work 17 
 
ARTICLE XII; CONTRACT DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 17 
 12.1 Termination by the Contractor  17 
 12.2 Termination by the City   17 
 12.3 Use of Third-Party Oversight or Construction Manager 19 
 
ARTICLE XIII; INSURANCE    19 
 13.1 Contractor Shall Maintain Insurance 19 
 13.2 Types and Amounts of Contractor’s Insurance 19 
 13.3 Additional Insured   19 
 13.4 Written Notification   19 
 13.5 Premiums and Assessments; Subrogation 20 
 13.6 Certificate of Insurance   20 
 13.7 Primary Coverage   20 
 13.8 Worker’s Compensation Insurance Coverage 20 
 
ARTICLE XIV; MISCELLANEOUS   21 
 14.1 Laws and Ordinances   21 
 14.2 Governing Law    21 
 14.3 Successors and Assigns   21 
 14.4 Surety Bonds    21 
 14.5 Force Majeure    22 
 14.6 Immunities; Defenses   22 
 14.7 No Rights in Third Parties   22 
 14.8 Severability    22 
 14.9 Amendments; No Waiver   22 
 14.10 Notices     22 

 
 

__________________________________________________________



 1 

City of Lucas, Texas 

 This Agreement is made by and between the City of Lucas, Texas, a home-rule municipality (hereinafter 
referred to as the "City") and Four Star Excavation, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Contractor") for construction 
of On-Call Miscellaneous Grading, Excavation, and Finish Work via Work and Purchase Orders, (hereinafter referred 
to as the "Project"), the City and the Contractor hereby agreeing as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

THE CONTRACT AND THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

1.1 THE CONTRACT 

1.1.1 The contract between the City and the Contractor, of which this agreement (sometimes referred to herein as 
the “Contract”) is a part, consists of the Contract Documents.  It shall be effective on the date this Agreement is 
executed by the last party to execute it. 

1.2. THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

1.2.1 The Contract Documents consist of this agreement, the General Conditions, the Special Conditions, the 
Invitation to Bid, Requirements and Instructions to Bidders, the Specifications, the Drawings, the Shop Drawings, the 
Project Manual, all Change Orders and Field Orders issued hereafter, the addenda, exhibits and attachments thereto, 
any other amendments hereto executed by the parties hereafter, together with the following (if any):  Exhibit “A” 
containing the following:  1) Certificate(s) of Liability Insurance; 2) Bid #014-18a application; and 3) any work and 
purchase orders issued pursuant to the turns of this contract.  

1.3 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

1.3.1 This Contract, together with the Contractor's performance and payment bonds for the Project, all General 
Conditions, Special Conditions, Plans and Specifications, and Addenda attached thereto, constitute the entire and 
exclusive agreement between the City and the Contractor with reference to the Project.  Specifically, but without 
limitation, this Contract supersedes any bid documents and all prior written or oral communications, representations 
and negotiations, if any, between the City and Contractor not expressly made a part hereof. 

1.4 NO PRIVITY WITH OTHERS 

1.4.1 Nothing contained in this Contract shall create, or be interpreted to create, privity or any other contractual 
agreement between the City and any person or entity other than the Contractor. 

1.5 INTENT AND INTERPRETATION 

1.5.1 The intent of this Contract is to require complete, correct and timely execution of the Work.  Any Work that 
may be required, implied or inferred by the Contract Documents, or any one or more of them, as necessary to produce 
the intended result shall be provided by the Contractor for the Contract Price. 

1.5.2 This Contract is intended to be an integral whole and shall be interpreted as internally consistent.  What is 
required by any one Contract Document shall be considered as required by the Contract. 

1.5.3 When a word, term or phrase is used in this Contract, it shall be interpreted or construed, first, as defined 
herein; second, if not defined, according to its generally accepted meaning in the construction industry; and third, if 
there is no generally accepted meaning in the construction industry, according to its common and customary usage. 



 

 
2 

1.5.4 The word “City” includes the City of Lucas, Texas, a municipal corporation, and its public officials, officers, 
employees, agents and employees. The word “Contractor” includes the Contractor and its officers, employees, agents 
and representatives. The word "include", "includes", or "including", as used in this subparagraph and in this Contract, 
shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase, "without limitation". 

1.5.5 The specification herein of any act, failure, refusal, omission, event, occurrence or condition as constituting 
a material breach of this Contract shall not imply that any other, non-specified act, failure, refusal, omission, event, 
occurrence or condition shall be deemed not to constitute a material breach of this Contract. 

1.5.6 Words or terms used as nouns in this Contract shall be inclusive of their singular and plural forms, unless the 
context of their usage clearly requires a contrary meaning. 
 
1.5.7 The Contractor shall have a continuing duty to read, carefully study and compare each of the Contract 
Documents, the Shop Drawings, the Product Data, and any Plans and Specifications, and shall give written notice to 
the City of any inconsistency, ambiguity, error or omission which the Contractor may discover with respect to these 
documents before proceeding with the affected Work.  The issuance, or the express or implied approval by the City 
or the Engineer of the Contract Documents, Shop Drawings or Product Data, shall not relieve the Contractor of the 
continuing duties imposed hereby, nor shall any such approval be evidence of the Contractor's compliance with this 
Contract.  The City has requested the Engineer to only prepare documents for the Project, including the Drawings, 
Plans and Specifications for the Project, which are accurate, adequate, consistent, coordinated and sufficient for 
construction.  HOWEVER, THE CITY MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY NATURE 
WHATSOEVER TO THE CONTRACTOR CONCERNING SUCH DOCUMENTS. THE CONTRACTOR 
ASSUMES ALL RISK OF ERRORS, AMBIGUITIES AND INACCURACIES. By the execution hereof, the 
Contractor acknowledges and represents that it has received, reviewed and carefully examined such documents, has 
found them to be complete, accurate, adequate, consistent, coordinated and sufficient for construction, and that the 
Contractor has not, does not, and will not rely upon any representation or warranties by the City concerning such 
documents as no such representation or warranties have been or are hereby made.  Further, the Contractor represents 
and warrants that it has had a sufficient opportunity to inspect the Project site and assumes any and all responsibility 
for inadequacies or ambiguities in the plans, drawings or specifications as well as for latent conditions of the site 
where the work is to be performed. 

1.5.8 As between numbers and scaled measurements on the Drawings and in the Design, the numbers shall govern, 
as between larger scale and smaller scale drawings, the larger scale shall govern. 

1.5.9 Neither the organization of any of the Contract Documents into divisions, sections, paragraphs, articles, (or 
other categories), nor the organization or arrangement of the Design, shall control the Contractor in dividing the Work 
or in establishing the extent or scope of the Work to be performed by Subcontractors. 
 
 
1.6 OWNERSHIP OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

1.6.1 The Contract Documents, and each of them individually and collectively, shall remain the property of the 
City.  The Contractor shall have the right to keep one record set of the Contract Documents upon completion of the 
Project; provided, however, that in no event shall Contractor use, or permit to be used, any or all of such Contract 
Documents on other projects without the City's prior written authorization. 

 

ARTICLE II 

THE WORK 

2.1 The Contractor shall perform all of the Work required, implied or reasonably inferable from this Contract. 



 

 
3 

2.2 WORK 

2.2.1 The term "Work" shall mean whatever is done by or required of the Contractor to perform and complete its 
duties under this Contract, including the following: construction of the whole or a designated part of the Project; 
furnishing of any required surety bonds and insurance, and the provision or furnishing of labor, supervision, services, 
materials, supplies, equipment, fixtures, appliances, facilities, tools, transportation, storage, permits and licenses 
required of the Contractor, power, water, fuel, heat, light, cooling and all other utilities as required by this Contract.  
The Work to be performed by the Contractor is generally described as follows: 
 
Approximate quantities for On-Call Pavement and Roadway Work via Work and Purchase Orders include items 
detailed within the said Work and Purchase Orders; and other miscellaneous improvements as shown on the plans and 
in accordance with the specifications. 

2.2.2 The Contractor shall be responsible for paying for and procuring all materials and labor and furnishing all 
services necessary or appropriate for the full performance of the Work and the for the full completion of the Project.  
All materials shall be new and materials and workmanship shall be of good quality.  Upon request, the Contractor 
shall furnish satisfactory proof of the type, kind, and quality of materials.   

 

ARTICLE III 

CONTRACT TIME 

3.1 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 

3.1.1 "Substantial Completion" shall mean that stage in the progression of the Work when the Work is sufficiently 
complete in accordance with this Contract that the City can enjoy beneficial use or occupancy of the Work and can 
utilize the Work for its intended purpose, even though minor miscellaneous work and/or adjustment may be required. 

3.2 TIME  

3.2.1 The Contractor shall commence the Work within 10 days of receipt of a written Notice to Proceed and shall 
achieve Substantial Completion of the Work no later than number of calendar days listed in the Work and Purchase 
Orders from the date specified in the Notice to Proceed.  The term “calendar days” shall mean any and all days of the 
week or month, no days being excepted. The number of calendar days from the date on which the Work is permitted 
to proceed, through the date set forth for Substantial Completion, shall constitute the Contract Time” and the 
“scheduled completion date.” The execution of this Contract by the Contractor constitutes an agreement that adequate 
time has been allotted for this Contract, given the Contract Price. 

3.2.2 Work may proceed on any day of the week, including weekends, and at any time of the day.  However, work 
shall not occur on such days or at such times as, in the City’s or Engineer’s discretion, may be a violation of noise or 
environmental regulations or ordinances, or when the presence of workers, equipment or materials may create an 
abnormally hazardous condition.  

3.2.3 The Contractor shall submit and comply with construction schedules establishing completion timelines and 
deadlines for each component of the Project. Construction schedules shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Engineer and the City on a regular basis as required by the Contract Documents. If no reference is made to construction 
schedules in the Contract Documents, then construction schedules shall be submitted with each Application for 
Payment.   



 

 
4 

3.3 TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 

3.3.1 The scheduled completion date is based on public necessity. The scheduled completion date is factored into 
and is a material component of the Contract Price. All limitations of time set forth in the Contract Documents are of 
the essence of this Contract.   

3.3.2 TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE IN THE PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK AND THE COMPLETION OF 
THE PROJECT ON OR BEFORE THE SCHEDULED COMPLETION DATE. THE SCHEDULED COMPLETION 
DATE IS A DEADLINE. THE CITY EMPLOYS A ZERO-TOLERANCE POLICY REGARDING THE TIME FOR 
COMPLETION. The time for completion is an essential and material term of this Contract and the Contractor’s failure 
to achieve substantial completion on the date stated herein, to comply with work schedules, or achieve milestones in 
approved construction schedules, shall be a material breach and default of this Contract. 

3.3.3 The City will assess liquidated damages for late or untimely performance and may, at the City’s sole option, 
elect to allow Contractor to continue with the Work, or may declare Contractor to be in breach and default of the 
Contract and order Contractor to remove all equipment and personnel from the work site. All remedies for Contractor’s 
late performance shall be nonexclusive and cumulative without waiver of any other, and the City’s election of one 
shall not preclude the City from pursuing any other.  

3.3.4 It is contemplated by the parties that the progress of the Work may be delayed by certain conditions beyond 
the control of the parties; these delays have been contemplated by the parties and considered in the time allotted for 
performance specified herein and in the contract price and includes, but is not limited to delays occasioned on account 
of adverse weather, temporary unavailability of materials, shipment delays, and the presence and potential interference 
of other contractors or of utilities that may be performing work at the Project site unrelated to this Contract.  These 
delays have been considered and included in the determination of the scheduled completion date and the Contract 
Price. 
 
3.4 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES; EARLY COMPLETION BONUS 

(This section has been removed) 
 
3.5 NO DAMAGES FOR DELAY; NO BACK-CHARGES; DAMAGE WAIVER 

3.5.1 No claim shall be made by the Contractor to the City, and no damages, costs or extra compensation shall be 
allowed or paid by the City to the Contractor for any delay or hindrance from any cause in the progress or completion 
of the Work or this Contract. The Contractor’s sole remedy in the event of any delay or hindrance, regardless of cause, 
shall be to request time extensions by written change orders as provided for hereinafter. The failure to seek or obtain 
a change order for time extension shall be deemed a waiver thereof and Contractor shall be regarded as having made 
a determination that the delay will not affect the completion of the Work. Should the Contractor be delayed by an act 
of the City, or should the City order a stoppage of the Work for sufficient cause unrelated to any act or omission of 
the Contractor, an extension of time shall be granted by the City by Change Order upon written application, which 
extension shall not be unreasonably denied, to compensate for the delay. 

3.5.2 The City shall have the authority to suspend the Work wholly or in part for such period or periods of time as 
it may deem appropriate due to unsuitable conditions considered unfavorable for the proper prosecution of the Work 
or for the failure of the Contractor to carry out instructions from the City or City’s representative.  During any period 
in which the Work is stopped or during which any of the Work is not actively in progress for any reason, Contractor 
shall properly protect the site and the Work from damage, loss or harm. The Contractor shall not be compensated for 
periods of delay caused by a suspension of the work by the City. If work is suspended due to unsuitable conditions 
through no fault of the Contractor, an extension of time shall be granted by the City by Change Order upon written 
application, which extension shall not be unreasonably denied, to compensate for the delay.  

3.5.3 The Contractor shall not have or assert any claim against the City for damages or back-charges of any kind 
for any reason, including but not limited to claims for Extra Work, damages, economic loss, additional costs, unknown 
latent site conditions, and refusals by the City to grant extensions of time, unless supported and authorized by a written 
Change Order or separate agreement signed by all parties. The Contractor, in entering into this Contract, hereby 



 

 
5 

waives, releases, quitclaims, discharges and holds harmless the City from and against any and all claims, damages, 
liabilities and losses, save and except those arising under Paragraph 12.1 of this Contract. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

CONTRACT PRICE 

4.1 THE CONTRACT PRICE 

4.1.1 The City shall pay, and the Contractor shall accept, as full and complete payment for all of the Work required 
herein, the fixed sum of detailed in the Work and Purchase Orders.  The sum set forth in this Paragraph 4.1 shall 
constitute the Contract Price which shall not be modified except by written Change Order as provided in this Contract, 
or the assessment of liquidated damages or the award of an early completion bonus.  The total sum of this contract 
shall not exceed $100,000.00. 

 
ARTICLE V 

PAYMENT OF THE CONTRACT PRICE 

5.1 SCHEDULE OF VALUES 

5.1.1 The Schedule of Values, submitted to and accepted by the City and Engineer at the time of the Contractor’s 
bid, allocates the Contract Price to the various portions of the Work. The Contractor's Schedule of Values shall have 
been be prepared, or at the City’s or Engineer’s request shall be amended prior to the commencement of construction, 
in such form, with such detail, and supported by such data as the Engineer or the City may require to substantiate its 
accuracy. The Contractor shall not imbalance its Schedule of Values nor artificially inflate any element thereof. The 
violation of this provision by the Contractor shall constitute a material breach of this Contract. The Schedule of Values 
shall be used only as a basis for the Contractor's Applications for Payment and shall only constitute such basis after it 
has been acknowledged and accepted in writing by the Engineer and the City. 

5.2 PAYMENT PROCEDURE 

5.2.1 The City shall pay the Contract Price to the Contractor as provided below. 

5.2.2 PROGRESS PAYMENTS - Based upon the Contractor's Applications for Payment submitted to the Engineer and 
upon Certificates for Payment subsequently issued to the City by the Engineer, the City shall make progress payments 
to the Contractor on account of the Contract Price. 
 
5.2.3 APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT - On or before the 25th day of each month after commencement of the Work, 
the Contractor shall submit an Application for Payment for the period ending the 15th day of the month to the Engineer 
in such form and manner, and with such supporting data and content, as the City or the Engineer may require. The 
Contractor may request payment for that portion of the Contract Price properly allocable to Contract requirements 
properly provided and to labor, materials and equipment properly incorporated in the Work, less retainage and less 
the total amount of previous payments received from the City. Such Application for Payment shall be signed by the 
Contractor and shall constitute the Contractor's representation that the Work has progressed to the level for which 
payment is requested in accordance with the Schedule of Values, that the Work has been properly installed or 
performed in full compliance with this Contract, and that the Contractor knows of no reason why payment should not 
be made as requested.  Thereafter, the Engineer will review the Application for Payment and may also review the 
Work at the Project site or elsewhere to determine whether the quantity and quality of the Work is as represented in 
the Application for Payment and is as required by this Contract. The Engineer shall determine and certify to the City 
the amount properly owing to the Contractor. The City shall make partial payments on account of the Contract Price 
to the Contractor within thirty (30) days following the Engineer's receipt and approval of each Application for 
Payment. The amount of each partial payment shall be the amount certified for payment by the Engineer less such 



 

 
6 

amounts, if any, otherwise owing by the Contractor to the City or which the City shall have the right to withhold as 
authorized by this Contract. The Engineer's certification of the Contractor's Application for Payment shall not preclude 
the City from the exercise of any of its rights as set forth in Paragraph 5.3 hereinbelow. 
 
5.2.4 STATEMENT OF DELAY - Each Application for Payment shall include a Statement of Delay showing the 
number of days lost due to inclement weather, conflicts with other City contractors, utilities, or design specifications, 
or other proper reasons. The failure to submit the Statement of Delay shall be a waiver of any claim for additional 
days or extensions of the scheduled completion date.  
 
5.2.5 RETAINAGE - If the Contract Price set forth in Subparagraph 4.1.1 exceeds $400,000, the City shall withhold 
retainage of ten (10) percent from each progress payment to secure performance of the Contract and shall deposit in 
an interest-bearing account that portion of the retainage withheld that exceeds five (5) percent of the progress payment.  
If a different percentage is set forth in the Invitation to Bid, then that percentage shall apply. 

5.2.6 The Contractor warrants that title to all Work covered by an Application for Payment will pass to the City 
when installed at the Project site, regardless of the time of payment. The Contractor further warrants that upon 
submittal of an Application for Payment, all Work for which payments have been received from the City shall be free 
and clear of liens, claims, security interest or other encumbrances in favor of the Contractor or any other person or 
entity whatsoever. 

5.2.7 The Contractor shall promptly pay each Subcontractor out of the amount paid to the Contractor on account 
of such Subcontractor's Work, the amount to which such Subcontractor is entitled.  In the event the City becomes 
informed that the Contractor has not paid a Subcontractor as herein provided, the City shall have the right, but not the 
duty, to issue future checks in payment to the Contractor of amounts otherwise due hereunder naming the Contractor 
and such Subcontractor as joint payees. Such joint check procedure, if employed by the City, shall create no rights in 
favor of any person or entity beyond the right of the named payees to payment of the check and shall not be deemed 
to commit the City to repeat the procedure in the future. 

5.2.8 No progress payment, nor any use or occupancy of the Project by the City, shall be interpreted to constitute 
an acceptance of any Work not in strict compliance with this Contract. 

5.3 WITHHELD PAYMENT 

5.3.1 The City may decline to make payment, may withhold funds, and, if necessary, may demand the return of 
some or all of the amounts previously paid to the Contractor, to protect the City from loss because of: 

 (a) defective Work not remedied by the Contractor or, in the opinion of the City, likely to be remedied by 
the Contractor; 

 (b) claims of third parties against the City or the City's property; 

 (c) failure by the Contractor to pay Subcontractors or others in a prompt and proper fashion; 

 (d) evidence that the balance of the Work cannot be completed in accordance with the Contract for the 
unpaid balance of the Contract Price, 

 (e) evidence that the Work will not be completed in the time required for substantial or final completion 
(final completion meaning the full and final completion of all work called for by this Contract and final 
acceptance by the Engineer and the City); 

 (f) persistent failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract; 

 (g) damage to the City or a third party to whom the City is, or may be, liable. 

 (h) failure to submit an updated project schedule in accordance with Subparagraph 3.2.3. 



 

 
7 

 (i) failure to submit record drawings in accordance with Subparagraph 7.9.1. 

 

In the event that the City makes written demand upon the Contractor for amounts previously paid by the City as 
contemplated in this Subparagraph 5.3.1, the Contractor shall promptly comply with such demand.  The City shall 
have no duty to third parties to withhold payment to the Contractor and shall incur no liability for a failure to withhold 
funds. 

5.4 UNEXCUSED FAILURE TO PAY 

5.4.1 If within twenty (20) days after the date established herein for payment to the Contractor by the City, the 
City, without cause or basis hereunder, fails to pay the Contractor any amount then due and payable to the Contractor, 
then the Contractor may after ten (10) additional days' written notice to the City and the Engineer, and without 
prejudice to any other available rights or remedies it may have, stop the Work until payment of those amounts due 
from the City have been received.  Late payments shall not accrue interest or other late charges. 

5.5 CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 

5.5.1 When the Contractor believes that the Work is substantially complete, the Contractor shall submit to the 
Engineer a list of items to be completed or corrected.  When the Engineer and the City on the basis of an inspection 
determine that the Work is in fact substantially complete, the Engineer will prepare a Certificate of Substantial 
Completion which shall establish the date of Substantial Completion, shall state the responsibilities of the City and 
the Contractor for Project security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work, and insurance, and shall fix the 
time within which the Contractor shall complete the items listed therein. In no event, however, shall the date of Final 
Completion be delayed. Guarantees required by the Contract shall commence on the date of Substantial Completion 
of the Work; however, the maintenance bond required herein, and the assurances given thereunder, shall commence 
of and from the date of final acceptance of the work by the City. The Certificate of Substantial Completion shall be 
submitted to the City and the Contractor for their written acceptance of the responsibilities assigned to them in such 
certificate.  

Upon Substantial Completion of the Work, and execution by both the City and the Contractor of the Certificate of 
Substantial Completion, the City shall pay the Contractor for all work completed to date, less retainage.  

5.6 COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT 

5.6.1 When all of the Work is finally complete and the Contractor is ready for a final inspection, it shall notify the 
City and the Engineer thereof in writing.  Thereupon, the Engineer will make final inspection of the Work and, if the 
Work is complete in full accordance with this Contract and this Contract has been fully performed, the Engineer will 
promptly issue a final Certificate for Payment certifying to the City that the Project is complete and the Contractor is 
entitled to the remainder of the unpaid Contract Price (including retainage and the interest accrued on the retainage in 
excess of five (5) percent if the Contract Price is in excess of $400,000), plus an early completion bonus, if any, less 
any amount withheld pursuant to this Contract. If the Engineer is unable to issue its final Certificate for Payment and 
is required to repeat its final inspection of the Work, the Contractor shall bear the cost of such repeat final inspection(s) 
which cost may be deducted by the City from the Contractor's final payment. 

5.6.1.1 If the Contractor fails to achieve final completion within the time fixed therefor by the Engineer in its 
Certificate of Substantial Completion, the Contractor shall pay the City the sum set forth hereinabove as liquidated 
damages per day for each and every calendar day of unexcused delay in achieving final completion beyond the date 
set forth herein for final completion of the Work.  Any sums due and payable hereunder by the Contractor shall be 
payable, not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages representing an estimate of delay damages likely to be sustained 
by the City, estimated at or before the time of executing this Contract.  When the City reasonably believes that final 
completion will be inexcusably delayed, the City shall be entitled, but not required, to withhold from any amounts 
otherwise due the Contractor an amount then believed by the City to be adequate to recover liquidated damages 
applicable to such delays.  If and when the Contractor overcomes the delay in achieving final completion, or any part 



 

 
8 

thereof, for which the City has withheld payment, the City shall promptly release to the Contractor those funds 
withheld, but no longer applicable, as liquidated damages.  Liquidated damages shall be deducted first from any earned 
early completion bonus, then from any sums otherwise due to the Contractor. 

5.6.2 The Contractor shall not be entitled to final payment unless and until it submits to the Engineer its affidavit 
that all payrolls, invoices for materials and equipment, and other liabilities connected with the Work for which the 
City, or the City's property might be responsible, have been fully paid or otherwise satisfied; releases and waivers of 
lien from all Subcontractors of the Contractor and of any and all other parties required by the Engineer or the City; 
consent of Surety, if any, to final payment.  If any third party fails or refuses to provide a release of claim or waiver 
of lien as required by the City, the Contractor shall furnish a bond satisfactory to the City to discharge any such lien 
or indemnify the City from liability.   

5.6.3 The City shall make final payment of all sums due the Contractor within thirty (30) days of the Engineer's 
execution of a final Certificate for Payment. 

5.6.4 Acceptance of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims against the City by the Contractor except 
for those claims previously made in writing against the City by the Contractor, pending at the time of final payment, 
and identified in writing by the Contractor as unsettled at the time of its request for final payment. 

5.6.5 Other than interest on retainage in excess of 5% under Paragraph 5.2.5, under no circumstances shall 
Contractor be entitled to receive interest on any payments or monies due Contractor by the City, whether the amount 
on which the interest may accrue is timely, late, wrongfully withheld, or an assessment of damages of any kind. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

THE CITY 
 
6.1 INFORMATION, SERVICES AND THINGS 
 REQUIRED FROM CITY 

6.1.1 The City shall furnish to the Contractor, at the time of executing this Contract, any and all written and tangible 
material in its possession concerning conditions below ground at the site of the Project. Such written and tangible 
material is furnished to the Contractor only in order to make complete disclosure of such material and for no other 
purpose.  By furnishing such material, the City does not represent, warrant, or guarantee its accuracy either in whole, 
in part, implicitly or explicitly, or at all, and shall have no liability therefor.  The City shall also furnish surveys, legal 
limitations and utility locations (if known), and a legal description of the Project site. 

6.1.2 Excluding permits and fees normally the responsibility of the Contractor, the City shall obtain all approvals, 
easements, and the like required for construction and shall pay for necessary assessments and charges required for 
construction, use or occupancy of permanent structures or for permanent changes in existing facilities. 

6.1.3 The City shall furnish the Contractor, free of charge, two copies of the Contract Documents for execution of 
the Work. 

6.2 RIGHT TO STOP WORK 

6.2.1 If the Contractor persistently fails or refuses to perform the Work in accordance with this Contract, if the 
Contractor fails to meet milestones set forth in approved construction schedules, if the City has sufficient reason to 
believe that the Contractor is not and will not complete the Project by the scheduled completion date, or if the best 
interests of the public health, safety or welfare so require, the City may order the Contractor to stop the Work, or any 
described portion thereof, until the cause for stoppage has been corrected, no longer exists, or the City orders that 
Work be resumed. In such event, the Contractor shall immediately obey such order. 



 

 
9 

6.3 CITY'S RIGHT TO PERFORM WORK 

6.3.1 If the Contractor's Work is stopped by the City under Paragraph 6.2, and the Contractor fails within seven 
(7) days of such stoppage to provide adequate assurance to the City that the cause of such stoppage will be eliminated 
or corrected, then the City may, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies the City may have against the 
Contractor, proceed to carry out the subject Work.  In such a situation, an appropriate Change Order shall be issued 
deducting from the Contract Price the cost of correcting the subject deficiencies, plus compensation for the Engineer's 
additional services and expenses necessitated thereby, if any.  If the unpaid portion of the Contract Price is insufficient 
to cover the amount due the City, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the City. 

 

ARTICLE VII 

THE CONTRACTOR 

7.1 MUST FOLLOW CONTRACT 

7.1.1 The Contractor shall perform no part of the Work at any time without adequate Contract Documents or, as 
appropriate, approved Shop Drawings, Product Data or Samples for such portion of the Work.  If the Contractor 
performs any of the Work knowing it involves a recognized error, inconsistency or omission in the Contract 
Documents without such notice to the Engineer, the Contractor shall bear responsibility for such performance and 
shall bear the cost of correction. The Contractor shall perform the Work strictly in accordance with this Contract 

7.2 PROSECUTION OF WORK 

7.3.1 The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work using the Contractor's best skill, effort and attention.  The 
Contractor shall be responsible to the City for any and all acts or omissions of the Contractor, its employees and others 
engaged in the Work on behalf of the Contractor. 

7.3.2 The Contractor shall give adequate attention to the faithful prosecution of the Work and the timely completion 
of this Contract, with authority to determine the manner and means of performing such Work, so long as such methods 
insure timely completion and proper performance. 

7.3.3 The Contractor shall exercise all appropriate means and measures to insure a safe and secure jobsite in order 
to avoid and prevent injury, damage or loss to persons or property. 

7.3.4 The City will not interfere with the Contractor’s manner and means of performing the Work. However, the 
City’s insistence on strict compliance with the Contract shall not be regarded as an interference with the Contractor’s 
manner and means.  In the event that any part of the Work is not in strict compliance with the Contract, the Contractor 
is and shall be estopped from claiming any interference by the City or Engineer with the Contractor’s manner and 
means of performing that part of the Work. 

7.4 WARRANTY 

7.4.1 The Contractor warrants to the City that all labor furnished to progress the Work under this Contract will be 
competent to perform the tasks undertaken, that the product of such labor will yield only first-class results, that 
materials and equipment furnished will be of good quality and new unless otherwise permitted by this Contract, and 
that the Work will be of good quality, free from faults and defects and in strict conformance with this Contract.  All 
Work not conforming to these requirements may be considered defective.  THE CONTRACTOR WARRANTS AND 
GUARANTIES THAT IT SHALL COMPLETE THE WORK AND ACHIEVE SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
BY THE SCHEDULED COMPLETION DATE, STRICTLY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS CONTRACT. 
DEFECTIVE WORK OR MATERIALS SHALL BE FIXED, REPAIRED OR REPLACED FREE OF CHARGE OR 
COST TO THE CITY. 



 

 
10 

7.5 PERMITS; FEES; LICENSES 

The Contractor shall obtain and pay for all permits, fees and licenses necessary and ordinary for the Work.  The 
Contractor shall comply with all lawful requirements applicable to the Work and shall give and maintain any and all 
notices required by applicable law pertaining to the Work. 

7.6 SUPERVISION 

7.6.1 The Contractor shall employ and maintain at the Project site only competent supervisory personnel.  Absent 
written instruction from the Contractor to the contrary, the superintendent shall be deemed the Contractor's authorized 
representative at the site and shall be authorized to receive and accept any and all communications from the City or 
the Engineer. 

7.6.2 Key supervisory personnel assigned by the Contractor to this Project are as follows: 

Chris Butterfield, Principal, 940-273-1415, and chrisb@selectexcavation.com 

So long as the individuals named above remain actively employed or retained by the Contractor, they shall perform 
the functions indicated next to their names unless the City agrees to the contrary in writing.  In the event one or more 
individuals not listed above subsequently assume one or more of those functions listed above, the Contractor shall be 
bound by the provisions of this Subparagraph 7.6.2 as though such individuals had been listed above. 

7.7 WORK SCHEDULE 

7.7.1 At the pre-construction meeting, the Contractor shall submit to the City and the Engineer for their 
information, the Contractor's schedule for completing the Work (also referred to herein as the construction schedule). 
The Contractor's schedule shall be revised no less frequently than monthly (unless the parties otherwise agree in 
writing) and shall be revised to reflect conditions encountered from time to time and shall be related to the entire 
Project.  Each such revision shall be furnished to the City and the Engineer.  

7.7.2 The Contractor’s schedule for completing the Work and any revised schedules, shall demonstrate 
achievement of substantial completion by the scheduled completion date. Failure by the Contractor to strictly comply 
with the provisions of this Paragraph 7.7 shall constitute a default and a material breach of this Contract. 

7.8 ON-SITE DRAWINGS 

7.8.1 The Contractor shall continuously maintain at the site, for the benefit of the City and the Engineer, one record 
copy of this Contract marked to record on a current basis changes, selections and modifications made during 
construction.  Additionally, the Contractor shall maintain at the site for the City and Engineer the approved Shop 
Drawings, Product Data, Samples and other similar required submittals.  Upon final completion of the Work, all of 
these record documents shall be delivered to the City. 
 
7.9 RECORD DRAWINGS/PLANS, AS-BUILT PLANS, SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA, AND SAMPLES 

7.9.1 The Contractor shall submit, with each Application for Payment, As-Built plans for any and each part or 
portion of the Project that varies from the Engineer’s plans and specifications and the Contract Documents. 

7.9.2 Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and other submittals from the Contractor do not constitute Contract 
Documents.  Their purpose is merely to demonstrate the manner in which the Contractor intends to implement the 
Work in conformance with information received from the Contract Documents. 

7.9.3 The Contractor shall not perform any portion of the Work requiring submittal and review of Shop Drawings, 
Product Data or Samples unless and until such submittal shall have been approved by the Engineer. Approval by the 
Engineer, however, shall not be evidence that Work installed pursuant thereto conforms to the requirements of this 
Contract. 



 

 
11 

 
7.10 CLEANING THE SITE AND THE PROJECT 

7.10.1 The Contractor shall keep the site reasonably clean during performance of the Work.  The Contractor shall 
clean the site and the Project and remove all waste, rubbish, temporary structures, and other materials during 
construction and, upon completion of construction, shall clean the site and remove all such material together with all 
of the Contractor's property therefrom. Contractor shall dispose of all refuse at a landfill approved by the Texas 
Commission on Environmental Quality. The Contractor shall further restore all property damaged during the 
prosecution of the Work and shall leave the site in a clean and presentable condition. No additional payment shall be 
made by the City for this work, the compensation having been considered and included in the contract price. 

7.11 ACCESS TO WORK AND INSPECTIONS 

7.11.1 The City and the Engineer shall have access to the Work at all times from commencement of the Work 
through final completion.  The Contractor shall take whatever steps necessary to provide access when requested.  
When reasonably requested by the City or the Engineer, the Contractor shall perform or cause to be performed such 
testing as may be necessary or appropriate to insure suitability of the jobsite or the Work’s compliance with the 
Contract requirements. 

7.12 INDEMNITY AND DISCLAIMER 

7.12.1 CITY SHALL NOT BE LIABLE OR RESPONSIBLE FOR, AND SHALL BE 
INDEMNIFIED, DEFENDED, HELD HARMLESS AND RELEASED BY CONTRACTOR 
FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL SUITS, ACTIONS, LOSSES, DAMAGES, CLAIMS, 
OR LIABILITY OF ANY CHARACTER, TYPE, OR DESCRIPTION, INCLUDING ALL 
EXPENSES OF LITIGATION, COURT COSTS, AND ATTORNEY'S FEES, FOR INJURY OR 
DEATH TO ANY PERSON, INJURY OR LOSS TO ANY PROPERTY, OR ECONOMIC LOSS, 
RECEIVED OR SUSTAINED BY ANY PERSON OR PERSONS, INCLUDING THE 
CONTRACTOR, OR PROPERTY, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, OR 
OCCASIONED BY THE PERFORMANCE OF CONTRACTOR UNDER THIS CONTRACT, 
INCLUDING CLAIMS AND DAMAGES ARISING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM THE 
NEGLIGENCE OF CITY, WITHOUT WAIVING THE CITY’S GOVERNMENTAL, 
SOVEREIGN OR OTHER IMMUNITIES OR DEFENSES AVAILABLE TO THE CITY 
UNDER TEXAS LAW AND WITHOUT WAIVING ANY DEFENSES OF THE PARTIES 
UNDER TEXAS LAW. IT IS THE EXPRESS INTENT OF THE PARTIES TO THIS 
CONTRACT THAT THE INDEMNITY PROVIDED FOR HEREIN IS AN INDEMNITY 
EXTENDED BY CONTRACTOR TO INDEMNIFY AND PROTECT CITY FROM THE 
CONSEQUENCES OF THE CONTRACTOR’S AS WELL AS THE CITY'S NEGLIGENCE, 
WHETHER SUCH NEGLIGENCE IS THE SOLE OR PARTIAL CAUSE OF ANY SUCH 
INJURY, DEATH, OR DAMAGE.  

The provisions of this indemnification are solely for the benefit of the parties hereto and not intended to create or grant 
any rights, contractual or otherwise, to any other person or entity. 

7.12.2 The Contractor will secure and maintain contractual liability insurance to cover this indemnification 
agreement that will be primary and non-contributory as to any insurance maintained by the City for its own benefit, 
including self-insurance.  In addition, Contractor shall obtain and file with City a standard form Certificate of 
Insurance evidencing the required coverage. 

7.12.3 In claims against any person or entity indemnified under this Paragraph 7.12 by an employee of the 
Contractor, a Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be 
liable, the indemnification obligation under this Paragraph 7.12 shall not be limited by a limitation on amount or type 



 

 
12 

of damages, compensation or benefits payable by or for the Contractor or a Subcontractor under workers' 
compensation acts, disability benefit acts or other employee benefit acts. 

7.13 NONDISCRIMINATION 

7.13.1 The Contractor shall not discriminate in any way against any person, employee or job applicant on the basis 
of race, color, creed, national original, religion, age, sex, or disability where reasonable accommodations can be 
effected to enable the person to perform the essential functions of the job. The Contractor shall further insure that the 
foregoing nondiscrimination requirement shall be made a part and requirement of each subcontract on this Project. 

7.14 PREVAILING WAGE RATES 

7.14.1 The Contractor shall comply in all respects with all requirements imposed by any laws, ordinances or 
resolutions applicable to the Project with regard to the minimum prevailing wage rates for all classes of employees, 
laborers, subcontractors, mechanics, workmen and persons furnishing labor and services to the Project.  The City has 
adopted a Prevailing Wage Rate Schedule, available to the Contractor by request (or attached to this contract as a part 
of the exhibits), which specifies the classes and wage rates to be paid to all persons.  The Contractor shall pay not less 
than the minimum wage rates established thereby for each class, craft or type of labor, workman, or mechanic 
employed in the execution of this Contract.  The failure of the Contractor to comply with this requirement shall result 
in the forfeiture to the City of a sum of not less than Sixty Dollars ($60.00) for each person per day, or portion thereof, 
that such person is paid less than the prevailing rate.  Upon request by the City, Contractor shall make available for 
inspection and copying its books and records, including but not limited to its payroll records, account information and 
other documents as may be required by the City to insure compliance with this provision. 

7.15 JOB SITE SAFETY PRECAUTIONS 

7.15.1 The Contractor shall at all times exercise reasonable precautions for the safety of its employees, laborers, 
subcontractors, mechanics, workmen and others on and near the jobsite and shall comply with all laws, ordinances, 
regulations, and standards of federal, state and  local safety laws and regulations. The Contractor shall provide such 
machinery guards, safe walk-ways, ladders, bridges, and other safety devices as may be necessary or appropriate to 
insure a safe and secure jobsite and shall require its subcontractors to comply with this requirement. The Contractor 
shall immediately comply with any and all safety requirements imposed by the Engineer during the progress of the 
Work. 

7.16 WARNING DEVICES AND BARRICADES 
 
7.16.1 The Contractor shall furnish and maintain such warning devices, barricades, lights, signs, pavement 
markings, and other devices as may be necessary or appropriate or required by the Engineer to protect persons or 
property in, near or adjacent to the jobsite. No separate compensation shall be paid to the Contractor for such measures.  
Where the Work is being conducted in, upon or near streets, alleys, sidewalks, or other rights-of-way, the Contractor 
shall insure the placement, maintenance and operation of any and all such warning devices as may be required by the 
City and shall do so until no longer required by the City. Such devices shall be in compliance with and conform to the 
manual and specifications for the uniform system of traffic control devices adopted by the Texas Department of 
Transportation. 
 
7.17 PROTECTION OF UTILITIES AND OTHER CONTRACTORS 

7.17.1 The Contractor shall use best efforts to leave undisturbed and uninterrupted all utilities and utility services 
provided to the jobsite or which presently exists at, above or beneath the location where the Work is to be performed.  
In the event that any utility or utility service is disturbed or damaged during the progress of the Work, the Contractor 
shall forthwith repair, remedy or restore the utility at Contractor’s sole expense. The Contractor shall coordinate any 
utility conflicts with the owner of the utility and no extension of time will be requested or given if adequate 
coordination is not provided by Contractor. 



 

 
13 

7.17.2 The Contractor understands and acknowledges that other contractors of the City or of other entities may be 
present at the jobsite performing other work unrelated to the Project.  The Contractor shall use best efforts to work 
around other contractors without impeding the work of others while still adhering to the scheduled completion date.  
In the event that the Contractor’s work is or may be delayed by any other person, the Contractor shall immediately 
give notice thereof to the Engineer and shall request a written Change Order in accordance with the procedures set 
forth by this Contract.  The Contractor’s failure to provide such notice and to request such Change Order shall 
constitute a waiver of any and all claims associated therewith. 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 

8.1 THE ENGINEER 

8.1.1 When used in this Contract the term “Engineer” does not necessarily denote a duly licensed, trained or 
certified engineer; as used herein, the term shall be used interchangeably and shall mean a designated Engineer, 
Engineer, or Contract Administrator (who may not be an architect or engineer) for the City, said person to be 
designated or re-designated by the City prior to or at any time during the Work hereunder.  The Engineer may be an 
employee of the City or may be retained by the City as an independent contractor but, in either event, the Engineer’s 
duties and authority shall be as set forth hereinafter. The Contractor understands and agrees that it shall abide by the 
decisions and instructions of the Engineer notwithstanding the contractual relationship between the City and Engineer, 
the title of Contract Administrator, or the fact that the Engineer is an employee of the City.  

In the event the City should find it necessary or convenient to replace the Engineer, the City shall retain a replacement 
Engineer and the status of the replacement Engineer shall be that of the former Engineer. 

8.2 ENGINEER'S ADMINISTRATION 

8.2.1 The Engineer, unless otherwise directed by the City in writing, will perform those duties and discharge those 
responsibilities allocated to the Engineer as set forth in this Contract.  The Engineer shall be the City's representative 
from the effective date of this Contract until final payment has been made. 

8.2.2 The City and the Contractor shall communicate with each other in the first instance through the Engineer. 
 
8.2.3 The Engineer shall be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the drawings and specifications and the 
judge of the performance thereunder by the Contractor.  The Engineer shall render written or graphic interpretations 
necessary for the proper execution or progress of the Work with reasonable promptness on request of the Contractor. 

8.2.4 The Engineer will review the Contractor's Applications for Payment and will certify to the City for payment 
to the Contractor, those amounts then due the Contractor as provided in this Contract. 

8.2.5 The Engineer shall have authority to reject Work which is defective or does not conform to the requirements 
of this Contract.  If the Engineer deems it necessary or advisable, the Engineer shall have authority to require additional 
inspection or testing of the Work for compliance with Contract requirements. 

8.2.6 The Engineer will review and approve, or take other appropriate action as necessary, concerning the 
Contractor's submittals including Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples.  Such review, approval or other action 
shall be for the sole purpose of determining conformance with the design concept and information given through the 
Contract Documents. 

8.2.7 The Engineer will prepare Change Orders and may authorize minor changes in the Work by Field Order as 
provided elsewhere herein. 



 

 
14 

8.2.8 The Engineer shall, upon written request from the Contractor, conduct inspections to determine the date of 
Substantial Completion and the date of final completion, will receive and forward to the City for the City's review and 
records, written warranties and related documents required by this Contract and will issue a final Certificate for 
Payment upon compliance with the requirements of this Contract. 

8.2.9 The Engineer's decisions in matters relating to aesthetic effect shall be final if consistent with the intent of 
this Contract. 

8.3 CLAIMS BY THE CONTRACTOR 

8.3.1 The Engineer shall determine all claims and matters in dispute between the Contractor and City with regard 
to the execution, progress, or sufficiency of the Work or the interpretation of the Contract Documents, including but 
not limited to the plans and specifications. Any dispute shall be submitted in writing to the Engineer within seven (7) 
days of the event or occurrence or the first appearance of the condition giving rise to the claim or dispute and the 
Engineer shall render a written decision within a reasonable time thereafter. The Engineer’s decisions shall be final 
and binding on the parties. In the event that either party objects to the Engineer’s determination as to any submitted 
dispute, that party shall submit a written objection to the Engineer and the opposing party within ten (10) days of 
receipt of the Engineer’s written determination in order to preserve the objection. Failure to so object shall constitute 
a waiver of the objection for all purposes. 

8.3.2 Pending final resolution of any claim of the Contractor, the Contractor shall diligently proceed with 
performance of this Contract and the City shall continue to make payments to the Contractor in accordance with this 
Contract. 

8.3.3 CLAIMS FOR CONCEALED, LATENT OR UNKNOWN CONDITIONS - The Contractor expressly represents that it 
has been provided with an adequate opportunity to inspect the Project site and thoroughly review the Contract 
Documents and plans and specifications prior to submission of its bid and the City’s acceptance of the bid. Subject to 
the conditions hereof, Contractor assumes full responsibility and risk for any concealed, latent or unknown condition 
which may affect the Work. No claims for extra work or additional compensation shall be made by Contractor in 
connection with concealed, latent or unknown conditions except as expressly provided herein. Should concealed, 
latent or unknown conditions encountered in the performance of the Work (a) below the surface of the ground or (b) 
in an existing structure be at variance with the conditions indicated by this Contract, or should unknown conditions of 
an unusual nature differing materially from those ordinarily encountered in the area and generally recognized as 
inherent in Work of the character provided for in this Contract, be encountered, the Contract Price shall be equitably 
adjusted by Change Order upon the written notice and claim by either party made within seven (7) days after the first 
observance of the condition. As a condition precedent to the City having any liability to the Contractor for concealed 
or unknown conditions, the Contractor must give the City and the Engineer written notice of, and an opportunity to 
observe, the condition prior to disturbing it. The failure by the Contractor to make the written notice and claim as 
provided in this Subparagraph shall constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim arising out of or relating to 
such concealed, latent or unknown condition and the Contractor thereby assumes all risks and additional costs 
associated therewith. 

8.4 EXTRA WORK 

8.4.1 The Contractor shall not claim, request or demand any sum from the City for Extra Work or for additional 
costs, and hereby waives all such claims, requests and demands and any right to assert same, unless the conditions of 
this subparagraph are strictly complied with. “Extra Work” is defined herein to mean any labor, service, materials, 
equipment, supplies or charges that are directly or indirectly related to the Work, the Project or the Project site, that is 
not necessarily or fairly required or implied by the Contract Documents. 

8.4.2 The parties acknowledge and agree that there shall be no payment made by the City to the Contractor without 
a written agreement (either a separate contract or a written Change Order) signed by the parties. Should the Contractor 
perform Extra Work or be requested to perform Extra Work by the Engineer or City, it shall be the Contractor’s 
obligation and duty to first apply for and obtain a written Change Order, approved by the Engineer and executed by 
the City. The Contractor’s failure to obtain a written, signed Change Order prior to commencement of Extra Work 
shall constitute a complete and final waiver of any right for compensation for the Extra Work. 



 

 
15 

8.5 CLAIMS FOR ADDITIONAL COSTS OR TIME; CONTRACT PRICE INCREASE 

8.5.1 If the Contractor wishes to make a claim for an increase in the Contract Price, as a condition precedent to 
any liability of the City therefor, the Contractor shall give the Engineer written notice of such claim within seven (7) 
days after the occurrence of the event, or the first appearance of the condition, giving rise to such claim.  Such notice 
shall be given by the Contractor before proceeding to execute any additional or changed Work. The failure by the 
Contractor to give such notice and to give such notice prior to executing the Work shall constitute a waiver of any 
right to or claim for additional compensation. 

8.5.2 In connection with any claim by the Contractor against the City for compensation in excess of the Contract 
Price, any liability of the City for the Contractor's costs shall be strictly limited to direct costs incurred by the 
Contractor and shall in no event include indirect costs or consequential damages of the Contractor. The City shall not 
be liable to the Contractor for claims of third parties, including Subcontractors. The City shall not be liable to the 
Contractor for any claims based upon delay to the Contractor for any reason whatsoever including any act or neglect 
on the part of the City. 

8.5.3 If the Contractor is delayed in progressing any task which at the time of the delay is then critical or which 
during the delay becomes critical, as the sole result of any act or neglect to act by the City or someone acting in the 
City's behalf, or by changes ordered in the Work, unusual delay in transportation, unusually adverse weather 
conditions not reasonably anticipated, fire or any causes beyond the Contractor's control, then the date for achieving 
Substantial Completion of the Work shall be extended upon the written notice and claim of the Contractor to the City 
and the Engineer, for such reasonable time as the Engineer may determine.  Any notice and claim for an extension of 
time by the Contractor shall be made not more than seven (7) days after the occurrence of the event or the first 
appearance of the condition giving rise to the claim and shall set forth in detail the Contractor's basis for requiring 
additional time in which to complete the Project.  In the event the delay to the Contractor is a continuing one, only 
one notice and claim for additional time shall be necessary.  If the Contractor fails to make such claim as required in 
this Subparagraph, any claim for an extension of time shall be waived. The procedures and remedies provided by this 
provision shall be the sole remedy of Contractor and Contractor shall not assert nor be entitled to any additional delays 
or damages associated therewith. 

8.6 FIELD ORDERS 

8.6.1 The Engineer shall have authority to order minor changes in the Work not involving a change in the Contract 
Price or in Contract Time and not inconsistent with the intent of the Contract.  Such changes shall be effected by Field 
Order and shall be binding upon the Contractor.  The Contractor shall carry out such Field Orders promptly. 

8.7 MEDIATION 

8.7.1 In the event that a dispute arises under the terms of this Contract, following an adverse determination by the 
Engineer and proper preservation of the issue as required herein, the parties agree to submit to mediation. In such 
event, the parties shall agree to a designated person to serve as mediator and each party shall be responsible for 
payment of one-half of the total mediation fees. The parties shall submit the dispute to mediation as soon as practical 
and in no event later than one (1) year after the Engineer’s written decision on the matter. At least one designated 
representative of each party must attend and participate in good faith in an effort to resolve the matters in dispute. 

8.7.2 In no event shall the foregoing provision justify or authorize any delay in the progress of the Work; the parties 
shall abide by the decision of the Engineer in accomplishing the timely completion of the Project. 



 

 
16 

 

ARTICLE IX 

SUBCONTRACTORS 

9.1 DEFINITION 

9.1.1 A Subcontractor is a person or entity that has a direct contract with the Contractor to perform a portion of the 
Work.  No Subcontractor shall be in privity with the City. 

9.2 AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS 

9.2.1 Upon execution of the Contract, the Contractor shall furnish the City, in writing, the names of persons or 
entities proposed by the Contractor to act as a Subcontractor on the Project. The City shall promptly reply to the 
Contractor, in writing, stating any objections the City may have to such proposed Subcontractor.  The Contractor shall 
not enter into a subcontract with a proposed Subcontractor with reference to whom the City has made timely objection.  
The Contractor shall not be required to subcontract with any party to whom the Contractor has objection. 

9.2.2 All subcontracts shall afford the Contractor rights against the Subcontractor which correspond to those rights 
afforded to the City against the Contractor herein, including those rights afforded to the City by Subparagraph 12.2.1 
below. All subcontracts shall incorporate by reference the provisions hereof and shall provide that no claims, causes 
or demands shall be made by any Subcontractor against the City. 

9.2.3 The Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City from and against any and all claims, 
demands, causes of action, damage, and liability asserted or made against the City by or on behalf of any 
Subcontractor. 

 

ARTICLE X 

CHANGES IN THE WORK 

10.1 CHANGES PERMITTED 

10.1.1 Changes in the Work within the general scope of this Contract, consisting of additions, deletions, revisions, 
or any combination thereof, may be ordered without invalidating this Contract, by Change Order or by Field Order. 

10.1.2 Changes in the Work shall be performed under applicable provisions of this Contract and the Contractor shall 
proceed promptly with such changes. 

10.2 CHANGE ORDER DEFINED 

10.2.1 Change Order shall mean a written order to the Contractor executed by the City and the Engineer, issued 
after execution of this Contract, authorizing and directing a change in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price 
or the Contract Time, or any combination thereof. The Contract Price and the Contract Time may be changed only by 
written Change Order. 

10.3 CHANGES IN THE CONTRACT PRICE 

10.3.1 Any change in the Contract Price resulting from a Change Order shall be determined as follows: (a) by mutual 
agreement between the City and the Contractor as evidenced by (1) the change in the Contract Price being set forth in 
the Change Order, (2) such change in the Contract Price, together with any conditions or requirements related thereto, 



 

 
17 

being initialed by both parties, and (3) the Contractor's execution of the Change Order, or (b) if no mutual agreement 
occurs between the City and the Contractor, then, as provided in Subparagraph 10.3.2 below. 

10.3.2 If no mutual agreement occurs between the City and the Contractor as contemplated in Subparagraph 10.3.1 
above, the change in the Contract Price, if any, shall then be determined by the Engineer on the basis of the reasonable 
expenditures or savings of those performing, deleting or revising the Work attributable to the change, including, in 
the case of an increase or decrease in the Contract Price, a reasonable allowance for direct job site overhead and profit.  
In such case, the Contractor shall present, in such form and with such content as the City or the Engineer require, an 
itemized accounting of such expenditures or savings, plus appropriate supporting data for inclusion in a Change Order. 
Reasonable expenditures or savings shall be limited to the following: reasonable costs of materials, supplies, or 
equipment including delivery costs, reasonable costs of labor, including social security, old age and unemployment 
insurance, fringe benefits required by agreement or custom, and workers' compensation insurance, reasonable rental 
costs of machinery and equipment exclusive of hand tools whether rented from the Contractor or others, reasonable 
costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance, permit fees, and sales, use or other taxes related to the Work, and 
reasonable cost of direct supervision and jobsite field office overhead directly attributable to the change.  In no event 
shall any expenditure or savings associated with the Contractor's home office or other non-jobsite overhead expense 
be included in any change in the Contract Price. Pending final determination of reasonable expenditures or savings to 
the City, payments on account shall be made to the Contractor on the Engineer's Certificate for Payment. 

10.3.3 If unit prices are provided in the Contract, and if the quantities contemplated are so changed in a proposed 
Change Order that application of such unit prices to the quantities of Work proposed will cause substantial inequity 
to the City or to the Contractor, the applicable unit prices shall be equitably adjusted. 

10.4 MINOR CHANGES 

10.4.1 The Engineer shall have authority to order minor changes in the Work not involving a change in the Contract 
Price or an extension of the Contract Time and not inconsistent with the intent of this Contract. Such minor changes 
shall be made by written Field Order, and shall be binding upon the City and the Contractor. The Contractor shall 
promptly carry out such written Field Orders. 

10.5 EFFECT OF EXECUTED CHANGE ORDER 

10.5.1 The execution of a Change Order by the Contractor shall constitute conclusive evidence of the Contractor's 
agreement to the ordered changes in the Work, this Contract as thus amended, the Contract Price and the Contract 
Time. The Contractor, by executing the Change Order, waives and forever releases any claim against the City for 
additional time or compensation for matters relating to or arising out of or resulting from the Work included within or 
affected by the executed Change Order. 

10.6 NOTICE TO SURETY; CONSENT 

10.6.1 The Contractor shall notify and obtain the consent and approval of the Contractor's surety with reference to 
all Change Orders if such notice, consent or approval are required by the Contractor's surety or by law. The 
Contractor's execution of the Change Order shall constitute the Contractor's warranty to the City that the surety has 
been notified of and consents to, such Change Order and the surety shall be conclusively deemed to have been notified 
of such Change Order and to have expressly consented thereto. 



 

 
18 

 

ARTICLE XI 

UNCOVERING AND CORRECTING WORK 

11.1 UNCOVERING WORK 

11.1.1 If any of the Work is covered contrary to the Engineer's request or to any provisions of this Contract, it shall, 
if required by the Engineer or the City, be uncovered for the Engineer's inspection and shall be properly replaced at 
the Contractor's expense without change in the Contract Time or Contract Price. 

11.1.2 If any of the Work is covered in a manner consistent with the Engineer’s request or the provisions of this 
Contract, it shall, if required by the Engineer or City, be uncovered for the Engineer's inspection. If such Work 
conforms strictly to this Contract, costs of uncovering and proper replacement shall by Change Order be charged to 
the City.  If such Work does not strictly conform to this Contract, the Contractor shall pay the costs of uncovering and 
proper replacement. 

11.2 CORRECTING WORK 

11.2.1 The Contractor shall immediately proceed to correct Work rejected by the Engineer as defective or failing to 
conform to this Contract.  The Contractor shall pay all costs and expenses associated with correcting such rejected 
Work, including any additional testing and inspections, and reimbursement to the City for the Engineer's services and 
expenses made necessary thereby. 

11.2.2 If within one (1) year after Substantial Completion of the Work any of the Work is found to be defective or 
not in accordance with this Contract, the Contractor shall correct it promptly upon receipt of written notice from the 
City.  This obligation shall survive final payment by the City and termination of this Contract.  With respect to Work 
first performed and completed after Substantial Completion, this one-year obligation to specifically correct defective 
and nonconforming Work shall be extended by the period of time which elapses between Substantial Completion and 
completion of the subject Work. 

11.2.3 Nothing contained in this Paragraph 11.2 shall establish any period of limitation with respect to other 
obligations which the Contractor has under this Contract.  Establishment of the four year time period in Subparagraph 
11.2.2 relates only to the duty of the Contractor to specifically correct the Work. 

11.3 CITY MAY ACCEPT DEFECTIVE OR NONCONFORMING WORK 

11.3.1 If the City chooses to accept defective or nonconforming Work, the City may do so at its sole discretion. In 
such event, the Contract Price shall be reduced by the greater of (a) the reasonable cost of removing and correcting 
the defective or nonconforming Work, and (b) the difference between the fair market value of the Project as 
constructed and the fair market value of the Project had it not been constructed in such a manner as to include defective 
or nonconforming Work.  If the remaining portion of the unpaid Contract Price, if any, is insufficient to compensate 
the City for its acceptance of defective or nonconforming Work, the Contractor shall, upon written demand from the 
City, pay the City such remaining compensation for accepting defective or nonconforming Work. 

 

ARTICLE XII 
 

CONTRACT DEFAULT 
AND TERMINATION 



 

 
19 

12.1 TERMINATION BY THE CONTRACTOR 

12.1.1 If the Work is stopped for a period of ninety (90) days by an order of any court or other public authority, or 
as a result of an act of the Government, through no fault of the Contractor or any person or entity working directly or 
indirectly for the Contractor, the Contractor may, upon fifteen (15) days' written notice to the City and the Engineer, 
terminate performance under this Contract and recover from the City payment for the actual reasonable expenditures 
of the Contractor (as limited in Subparagraph 10.3.2 above) for all Work executed and for materials, equipment, tools, 
construction equipment and machinery actually purchased or rented solely for the Work, less any salvage value of any 
such items. 

12.1.2 If the City shall persistently or repeatedly fail to perform any material obligation to the Contractor for a period 
of fifteen (15) days after receiving written notice from the Contractor of its intent to terminate hereunder, the City 
shall have fifteen (15) days to remedy its failure and if not so cured, the Contractor may terminate performance under 
this Contract by written notice to the Engineer and the City.  In such event, the Contractor shall be entitled to recover 
from the City as though the City had terminated the Contractor's performance under this Contract for convenience 
pursuant to Subparagraph 12.2.1 hereunder. 

12.2 TERMINATION BY THE CITY 

12.2.1 FOR CONVENIENCE 

12.2.1.1 The City may for any reason whatsoever terminate performance under this Contract by the Contractor for 
convenience.  The City shall give written notice of such termination to the Contractor specifying when termination 
becomes effective. 

12.2.1.2 The Contractor shall incur no further obligations in connection with the Work and the Contractor shall stop 
Work when such termination becomes effective. The Contractor shall also terminate outstanding orders and 
subcontracts.  The Contractor shall settle the liabilities and claims arising out of the termination of subcontracts and 
orders.  The City may direct the Contractor to assign the Contractor's right, title and interest under terminated orders 
or subcontracts to the City or its designee. 

12.2.1.3 The Contractor shall transfer title and deliver to the City such completed or partially completed Work and 
materials, equipment, parts, fixtures, information and Contract rights as the Contractor has. 

12.2.1.4 (a) The Contractor shall submit a termination claim to the City and the Engineer specifying the amounts 
due because of the termination for convenience together with costs, pricing or other data required by 
the Engineer.  If the Contractor fails to file a termination claim within one (1) year from the effective 
date of termination, the City shall pay the Contractor, an amount derived in accordance with 
subparagraph (c) below. 

(b) The City and the Contractor may agree to the compensation, if any, due to the Contractor hereunder. 
 
(c) Absent agreement to the amount due to the Contractor, the City shall pay the Contractor the following 

amounts: 

(i) Contract prices for labor, materials, equipment and other services accepted under this Contract; 

(ii) Reasonable costs incurred in preparing to perform and in performing the terminated portion of the 
Work, and in terminating the Contractor's performance, plus a fair and reasonable allowance for 
overhead and profit thereon (such profit shall not include anticipated profit or consequential 
damages), provided however, that if it appears that the Contractor would have not profited or 
would have sustained a loss if the entire Contract would have been completed, no profit shall be 
allowed or included and the amount of compensation shall be reduced to reflect the anticipated 
rate of loss, if any; 



 

 
20 

(iii) Reasonable costs of settling and paying claims arising out of the termination of subcontracts or 
orders pursuant to Subparagraph 12.2.1.2 of this Paragraph.  These costs shall not include amounts 
paid in accordance with other provisions hereof. 

12.2.1.5 The total sum to be paid the Contractor under this Subparagraph 12.2.1 shall not exceed the total Contract 
Price, as properly by amounts withheld by the City and reduced by the amount of payments otherwise made, and shall 
in no event include duplication of payment. 

12.2.2 FOR CAUSE 

12.2.2.1 The following constitute grounds for termination of this Contract by the City: 

 (a) the Contractor’s failure or refusal to prosecute the Work in a timely manner; 

 (b) The Contractor abandons the jobsite and fails to resume work within five (5) days of written notice 
thereof by the City; 

 (c) the Contractor fails to meet milestones or comply with approved construction schedules; 

 (d) the Contractor fails to grant or allow access to the jobsite by the City or Engineer; 

 (e) the Contractor fails to supply enough properly skilled workers, supervisory personnel or proper 
equipment or materials; 

 (f) the Contractor fails to make prompt payment to Subcontractors or for materials or labor; 

 (g) the Contractor persistently disregards laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public 
authority having jurisdiction; or, 

 (h) the Contractor is otherwise guilty of a violation of a material provision of this Contract. 

In the event of the occurrence of any one or more of the above events, the City may by written notice to the Contractor, 
without prejudice to any other right or remedy, terminate the employment of the Contractor, exclude the Contractor 
from the job site, and take possession of the site and of all materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and 
machinery thereon owned by the Contractor and may finish the Work by whatever methods it may deem expedient.  
In such case, the Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is finished. 

12.2.2.2 If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price does not exceed the cost of finishing the work, including 
compensation for the Engineer's additional services and expenses made necessary thereby, such difference shall be 
paid by the Contractor to the City.  This obligation for payment shall survive the termination of the Contract. 

12.2.2.3 In the event the employment of the Contractor is terminated by the City for cause pursuant to Subparagraph 
12.2.2 and it is subsequently determined by a Court of competent jurisdiction that such termination was without cause, 
such termination shall thereupon be deemed a Termination for Convenience under Subparagraph 12.2.1 and the 
provisions of Subparagraph 12.2.1 shall apply. 

12.3 USE OF THIRD-PARTY OVERSIGHT OR CONSTRUCTION MANAGER 

12.3.1 Should the City allow the Contractor to continue its performance of Work notwithstanding an event of default 
specified in Subparagraph 12.2.2.1, or should there be an imminent potential of default, the City, at its sole option and 
within its sole discretion, may retain a third-party construction manager to document the events of default and oversee 
further progress of the Work.  The use of a third-party construction manager shall not prevent the City from declaring 
the Contractor to be in default and the City may, at its sole option and within its sole discretion, terminate this Contract 
at any time.  Should the City retain a third-party construction manager, the costs thereof shall be withheld from any 



 

 
21 

amounts due Contractor upon termination.  The City’s exercise of this option shall be without prejudice to any other 
right or remedy available to the City by law or under this Contract. 

 

ARTICLE XIII 

INSURANCE 
 
13.1 CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN INSURANCE 

13.1.1 The Contractor at its own expense shall purchase, maintain and keep in force during the life of this contract, 
adequate insurance that will protect the Contractor and/or any Additional Insured from claims which may arise out of 
or result from operations under this Contract. The insurance required shall provide adequate protections from all 
claims, whether such operations be by the Contractor or by any Additional Insured or by any Subcontractor or by 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone whose acts of any of them may be liable and 
from any special hazards, such as blasting, which may be encountered in the performance of this contract in the 
amounts as shown below in Paragraph 13.2.1. 

13.1.2 The Contractor shall not commence work on any Contract in the City until the Contractor has obtained all 
the insurance required under this paragraph and such insurance has been approved by the City. 

13.2 TYPES AND AMOUNTS OF CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE 

13.2.1. The Contractor shall furnish and maintain during the life of the contract adequate Worker's Compensation 
and Commercial General Liability (Public) Insurance in such amounts as follows: 

Type of Insurance  Amount 

Worker's Compensation As set forth in the Worker's Compensation Act. 

Commercial General $1,000,000 Each Accident/Occurrence. 
 
Liability (Public)  $1,000,000 Aggregate 

 $1,000,000 Products & 
 Completed Operations 
 Aggregate. 
 
City’s Protective $600,000 per occurrence 
 
Liability Insurance $1,000,000 aggregate 
 
Automobile Liability $500,000 Combined 
   single limit per 
   occurrence. 
 

13.3 ADDITIONAL INSURED 

13.3.1 The City and the Engineer shall be named as an additional insured on the Commercial General Liability 
(Public), City’s Protective Liability, and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance Policies furnished by the Contractor. 

13.4 WRITTEN NOTIFICATION 

13.4.1 Each insurance policy shall contain a provision requiring that thirty (30) days prior to expiration, cancellation, 
non-renewal or any material change in coverage, a notice there of shall be given by certified mail to the City of Lucas, 
Attention: City Engineer, 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, TX 75002-7561.  



 

 
22 

13.5 PREMIUMS AND ASSESSMENTS; SUBROGATION 

13.5.1 Companies issuing the insurance policies shall have no recourse against the City for payment of any 
premiums or assessments for any deductibles which are at the sole responsibility and risk of the Contractor. Insurance 
Companies shall have no right of subrogation against the City or the Engineer. 

13.6 CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE 

13.6.1 Proof that the insurance is in force shall be furnished to the City on Standard Certificate of Insurance Forms.  
In the event any insurance policy shown on the Certificate of Insurance has an expiration date that is prior to the 
completion and final acceptance of the project by the City, the contractor shall furnish the City proof of identical 
continued coverage no later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date shown on the Certificate of Insurance. 

13.7 PRIMARY COVERAGE 

13.7.1 The coverages provided herein shall be primary and noncontributory with any other insurance maintained by 
the City, for its benefit, including self-insurance. 

13.8 WORKER’S COMPENSATION INSURANCE COVERAGE 
 
13.8.1 The Contractor shall: 
 

(1) provide coverage for its employees providing services on a project, for the duration of the project based on 
proper reporting of classification codes and payroll amounts and filing of any coverage agreements; 

 
(2) provide a certificate of coverage showing workers' compensation coverage to the governmental entity prior 

to beginning work on the project; 
 
(3) provide the governmental entity prior to the end of the coverage period, a new certificate of coverage 

showing extension of coverage, if the coverage period shown on the contractor's current certificate of 
coverage ends during the duration of the project; 

 
(4) obtain from each person providing services on a project, and provide to the governmental entity: 

 
(A) a certificate of coverage, prior to that person beginning work on the project, so the governmental entity 

will have on file certificates of coverage showing coverage for all persons providing services on the 
project; and 

(B) no later than seven days after receipt by the contractor, a new certificate of coverage showing extension 
of coverage, if the coverage period shown on the current certificate of coverage ends during the 
duration of the Project; 

 
(5) retain all required certificates of coverage on file for the duration of the project and for one year thereafter; 
 
(6) notify the governmental entity in writing by certified mail or personal delivery, within 10 days after the 

contractor knew or should have known, of any change that materially affects the provision of coverage of 
any person providing services on the project; 

 
(7) post a notice on each project site informing all persons providing services on the project that they are required 

to be covered, and stating how a person may verify current coverage and report failure to provide coverage.  
This notice shall comply with the requirements established by the Division of Workers Compensation of the 
Texas Department of Insurance, or its successor agency. 

 
and 

 
(8) contractually require each person with whom it contracts to provide services on a project, to: 

 



 

 
23 

(A) provide coverage based on proper reporting of classification codes and payroll amounts and filing 
of any coverage agreements for all of its employees providing services on the project, for the 
duration of the project; 

 
(B) provide a certificate of coverage to the contractor prior to that person beginning work on the project; 
 
(C) provide the Contractor, prior to the end of the coverage period, a new certificate of coverage showing 

extension of coverage, if the coverage period shown on the current certificate of coverage ends 
during the duration of the project; 

 
(D) obtain from each other person with whom it contracts, and provide to the Contractor: 

 
(i) a certificate of coverage, prior to the other person beginning work on the project; and 
 
(ii) prior to the end of the coverage period, a new certificate of coverage showing extension of 

the coverage period, if the coverage period shown on the current certificate of coverage ends 
during the duration of the project; 

 
(E) retain all required certificates of coverage on file for the duration of the project and for one year 

thereafter; 
 
(F) notify the governmental entity in writing by certified mail or personal delivery, within 10 days after 

the person knew or should have known, of any change that materially affects the provision of 
coverage of any person providing services on the project; and 

 
(G) contractually require each other person with whom it contracts, to perform as required by sub-

paragraphs (A) - (G) of this paragraph, with the certificate of coverage to be provided to the person 
for whom they are providing services. 

 

ARTICLE XIV 

MISCELLANEOUS 

14.1 LAWS AND ORDINANCES 
 
14.1.1 The Contractor shall at all times and in all respects observe and comply with all federal, state and local laws, 
ordinances, and regulations applicable to the Project and Work.  The Contractor shall further insure that all 
Subcontractors observe and comply with said laws, ordinances and regulations. 

14.2 GOVERNING LAW 

14.2.1 The Contract shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas.  Exclusive venue for any causes of action 
arising under the terms or provisions of this Contract or the Work to be performed hereunder shall be in the state 
courts of Collin County, Texas. 

14.3 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

14.3.1 The City and Contractor bind themselves, their successors, assigns and legal representatives to the other party 
hereto and to successors, assigns and legal representatives of such other party in respect to covenants, agreements and 
obligations contained in this Contract. The Contractor shall not assign this Contract without written consent of the 
City. 



 

 
24 

14.4 SURETY BONDS 

14.4.1 The Contractor shall furnish separate performance and payment bonds to the City, according to the 
requirements set out in the bid documents and state statutes to guaranty full and faithful performance of the Contract 
by the Contractor and the full and final payment of all persons supplying labor or materials to the Project.  Each bond 
required by the bid documents or state statute shall set forth a penal sum in an amount not less than the full Contract 
Price. Each bond furnished by the Contractor shall incorporate by reference the terms of this Contract as fully as 
though they were set forth verbatim in such bonds.  In the event the Contract Price is adjusted by Change Order 
executed by the Contractor, the penal sum of both the performance bond and the payment bond shall be deemed 
increased by like amount.  The performance and payment bonds furnished by the Contractor shall be in form suitable 
to the City and shall be executed by a surety, or sureties, reasonably suitable to the City and authorized to do business 
in the State of Texas. 

14.4.2 If the single Work Order Price exceeds the sum of $25,000.00, the Contractor, upon execution of the Contract 
and prior to commencement of the Work, shall furnish to the City a two-year maintenance bond in the amount of one 
hundred percent (100%) of the Work Order Price covering the guaranty and maintenance prescribed herein, written 
by an approved surety authorized and duly licensed to conduct business in the State of Texas.   

14.5 FORCE MAJEURE 

14.5.1 As used herein, “force majeure” means an incident, situation, or act of a third party that is beyond a party’s 
reasonable control such as an act of God, an act of the public enemy, strikes or other labor disturbances (other than 
strikes within such party’s own labor force), hurricanes, earthquakes, fires, floods, epidemics, embargoes, war, and 
riots. The Contractor will not be liable or responsible for its failure to perform any obligation under this Contract 
because of an event of Force Majeure, provided, however, that the Contractor submits notice thereof to the City and 
Engineer within seven (7) days of such an event, obtains a written Change Order, signed by all parties, that allows an 
extension of the scheduled completion date, and identifies the specific causes and number of days in the Statement of 
Delay submitted with the next ensuing Application for Payment. Notwithstanding, if the Contractor’s failure to 
perform continues for more than twenty (20) calendar days, the City may at its option terminate this Agreement 
immediately and pursue such rights and remedies as may be allowed under Subparagraph 12.2.2 of this Contract. 

14.6 IMMUNITIES; DEFENSES 

14.6.1 Nothing in this Contract shall be deemed to waive any immunity, sovereign, governmental, official, qualified 
or otherwise, from liability or suit, which the City may have or assert, except as may be provided by law, all such 
immunities being hereby expressly retained.   

14.7 NO RIGHTS IN THIRD PARTIES 

14.7.1 The indemnification provisions of this Contract and the rights and remedies afforded herein are solely for the 
benefit of the parties to this Contract. Nothing in this Contract is intended nor shall be construed to grant, create or 
confer any right, benefit, interest or cause of action in any person not a party to this Contract, or to the public in 
general. 

14.8 SEVERABILITY 

14.8.1 The provisions of this Contract are herein declared to be severable; in the event that any term, provision or 
part hereof is determined to be invalid, void or unenforceable, such determination shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of the remaining terms, provisions and parts, and this Contract shall be read as if the invalid, void or 
unenforceable portion had not been included herein. 

14.9 AMENDMENTS; NO WAIVER 

14.9.1 This Contract may be amended by the parties only by a written agreement duly executed by both parties.  The 
failure of the City to object to any nonperformance or nonconforming work or to enforce any provision hereof shall 



 

 
25 

in no event be regarded as or construed to be a waiver, release or modification of any term or provision in this Contract, 
nor shall such failure to object or enforce estop the City from insisting on strict compliance with this Contract or from 
recovering damages, costs or expenses arising as a result of such nonperformance or nonconforming work. 

14.10 NO BOYCOTT ISRAEL 

14.10.1 Pursuant to Texas Government Code Chapter 2270, the Contractor agrees that acceptance of these Terms & 
Conditions serves as written verification that Contractor: (1) does not boycott Israel, as defined by Texas Government 
Code Section 808.001; and (2) will not boycott Israel during the term of the contract. 

14.11 COMPANIES ENGAGED IN BUSINESS WITH IRAN, SUDAN, OR FOREING TERRORIST ORGANIZATIONS.  

14.11.1 Pursuant to Texas Government Code Chapter 2252, Subchapter F, Contractor affirms that is it not identified 
on a list created by the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts as a company known to have contracts with or provide 
supplies or services to a foreign terrorist organizations. 

14.12 NOTICES 

14.12.1 All notices required by this Contract shall be in writing and presumed received when deposited in the mail 
properly addressed to the other party or Engineer at the address set forth herein or set forth in a written designation of 
change of address delivered to all parties and the Engineer. 

 

 EXECUTED in single or multiple originals, this _____ day of ______________, 2019. 

 

CITY OF LUCAS, TEXAS    CONTRACTOR: 
 
       Four Star Excavation, Inc. 
       6825 Levelland Road, Suite 2B 
       Dallas, TX 75252 
 
__________________________________ 
City Manager Joni Clarke    ____________________________________ 
       Antonio Evangelista 
 
ATTEST:        
 
____________________________________ 
City Secretary     
 
APPROVED TO FORM 
 
 
___________________________________ 
City Attorney 
 
 



 

 
26 

 
Exhibit “A” 





Item No. 05 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

Requester: City Engineer Stanton Foerster  
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Consider approving Resolution R 2019-10-00490 supporting the application to the 2019/2020 
Collin County Call for City Projects for West Lucas Road thoroughfare improvements.  
 
Background Information  
 
City staff would like to submit an application to the Collin County Call for City Projects for 
West Lucas Road thoroughfare improvements from Country Club Road to Angel Parkway. 
Improvements would include reconstruction of the existing three-lane asphalt roadway to a four-
lane divided concrete curb and gutter roadway with a ten-foot concrete community trail.  
 
The resolution declares support of the project, commitment to developing, implementing, 
constructing, maintaining, managing and financing the project, as well as a commitment to 
providing a 20 percent match to the project.  
 
A project estimate was received from Birkhoff, Hendricks & Carter, as well as outlined in the 
Capital Improvement Plan at a cost of $12,550,000.  A 20 percent match would consist of 
support in the amount of $2,510,000, of which $420,783 has been committed through 2019 
Certificates of Obligation, leaving $2,089,217 of the project that would require committed 
funding.  
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Resolution R 2019-10-00490 supporting the Collin County Call for City Projects 
2. Collin County Call for City Projects submittal process  
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
Commitment of funding in the amount of $2,089,217. 
 
Recommendation  
  
City staff recommends approving Resolution R 2019-10-00490 supporting the City of Lucas 
application for the Collin County Call for Projects for West Lucas Road thoroughfare 
improvements.  



Item No. 05 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

 
Motion  
I make a motion to approve/deny Resolution R 2019-10-00490 supporting the application to the 
2019/2020 Collin County Call for City Projects for West Lucas Road thoroughfare 
improvements.  
 



CITY OF LUCAS, TEXAS  Page 1 of 2 
Resolution R-2019-10-00490 (2019/2020 Collin County Call for City Projects) 
Approved October 3, 2019 

RESOLUTION R-2019-10-00490 
[2019/2020 Collin County Call for City Projects] 

 
A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE APPLICATION TO THE 
2019/2020 COLLIN COUNTY CALL FOR CITY PROJECTS FOR WEST 
LUCAS ROAD THOROUGHFARE IMPROVEMENTS BY THE CITY OF 
LUCAS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Collin County issued a call for projects in September 2019 for cities to apply for 
funding assistance for thoroughfare improvements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Lucas desires to improve West Lucas Road from a three-lane asphalt 
roadway to a four-lane divided concrete curb and gutter roadway with a 10-foot concrete 
community trail; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City has appropriate approvals to begin or advance the project immediately 
through design, right of way, utility adjustment and construction; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has secured funding for a 20 percent match to participate in the Collin 
County Call for City Projects from Certificates of Obligation and the City of Lucas General Fund, 
Street Maintenance; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Lucas is concerned about county wide congestion mitigation and has 
estimated that approximately 70 percent of the vehicles traveling on West Lucas Road originate 
outside the City of Lucas.  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Lucas is working closely with the Texas Department of Transportation and 
Collin County on regional issues and congestion mitigation with improvements to the intersection of 
FM 1378 and FM 3286 in the City of Lucas; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Lucas is not involved with any litigation with Collin County.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LUCAS, COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS, THAT:  
 
SECTION 1.  The City of Lucas supports funding the West Lucas Road project as described in the 
2019/2020 Collin County Call for City Projects Application and is willing to commit to all aspects of 
development, implementation, construction, maintenance, management, and financing of the West 
Lucas Road Project. The City of Lucas is willing by resolution to enter into an agreement with Collin 
County should the project be selected for funding. 
 
SECTION 2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately from and after its passage.  



CITY OF LUCAS, TEXAS  Page 2 of 2 
Resolution # R-2019-06-00484 Collin County Parks & Open Space Grant 
Approved June 20, 2019 
 
 

 
DULY PASSED and approved by the City Council of the City of Lucas, Collin County, Texas, on 
this the 3rd day of October 2019. 
 
 
APPROVED:      ATTEST: 
 
               
Jim Olk, Mayor      Stacy Henderson, City Secretary 











Item No. 06 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

Requester: City Attorney Joe Gorfida  
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Review the City Charter and provide direction to the City Attorney regarding any proposed 
amendments and consider proceeding with a Charter amendment election on May 2, 2020. 
 
Background Information  
 
Section 12.03 of the City’s Home Rule Charter requires that the City Council review the charter 
at least once every five years to determine whether any amendments are necessary.  
 
During 2019, the City Council and City staff reviewed the City Charter to determine if 
amendments were needed. A redline version of the City Charter is attached outlining possible 
amendments that were discussed throughout the review process.  
 
Staff is seeking guidance regarding any items that should be brought forward to be considered by 
the voters in the May 2, 2020 election.  
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Redlined version of City Charter 
2. Minutes excerpts from February 2019 through June 2019 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
  
Staff recommends proceeding with proposed charter amendments during the May 2, 2020 
election.  
 
Motion  
 
I make a motion to approve/deny proceeding with the following proposed charter amendments for 
the May 2, 2020 election:  
 

1.  
 



City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance _______Home Rule Charter Amendment  
Approved:  

  
Home Rule Charter 

City of Lucas, Texas 
 

Home Rule Charter Adoption  
May 10, 2008 

Ordinance 2008-05-00612



Home Rule Charter for the City of Lucas, Texas, May 2008. 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

PREAMBLE ....................................................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE I       Form of Government and Boundaries ............................................................................. 1 

SECTION 1.01 Form of Government ............................................................................................ 1 
SECTION 1.02 Boundaries ............................................................................................................... 1 
SECTION 1.03 Extension and Alteration of Boundaries ............................................................. 2 

ARTICLE II      Powers of the City ............................................................................................................... 2 

SECTION 2.01 Powers of the City .................................................................................................. 2 
SECTION 2.02 Legislative Authority .............................................................................................. 2 
SECTION 2.03 Municipal Court ...................................................................................................... 3 
SECTION 2.04 Enumerated Governmental Powers .................................................................... 4 
SECTION 2.05 Health Regulations.................................................................................................. 6 

ARTICLE III     City Council .......................................................................................................................... 7 

SECTION 3.01 Governing Body ...................................................................................................... 7 
SECTION 3.02 Elected Officers ...................................................................................................... 7 
SECTION 3.03 Candidacy of the Mayor and Councilmembers .................................................. 7 
SECTION 3.04 Election .................................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 3.05 Judge of Election .................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 3.06 Date and Conduct of Election .............................................................................. 8 
SECTION 3.07 Qualifying of Officers ............................................................................................ 9 
SECTION 3.08 Candidates Holding Special Positions with the City.......................................... 9 
SECTION 3.09 City Council Vacancies and Attendance .............................................................. 9 
SECTION 3.10 Mayor Pro-Tem ..................................................................................................... 10 
SECTION 3.11 Compensation for the Mayor and Councilmembers ....................................... 10 
SECTION 3.12 Duties of Mayor .................................................................................................... 10 
SECTION 3.13 Duties of City Council ......................................................................................... 11 
SECTION 3.14 Meetings of City Council ..................................................................................... 12 
SECTION 3.15 Quorum of City Council and Minutes of City Council Meetings .................. 12 
SECTION 3.16 Ordinances and Resolutions ............................................................................... 12 
SECTION 3.17 Official Newspaper ............................................................................................... 13 
SECTION 3.18 Influence of Appointments ................................................................................. 13 
SECTION 3.19 Public Comment ................................................................................................... 13 
SECTION 3.20 Code of Ethics ...................................................................................................... 14 

ARTICLE IV     City Manager ...................................................................................................................... 14 

SECTION 4.01 Appointment ......................................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 4.02 Compensation ....................................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 4.03 Duties ..................................................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 4.04 Absence of City Manager .................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 4.05 Removal ................................................................................................................. 15 

ARTICLE V      City Officers ........................................................................................................................ 15 

SECTION 5.01 City Secretary ......................................................................................................... 15 



Home Rule Charter for the City of Lucas, Texas, May 2008. 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 
 

SECTION 5.02 Municipal Judge .................................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 5.03 City Attorney ......................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 5.04 Official Bond of City Employees ....................................................................... 17 

ARTICLE VI     Financial .............................................................................................................................. 17 

SECTION 6.01 Audit and Examination of City Books and Accounts ..................................... 17 
SECTION 6.02 Budget..................................................................................................................... 18 
SECTION 6.03 Taxes and Taxation............................................................................................... 18 
SECTION 6.04 Designation of Depository for City Funds ....................................................... 19 

ARTICLE VII    Bonds, Warrants and Other Evidence of Indebtedness.............................................. 19 

SECTION 7.01 Authority to Issue ................................................................................................. 19 
SECTION 7.02 Manner of Issuance .............................................................................................. 19 

ARTICLE VIII   Recall .................................................................................................................................. 20 

SECTION 8.01 Procedure ............................................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE IX      Legislation by Initiative and Referendum ..................................................................... 22 

SECTION 9.01 Initiative ................................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 9.02 Referendum ........................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 9.03 Voluntary Submission of Legislation by the City Council .............................. 23 
SECTION 9.04 Form of Ballots ..................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 9.05 Publication of Proposed or Referred Ordinances ........................................... 24 
SECTION 9.06 Adoption of Ordinances ...................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 9.07 Inconsistant Ordinances ...................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 9.08 Ordinances Passed by Popular Vote, Repeal, or Amendment ...................... 23 
SECTION 9.09 Further Regulations by the City Council ........................................................... 23 
SECTION 9.10 Franchise Ordinances ........................................................................................... 23 

 

ARTICLE X        Franchises ......................................................................................................................... 25 

SECTION 10.01 Ordinance Granting Franchise ........................................................................... 25 
SECTION 10.02 Right of Regulation ............................................................................................... 25 
SECTION 10.03 Regulation of Rates ............................................................................................... 26 
SECTION 10.04 Transfer of Franchise ........................................................................................... 27 
SECTION 10.05 Franchise Value Not to be Allowed ................................................................... 27 

ARTICLE XI      Legal Provisions ................................................................................................................ 27 

SECTION 11.01 Notice of Claim ..................................................................................................... 27 
SECTION 11.02 Service of Process Against the City .................................................................... 27 
SECTION 11.03 Nepotism................................................................................................................ 27 
SECTION 11.04 Construction of Terms ........................................................................................ 27 
SECTION 11.05 Charter Deemed Public Act ................................................................................ 28 
SECTION 11.06 Severability of Portions of Charter .................................................................... 28 

ARTICLE XII    Adoption of Charter ......................................................................................................... 28 

SECTION 12.01 Procedure ............................................................................................................... 28 
SECTION 12.02 Amendment of Charter ........................................................................................ 28 



Home Rule Charter for the City of Lucas, Texas, May 2008. 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 
 

SECTION 12.03 Charter Review Commission .............................................................................. 28 

Appendix "A"  RECALL PETITION ......................................................................................................... 29 

Appendix "B"  BALLOT ................................................................................................................................ 30 

Appendix "C"  SIGNATURES ................................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

1 

HOME RULE CHARTER 
FOR 

THE CITY OF LUCAS, TEXAS 
 

PREAMBLE 
 
We, the citizens of Lucas, Texas, in order to establish a Home Rule municipal government, provide 
for the progress of our City, secure fully the benefits of local self-government, promote economic 
and cultural prosperity, provide for the common welfare, insure health and safety, support 
municipal cooperation, and encourage all citizens to participate in the process of self-governing, 
hereby adopt this Home Rule Charter, as an expression of our city's purpose and in accordance 
with the statutes of the State of Texas; and we declare the City of Lucas (hereinafter referred to as 
“City”), in Collin County, to be a political subdivision of the State of Texas with all powers, rights, 
privileges, authorities, duties and immunities of local self-government as are provided and limited 
in this Charter. 
 

ARTICLE I 

Form of Government and Boundaries 

SECTION 1.01 Form of Government 
 
(1) The municipal government provided by this Charter shall be known as the “Council - 

Manager” form of government.  Pursuant to its provisions and subject only to the 
limitations imposed by the Constitution of the United States, the Texas Constitution, the 
statutes of the State of Texas, and this Charter, all powers of the City of Lucas shall be 
vested in an elected City Council which shall enact local legislation, adopt budgets, 
determine policies, and provide for the adoption and execution of the laws of the City as 
provided in this Charter. 

 
(2) The City Council shall appoint a City Manager who shall be responsible to the City Council 

for the management and administration of the offices of the City, except as otherwise 
provided by this Charter.   

SECTION 1.02 Boundaries 
 
The boundaries of the City of Lucas shall be the same as have been heretofore established and now 
exist as recorded on the official City map as provided by this Charter.  The citizens of the City of 
Lucas residing within its corporate limits, as heretofore or hereafter established, are hereby 
constituted and shall continue to be a municipal body politic and corporate, in perpetuity, under 
the name of the "City of Lucas", in the State of Texas, hereinafter referred to as the “State”, with 
such powers, privileges, rights, duties, authorities, and immunities, as are herein provided. 
 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

2 

SECTION 1.03 Extension and Alteration of Boundaries 
 
(1) The boundaries of the City of Lucas may be enlarged and extended by the annexation of 

additional territory or decreased by disannexation in any manner and by any procedure now 
or hereafter provided by law. The City shall, hereafter, by ordinance, amend the official 
map of the boundaries to include such properties so annexed or disannexed. 

 
(2) Upon completion of the annexation procedure, the annexed territory shall become a part of 

the City, and said land and its residents shall be entitled to all the rights and privileges 
provided by the City for its citizens and shall be bound by the acts, ordinances, resolutions 
and regulations of the City.   

 
(3) If, after the date of annexation, there exists land within and adjacent to the corporate limits 

of the City of Lucas not receiving governmental or proprietary services of the city within 
the time required by the service plan or Chapter 43 of Texas Local Government Code, or 
its successor statute, then a majority of the qualified voters residing within this particular 
area may petition the city council to disannex the area as provided in Chapter 43 of Texas 
Local Government Code, or its successor statute. 

 
ARTICLE II 

Powers of the City 

SECTION 2.01 Powers of the City 
 
(1) The City is made a body politic and corporate by the legal adoption of this Charter.  The 

City shall have all the powers vested in home rule municipal corporations except as may 
be limited by the Constitution of the United States, the Texas Constitution, and the statutes 
of the State. 

 
(2) The enumeration of particular powers by the Charter shall not be held or deemed to be 

exclusive, but, in addition to the powers enumerated therein or implied thereby, or 
appropriate to exercise of such powers, it is intended that the City shall have, and may 
exercise all powers except as limited by this Charter.  All powers of the City, whether 
expressed or implied, shall be exercised as prescribed by this Charter or, if not prescribed 
therein, then as provided by ordinance or resolution of the City Council. 

SECTION 2.02 Legislative Authority 
 
The City by and through its City Council shall have the power to enact and enforce all ordinances 
and resolutions necessary to protect health, life and property; and to prevent and summarily abate 
and remove all nuisances; and preserve and enforce good government and order and security of 
the City and its inhabitants; and to enact and enforce all ordinances and resolutions on any and all 
subjects which shall be consistent with the provisions of this Charter. 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

3 

SECTION 2.03 Municipal Court 
 
(1) Establishment -- The City shall have the power to create and establish a municipal court to 

be known as the Municipal Court of the City of Lucas, Texas.  The Municipal Court shall 
have jurisdiction of all criminal cases arising under the ordinances of the City and concurrent 
jurisdiction with the Justice of the Peace of the precinct of which the City is or may be 
situated of all criminal cases arising under State law, where such offenses are committed 
either within the territorial limits of the City or in an area lying outside the corporate limits 
of the City in which area the City is authorized to exercise its police powers as set forth but 
not necessarily limited to the areas provided by State law and where the punishment is by 
fine only and the maximum of said fine does not exceed the maximum fine authorized to be 
imposed by municipal courts under State law or any amendments thereto.  The Municipal 
Court shall have all the powers and duties as are now, or as may be prescribed by the laws 
of the State of Texas.   

 
(2) Additional Courts -- The City shall have the power to create and establish additional 

municipal courts, and to appoint one or more judges of each municipal court, whether one or 
more, each of whom shall be a magistrate and each judge of a municipal court, now existing 
or hereinafter created, shall be appointed by the City Council, for a term of 2 years; and the 
City shall have the power to create and establish additional courts as may from time to time 
be authorized by the legislature of the State. 

 
(3) Rules -- All complaints, prosecutions, the service of process, commitment of those convicted 

of offenses, the collection and payment of fines, the attendance and service of witnesses and 
juries, punishment for contempt, bail and the taking of bonds shall be governed by the 
provisions of the rules established by the Supreme Court of Texas applicable to municipal 
courts. 

 
(4) Appeals -- Appeals from convictions in the Municipal Court shall lie to the county criminal 

court, and such appeals shall be governed by the same rules of practice and procedure as are 
provided by State law in cases of appeals from the justice court to said county criminal court, 
as far as said rules are applicable. 

 
(5) Clerk -- The Clerk of Municipal Court and such deputies as shall be appointed by the City 

Manager, shall have the power to administer oaths and affidavits, make certificates, affix the 
seal of the Municipal Court thereto; and generally do and perform any and all acts usual and 
necessary by clerks of courts in issuing processes of courts and conducting the business 
thereof. 

 
(6) Expense and Fines -- All special expense and fines imposed by the Municipal Court(s) shall 

be paid into the City general fund for the use and benefit of the City, as may be consistent 
with present and future laws. 

 
 
 
 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

4 

SECTION 2.04 Enumerated Governmental Powers 
 
(1) Real Estate -- The City has full authority as a home rule municipal corporation and as such 

it has authority to acquire and own real estate in fee simple title, or held by lease, 
sufferance, easement or otherwise, all public buildings and improvements, and structure or 
whatever type and character, and any and all property, whether real or personal, of 
whatever kind, character or description now owned or controlled by the City shall vest in, 
inure to, remain and be the property of said City under this Charter.  In the event that the 
City shall grant a lease for any real property in excess of twenty (20) years, the City Council 
shall hold a public hearing. 

 
(2) Public Rights-Of-Way -- The City shall have the power to lay out, establish, open, alter, 

widen, lower, extend, grade, construct, abandon and improve streets, alleys, sidewalks, 
squares, parks, public places, bridges and public thoroughfares or rights-of-way; and to 
otherwise regulate and control the use thereof for any and all public purposes all 
obstructions, telegraph, telephone or other poles, carrying electric wires or signs, and all 
showcases and encroachments of every nature and character upon any said street, right-of-
way and sidewalk and to vacate and close public ways; and the City shall have the power 
to make any improvements as provided by State law. 

 
(3) Regulation of Vehicles -- The City Council shall have the power by ordinance or otherwise 

to license and control the operation of any vehicle using public streets or rights-of-way. 
 
(4) Regulation of Public Utilities -- The City shall have the power to buy, own, sell, construct, 

lease, maintain, operate and regulate public services and utilities; and to manufacture, 
distribute and sell the output of such services and utility operations.  The City shall not 
supply any utilities service outside the City limits, except by written contract.  The City 
shall have such regulatory and other powers as may or hereafter be granted under State 
law; and, by ordinance, to determine, fix and regulate the charges, fares or rates of 
compensation to be charged by any person, firm or corporation enjoying a franchise for 
utilities in the City.  

 
(5) Operation of Public Services or Utilities by City -- The City shall have the power to build, 

construct, purchase, own, lease, maintain and operate, inside or outside the City limits, 
light and power systems, water systems, sanitary wastewater disposal, natural gas, parks, 
drainage, municipal solid waste disposal and any other public service or utility in this 
section, as deemed in the public interest. The City shall not enter into an agreement for the 
construction, purchase, lease or operation of a sanitary wastewater disposal system until 
after two separate public hearings being held on two separate dates with such approval 
requiring five (5) affirmative votes of the City Council prior to the May 2009 election. 
Effective after the May 2009 election and thereafter, an affirmative vote by five (5) 
members of the City Council shall be required for such approval. Such notice for said 
public hearings shall state with specificity the type of sanitary wastewater disposal system 
(ex: sanitary wastewater disposal system) and the proposed location (common address) of 
the proposed sanitary wastewater disposal system. 

 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

5 

(6) Purchase Utility Services -- The City shall have the power to purchase electricity, gas, oil 
or any other article or service essential to protect the health, safety and welfare of its 
inhabitants on such terms as the City Council may deem proper. 

 
(7) Transportation Facilities -- The City may acquire, maintain, operate and regulate any and 

all modes of transportation facilities or services; and, use public funds for such purposes, 
and issue such debt or funds as permitted by this Charter.   

 
(8) Parks and Recreation -- The City may acquire, maintain, operate and regulate within its 

exclusive control all City parks and recreation facilities whether inside or outside the City 
limits. 

 
(9) Underground Utilities -- The City may require the placing under the surface of the ground 

all wires or any above ground construction of any public utilities inside the limits of the 
City under such regulation as may be prescribed by the City Council from time to time. 

 
(10) Fire Prevention -- The City shall provide by ordinance for the establishment and 

designation of fire limits and prescribe the kind and character of buildings or structures or 
improvements to be erected therein; provide for the erection of fire resistant buildings 
within certain limits; and provide for the condemnation of dangerous structures of 
buildings or dilapidated buildings or buildings calculated to increase the fire hazard, and 
the manner of their removal or destruction. 

 
(11) Public Safety -- The City has the power and may by ordinance establish and maintain a 

police and fire department(s) by whatever name known and to prescribe the duties of the 
members of each such department(s) and regulate their conduct and their salary ranges.  
The head of the police department of the City shall be known and designated as "Chief of 
Police", and the head of the fire department of the City shall be known and designated as 
"Fire Chief".  The City Council shall provide by ordinance staff requirements for each such 
department. 

 
(12) Contracts -- The City shall have the power to enter into contracts for goods and services.  

Such authority is subject to the limitation regarding competitive bidding as provided by 
State law or as may otherwise be limited by this Charter.  The City hereby adopts the 
requirements and exceptions concerning the provisions of State law regarding goods and 
acquisition. 

 
(13) Land Use -- The City shall have full power and authority to zone and regulate the 

subdivision of land in the City and to pass all necessary ordinances, rules and regulations 
governing the same under and by virtue of the authority given to cities and legislative 
bodies in accordance with State law.  The City will maintain an official city map describing 
the official city limits as required by State law.   

 
 
(14) Franchises -- The City shall have full power and authority to franchise as provided by this 

Charter. 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

6 

 
(15) Occupations -- The City shall have the authority to license or register such occupations or 

business as may be established by ordinance, except as may be in conflict with State law. 
 
 

SECTION 2.05 Health Regulations 
 
(1) Regulations -- The City shall have the power to provide for the health, safety and welfare 

of its inhabitants by establishing all necessary rules and regulations protecting the health, 
safety and welfare of the City. 

 
(A) The City Council shall have the power by ordinance or otherwise to regulate, 

license and inspect public or private persons, firms, institutions, corporations, 
common carriers, or associations operating, managing, or conducting any activities 
including, but not limited to, any of the following: 
1. place of public accommodation, hotel or any other public sleeping or eating 

place; 
2. place or vehicle where food or drink of any kind is manufactured, prepared, 

stored, packed, served, sold or otherwise handled within the City or limits 
of said City;  

3. any and all health conditions; and 
4. sanitary wastewater disposal systems. 
 

(B) The City shall have the power to define all nuisances and prohibit the same within 
the City and outside the City limits for a distance in accordance with State law; to 
have power to police in all parks or grounds, street right-of-way owned by the City 
or under lease to the City and lying both outside and inside said City; to prohibit 
the pollution of air or waterways, walkways of any kind, water deposit and 
reservoir, whether above or below the ground, which may constitute the source of 
storage of water supply, and to provide for policing the same, as well as to provide 
for the protection of any watersheds and the policing of the same. 

 
(2) Penalties or Fines -- The City shall have the power to provide for the fixing of penalties for 

failure of any person, firm, corporation or association to comply with any such rules and 
regulations so prescribed by the City Council under the provisions of this section; it being 
the intention to vest in the City Council not only the powers expressly enumerated in this 
section but all other powers reasonably necessary for the protection of the health of the 
City and its citizens. 

 
 
 
 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

7 

 
 

ARTICLE III 

City Council 

SECTION 3.01 Governing Body 
 
The governing body of the City shall be known as the “City Council” and shall consist of a Mayor 
and six (6) Councilmembers. 

SECTION 3.02 Elected Officers 
 
(1) Members -- The members of the City Council of the City, which include the Mayor and 

six (6) Councilmembers, shall be the only elected officers of the City, and they shall be 
elected and hold office and be compensated as provided herein. 

 
(2) Terms -- The Mayor and Councilmembers shall be elected by the qualified voters of the 

entire City for a term of three (3) years, or until a successor has been duly elected and 
qualified, but each Councilmember shall be elected to and occupy an at-large, non-
geographical seat on the Council, such seats being numbered 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6, respectively.  
The seats of the Councilmembers shall be designated on the official ballot as Councilmember 
Seats 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6.  

 
 
SECTION 3.03 Candidacy of the Mayor and Councilmembers 
 
(1) Qualification -- No person shall be a candidate for the office of Mayor or Councilmember 

unless such candidate is a qualified voter of the City and shall have resided in the City for 
not less than one (1) year preceding the day of election.  Members of the City Council shall 
hold no other elected office or appointed public office or position of emolument, except as 
authorized by state law. If a member of the City Council shall cease to possess any of the 
qualifications or shall be convicted of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, such 
person shall immediately forfeit such office.  The City Council shall be the judge of the 
election and qualifications of its own members.    

 
(2) Declaration -- Candidates of the office of Mayor or Councilmember may have their names 

printed upon the official ballot being nominated for such office by written application. The 
order of the names of the candidates on the ballot shall be determined by lot in a public 
drawing to be held under the supervision of the City Secretary in accordance with the Texas 
Election Code.  

 
(3) Filing -- An application stating a declaration of candidacy shall be filed with the City 

Secretary or a duly appointed designee, who shall affix the date and time stamp on the 
ballot application, during regular office hours not earlier than the 75th day before the day 

Deleted: <#>Transition Provisions -- To establish staggered 
terms for the Mayor and Councilmembers, the following 
transition provisions shall be applied:¶
<#>¶
<#>Beginning with the May 2009 election, the Mayor and 
Councilmember for Seat 3 will be elected for a three (3) year 
term.  Councilmember for Seat 1 and Seat 2 will be elected for a 
two (2) year term. ¶
<#>In May 2010, Councilmember for Seat 5 and Seat 6 will be 
elected for a three (3) year term.  Councilmember for Seat 4 will 
be elected for a two (2) year term. ¶
<#>In May 2011, Councilmember for Seat 1 and Seat 2 will be 
elected for a three (3) year term. ¶
<#>In May 2012, the Mayor and Councilmember for Seat 3 and 
Seat 4 will be elected for a three (3) year term. ¶
<#>In May 2013, Councilmember for Seat 5 and Seat 6 will be 
elected for a three year term. ¶
<#>¶
<#>Current Terms – The current terms of Councilmembers in 
office when this Section takes effect shall not be shortened by the 
transition provision in (3) above.¶
<#>¶
<#>Pattern – Beginning in 2012, a pattern of electing the Mayor 
and a number of Councilmembers on a “3-2-2” annual rotation 
basis shall be in effect and continue thereafter. ¶

Deleted:  and should not be in arrears in the payment of any 
City taxes.…



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

8 

of the election as provided by State law.  The candidate’s ballot application must be filed 
not later than 5 p.m. on the date provided in accordance with State law.   

SECTION 3.04 Election 
 
(1) All candidates running for Mayor or Councilmember seat, respectively, shall be elected by a 

majority vote of all votes cast in the regular municipal election for the office which the 
candidate seeks election. 

 
(2) In the event that a candidate does not receive a majority of votes, it shall be the duty of the 

City Council to order a runoff election for every Councilmember seat or Mayor to which no 
one was elected.  Such runoff election shall be held in accordance with State law. 

. 
(3) Should any person who was a candidate at the regular municipal election and who is entitled 

to become a candidate at the runoff election die, refuse or otherwise be unable to appear on 
the runoff election ballot, the candidate for such office standing next highest in the 
computation of vote for that office shall succeed to the rights of such candidate who failed 
to appear on the ballot at said runoff election.  This method for selecting alternate runoff 
candidates shall be employed until there are two (2) candidates for each office in each runoff 
election and should there be only one candidate for office after the conclusion of this process, 
that candidate shall be declared the winner.  However, if at the date of the election, there is 
no runoff candidate left from those who sought to be elected to that seat or Mayor in the 
regular election, the City Council shall declare no one elected to such seat or Mayor and shall 
call a Special Election on such date provided by State law to elect a person to such seat or 
Mayor; and said Special Election shall be conducted pursuant to State law prescribing special 
elections to fill vacancies in municipal offices. 

 
 
SECTION 3.05 Judge of Election 
 
(1) The City Council shall be the judge of the qualifications of its own members and of the 

Mayor, subject to review of the courts in case of an election contest.  The City Council shall, 
in accordance with State law, canvass the returns for any election and declare the results of 
such election. Should a runoff election be necessary, such election shall be held in accordance 
with the Texas Election Code and other applicable statutes.  

 
(2) In the event of a tie vote between candidates, the respective candidates so tied may agree to 

cast lots to determine who shall be the duly elected officer.  In the event such tied candidates 
do not agree to determine the results of the election by casting lots, a run-off election shall 
be called and the respective candidates so tied shall cast lots to determine the order their 
names shall appear on the ballot for such run-off elections.  The candidate receiving the 
highest number of votes of the entire City cast at said run-off election shall be elected to such 
office. 

SECTION 3.06 Date and Conduct of Election 
 

Deleted: The City Hall shall not remain open to the general 
public after such time to accept ballot applications. 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

9 

The regular municipal election of the City Council shall be held on the uniform election day in May, 
in accordance with this Charter, and the same shall be conducted and the results canvassed and 
announced in accordance with the laws of the State regulating all municipal elections and in 
accordance with the ordinances adopted by the City Council for the conduct of elections. 

SECTION 3.07 Qualifying of Officers 
 
The Mayor, Councilmembers, and other officers appointed under this Charter shall qualify by taking 
the oath prescribed by the Texas Constitution and by executing such bond as may be required under 
the provisions of this Charter and the ordinances and resolutions of the City at the first meeting 
following the canvass. 

SECTION 3.08 Candidates Holding Special Positions with the City 
 
(1) In the event any Councilmember shall become a candidate for office of Mayor or in the event 

the Mayor or any Councilmember shall become a candidate for election to any seat on the 
City Council other than the office the Mayor or Councilmember is presently holding, such 
candidate shall tender and attach to their ballot application a resignation from said office, 
which shall be effective as of the date of such election without any further act of acceptance. 

 
(2) In the event any member of any body appointed by the City Council shall become a 

candidate for the office of Mayor or Councilmember, such position on such board shall be 
considered vacated upon election and qualification. 

 
(3) Any City employee who shall become a candidate for the office of Mayor or Councilmember 

shall immediately forfeit such position of employment and such ballot application shall be 
accompanied by said employee's written resignation, the acceptance of which shall require 
no further act. 

SECTION 3.09 City Council Vacancies and Attendance  
 
(1) In the event of a vacancy existing in the office of Mayor or any Councilmember from any 

cause whatsoever, the vacancy or vacancies occurring shall be filled by the qualified voters 
at an election within one hundred twenty (120) days after such occurs, as prescribed by State 
law.  If the term of office or offices is or are unexpired, the number of members elected at 
such election shall serve in such office or offices for the remainder of the unexpired term of 
such office or offices following the date of the election. 

 
(2) Any member of the City Council remaining absent for three (3) consecutive regular meetings 

of the City Council, without first having obtained a leave of absence through City Council 
action at a regular meeting, such office may be declared vacated by a majority vote of all the 
remaining members of the City Council.  Any member of the City Council remaining absent 
for six (6) consecutive regular meetings of the City Council shall be deemed to have forfeited 
such office through City Council action. 

 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

10 

(3) Any person elected to serve on the City Council, who, subsequent to taking office is 
convicted of a felony or a crime of moral turpitude shall automatically be deemed to have 
forfeited such office.  

 
(4) In case of disaster when a legal quorum of the City Council cannot be assembled due to 

multiple deaths or injuries, the surviving members of the City Council, or the highest 
surviving City official if no elected official remains, must, within twenty-four (24) hours 
of such disaster, or as soon as practicable, take such action as to ensure the basic health, 
safety and welfare of the citizens and undertake whatever action is necessary under the 
laws of the State to call for a special election.  Until such election is held and the City 
Council qualified, the remaining members or highest ranking officer, if no elected official 
remains, shall only undertake those actions necessary to protect the basic health, safety and 
welfare of the citizens which such action may be subsequently ratified by the full City 
Council. 

SECTION 3.10 Mayor Pro-Tem  
 
(1) At the first regular meeting after each regular election of the city council members and/or 

mayor, City Council shall select from among the Councilmembers a Mayor Pro-Tem to serve 
at the pleasure of the City Council. 

 
(2) The Mayor Pro-Tem shall act as Mayor during the disability or absence of the Mayor, and in 

this capacity shall have the rights conferred upon the Mayor. 
 
(3) During the disability or absence of the Mayor and the Mayor Pro-Tem, any Councilmember 

may be appointed by the remaining five (5) Council members to act as Mayor and in this 
capacity shall have the rights conferred upon the Mayor.   

SECTION 3.11 Compensation for the Mayor and Councilmembers 
 
(1) The Mayor and Councilmembers may by ordinance establish reasonable compensation, but 

no increase in such compensation shall take effect until commencement of the terms of 
mayor and/or councilmember elected at the next regular election.  

 
(2) The City Council shall establish by ordinance the standards and policies concerning 

reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred by the Mayor and Councilmembers in the 
performance of their official duties. 

SECTION 3.12 Duties of Mayor 
 
(1) The Mayor shall preside at all meetings of the City Council and shall have full voting rights.   
 
(2) The Mayor shall perform such other duties consistent with the office as may be imposed by 

this Charter or the ordinances and resolutions of the City.   
 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

11 

(3) The Mayor shall sign all ordinances, resolutions, capital improvement contracts, 
conveyances made or entered into by the City, all bonds issued under the provisions of this 
Charter, and such other documents as authorized by the City Council.   

 
(4) The Mayor shall be recognized as the official head of the City for all ceremonial purposes.  
 
(5) The Mayor shall be recognized by the governor for the purpose of enforcing martial law.  In 

time of danger or emergency, the Mayor may, in accordance with State law and with the 
consent of the Councilmembers, take command of the police and govern the City by 
proclamation and maintain order and enforce all laws. 

SECTION 3.13 Duties of City Council 
 
Except as otherwise provided by this Charter, all powers of the City and the determination of all 
matters of policy shall be vested in the City Council. Without limitation of the foregoing powers of 
the City Council, the City Council shall have the power to:  
 
(1) Fix the compensation of all appointive officers and employees. 
 
(2) Adopt the budget of the City. 
 
(3) Authorize the issuance of bonds by a bond ordinance. 
 
(4) By majority vote, inquire into the conduct of any office, department or agency of the City 

and make investigations as to municipal affairs.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed 
to prohibit an inquiry into an operational issue. 

 
(5) Enact resolutions and ordinances. 
 
(6) The City Council shall adopt a periodic fiscal reporting policy, with such policy not providing 

for less than quarterly reporting. 
 
(7) To appoint members of the planning and zoning commission, the zoning board of 

adjustments and other such boards, committees, commissions and directors to corporations 
as may be authorized by State law. Any member appointed to such board, committee, 
commission or corporation shall have been a resident of the City of Lucas for a minimum of 
twelve (12) months at the time of their appointment.  

 
(8) Govern the affairs of the City in conformance with this Charter and the state and federal 

constitutions and laws, and to determine by majority vote the best and most appropriate 
method and manner of efficiently performing the functions and providing the services of the 
City, consistent with the council-city manager form of government; and, except as provided 
in this Charter with respect to certain departments that must be maintained in effect, the City 
Council may after considering the recommendation of the City Manager, create, change, 
merge, or abolish offices, departments or agencies of the City, and may contract for services 

Deleted: 6 

Deleted: six



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

12 

by interlocal agreement or otherwise as it deems advisable to improve the services of the 
efficiency of government.  

SECTION 3.14 Meetings of City Council 
 
(1) The City Council shall hold at least one (1) regular meeting each month and as many 

additional meetings as the City Council deems necessary to transact the business of the City.  
The City Council shall fix by ordinance the date and time of the regular meetings. 

 
(2) Special meetings of the City Council shall be held at the call of the Mayor or a majority of 

the Councilmembers upon provision of public notice in accordance with State law. 
 
(3) All meetings of the City Council, except those authorized by law to be closed to the public, 

shall be open to the public. 

SECTION 3.15 Quorum of City Council and Minutes of City Council Meetings 
 
(1) A majority of the City Council shall constitute a quorum to do business, and, unless otherwise 

provided by law, the affirmative vote of a majority of a quorum shall be necessary to adopt 
any ordinance or resolution.  

 
(2) Minutes of all proceedings shall be kept, to which any citizen may have access at all 

reasonable times and which shall constitute one of the archives of the City.  The vote on all 
ordinances and resolutions shall be recorded and entered in the minutes; and, every ordinance 
or resolution, upon its final passage, shall be recorded  in a book kept for that purpose and 
shall be authenticated by the signature of the presiding officer.  The minutes of all meetings 
shall record the attendance of all members of the City Council present and those absent. 

SECTION 3.16 Ordinances and Resolutions 
 
(1) Enactment -- Each proposed ordinance and resolution shall be introduced in written or 

printed form.  Ordinances or resolutions may be passed at any regular or special meeting 
called in accordance with State law. 

 
(2) Captions -- Each ordinance and resolution shall contain a brief caption of the subject matter 

of the ordinance or resolution. 
 
(3) Publication -- A descriptive title or caption stating in summary the purpose of the ordinance 

and the penalty for violation thereof, of each ordinance imposing a penalty, fine or forfeiture, 
shall after passage be published in one issue of the official newspaper of the City and proof 
of such publication shall be made by the printer or publisher of such paper making affidavit 
before some officer authorized to administer oaths.  Such affidavit shall be filed with the City 
Secretary and shall be prima facie evidence of such publication and promulgation of such 
ordinance so published; said ordinances shall take effect and be in full force and effect from 
and after the date of publication, unless otherwise expressly provided.  Ordinances not 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

13 

required to be published shall take effect and be in force from and after the date of passage 
thereof unless otherwise provided. 

 
(4) Savings -- All ordinances and resolutions of the City now in existence and not inconsistent 

with provisions of this Charter shall remain in full force and effect until altered, amended or 
repealed by the City Council. 

 
(5) Pleading -- It shall be sufficient in all judicial proceedings to plead any ordinances of the 

City by caption without embodying the entire ordinance in the pleadings, and all pleaded 
ordinance(s) or codes shall be admitted as evidence in any suit and shall have the same 
force and effect as the original ordinances.  Certified copies of the ordinances may also be 
used in evidence in lieu of original ordinances. 

 
(6) Codification -- The Code of Ordinances of the City shall be codified and shall be revised at 

least annually and kept up-to-date by causing any amendments to be published in the form 
of supplemental pages.  An official copy of the Code shall be maintained in the office of the 
City Secretary for public examination. 

 
(7) Emergency -- The City Council shall have the authority to pass such emergency ordinances 

and resolutions as necessary to protect the health, safety and welfare of the City in accordance 
with State law. 

 
(7) Miscellaneous -- The City Council may adopt such other procedures that do not conflict with 

this Charter or State law. 
 
SECTION 3.17 Official Newspaper 
 
The City Council shall designate by resolution a newspaper of general circulation in the City as the 
official newspaper of the City as provided by State law.  

SECTION 3.18 Influence of Appointments 
 
Neither the City Council nor any of its members shall direct or request the appointment of any person 
to or such person’s removal from any office under the control of the City Manager. In regard to 
administrative and executive duties under the City Manager, the City Council shall deal solely 
through the City Manager and neither the City Council nor any of its members thereof shall give 
orders to any subordinate of the City Manager, either publicly or privately. Any knowing violation 
of the foregoing provisions of this Charter by any member of the City Council shall constitute official 
misconduct and shall authorize the City Council by a vote of a majority of its membership to expel 
such offending member from the City Council if found guilty after a public hearing, and thereby 
create a vacancy in the seat held by such member.  

SECTION 3.19 Public Comment 
 
The opportunity for citizens of the City to provide public comment on any and all subjects regardless 
of the agenda shall be provided at each regular meeting.  This opportunity shall be called “Citizens’ 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

14 

Input" and shall begin prior to any vote at a regular meeting of the City Council.  The City Council 
may provide reasonable regulations to implement this provision. 

SECTION 3.20 Code of Ethics 
 
The City Council by ordinance shall establish a Code of Ethics governing the City Council and all 
city employees which shall include at least the following:  wrongful influence, wrongful 
interference, employees’ political activities, penalties, conflict of interest, and acceptance of gifts. 
 

ARTICLE IV 

City Manager 

SECTION 4.01 Appointment 
 
The City Council by five (5) affirmative votes shall appoint a City Manager who shall be the chief 
executive officer of the City and shall be responsible to the City Council for the proper administration 
of the offices of the City, except as otherwise provided by this Charter.  The City Manager shall be 
chosen by the City Council on the basis of executive and administrative training, experience and 
ability 

SECTION 4.02 Compensation 
The City Manager shall receive a salary, benefits and compensation as set by the City Council. 

SECTION 4.03 Duties 
 
The duties of the City Manager shall include the following: 
 
(1) Provide that all laws and ordinances of the City are enforced. 
(2) Appoint or hire all employees of the City, except as otherwise provided in this Charter. 
(3) Suspend and remove, at will, employees, except as otherwise provided in this Charter. 
(4) Provide for the efficient administration and operation of all departments, under the City 

Manager’s control including the maintenance of and public information request for all 
records thereof, except as otherwise provided in this Charter. 

(5) Prepare and recommend to the City Council an annual operating budget and capital 
improvement program, as provided by this Charter, and administer and execute the budget 
as adopted by the City Council. 

(6) Provide supervision and control over all departments and offices that are created by the 
City Council and employees appointed by the City Manager, except as otherwise provided 
in this Charter. 

(7) Attend all meetings of the City Council with the right to take part in the discussion. 
(8) Make recommendations to the City Council as the City Manager may deem necessary and 

expedient. 

Deleted: .  Prior to the 2009 election, four (4) affirmative votes of 
the City Council are required to appoint a City Manager.



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

15 

  
(9) Perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Charter or which may be required 

by ordinance or resolution of the City Council. 

SECTION 4.04 Absence of City Manager 
 
The City Manager may, by letter filed with the City Secretary, designate a qualified city employee 
to exercise the powers and perform the duties of City Manager during the City Manager’s 
temporary absence. To perform the duties of the City Manager during the absence or disability 
exceeding thirty (30) days, the City Council may by resolution appoint an officer of the City to 
perform the duties of the City Manager until the City Manager shall return or such disability shall 
cease. In case of absence, disability, or illness exceeding thirty (30) days, where the duties of the 
City Manager could not be performed properly, the City Manager’s salary may be continued at the 
discretion of the City Council.  

SECTION 4.05 Removal 
 
The City Manager shall be removed, with or without cause, by five (5) affirmative votes of the City 
Council.   
 

 
 
 

ARTICLE V 

City Officers 

SECTION 5.01 City Secretary 
 
(1) Appointment -- The City Council shall appoint the City Secretary, by at least five (5) 

affirmative votes of the City Council.  The City Council shall consider the City Manager’s 
recommendations regarding the appointment of the City Secretary.  Prior to the 2009 
election, four (4) affirmative votes of the City Council are required to appoint the City 
Secretary. 

 
(2) Duties -- The City Secretary shall: 
 

(A) Give notice of all official public meetings of the City Council as consistent with this 
Charter and State law; 

(B) Attend all public meetings and hearings of the City Council; 
(C) Keep the minutes of the proceedings of all public meetings and hearings of the City 

Council as prescribed by the City Council consistent with applicable law; 
(D) Act as custodian of all official records of the City Council; 

Deleted: (9)

Deleted: Provide written reports no less than quarterly of the 
current financial conditions and future needs of the City to be 
presented orally at an open meeting of the City Council, and make 
such recommendations concerning the affairs of the City, as the 
City Manager or the City Council deems desirable or necessary.

Deleted: 10

Deleted: Prior to the 2009 election, four (4) affirmative votes of 
the City Council are required to remove the City Manager.



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

16 

(E) Hold and maintain the seal of the City and affix this seal to all appropriate documents; 
(F) Authenticate and record all ordinances, resolutions and proclamations of the City by 

signature and seal; 
(G) Perform other duties as may be required by the City Council; 
(H) Shall conduct all municipal elections; 
(I) Act as agent for the purposes of serving civil process; 
(J) Assist the City Manager with the maintenance and public information request of all 

records as directed by the City Council; 
(K) Prepare and recommend to the City Council the annual budget for the office and staff 

of the City Secretary; and 
(L) Work with the City Manager in performing additional duties, as may be necessary,  

to assist in carrying out the day to day functions of the City. 
(3) Compensation -- The City Council shall fix the compensation, salary and benefits of the City 

Secretary in accordance with the City Secretary's experience, qualifications and 
performance. 

 
(4) Removal -- The City Secretary may be removed, with or without cause, by five (5) 

affirmative votes of the City Council.   

SECTION 5.02 Municipal Judge 
 
(1) Appointment -- The City Council shall appoint by five (5) affirmative votes of the City 

Council such Municipal Judges of the Municipal Court as may be necessary, all of whom 
shall be competent, duly qualified attorneys licensed and practicing for at least two (2) 
years in the State.  The Municipal Judge(s) shall be appointed by ordinance of the City 
Council and their salary may be fixed by ordinance or resolution.  The Municipal Judge(s) 
shall be appointed for a term of two (2) years and may be appointed to additional 
consecutive terms.   

 
(2) Duties -- The Municipal Judge shall: 

(A) The Chief Judge of said Municipal Court shall have the power to punish for contempt 
to the same extent and under the same circumstances as the Justice of the Peace may 
punish for contempt of criminal cases. 

(B) The Municipal Judge shall preside over any associate judge(s) who shall be a 
licensed attorney(s) in the State. 

(3) Compensation -- The Municipal Judge(s) shall receive compensation as may be determined 
by the City Council. 

 
(4) Removal -- The Municipal Judge shall be removed, with or without cause, by five (5) 

affirmative votes of the City Council.   

Deleted: Manger 

Deleted: Prior to the 2009 election, four (4) affirmative votes of 
the City Council are required to remove the City Secretary.

Deleted: Prior to the 2009 election, four (4) affirmative votes of 
the City Council are required to appoint the Municipal Judge. 

Deleted: Prior to the 2009 election, four (4) affirmative votes of 
the City Council are required to remove the Municipal Judge.



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

17 

SECTION 5.03 City Attorney 
 
(1) Appointment -- The City Council shall appoint by five (5) affirmative votes of the City 

Council a competent, duly qualified licensed and practicing attorney in the State who shall 
serve as the City Attorney 

(2) Duties --The City Attorney shall: 
(A) Serve as the legal advisor to the City Council; 
(B) Represent the City in litigation and legal proceedings as directed by the City Council; 
(C) Review and provide opinions as requested by the City Council on contracts, legal 

instruments, and ordinances of the City and other City business; and 
(D) Serve as the legal advisor to the officers and their departments, as directed by the 

City Council. 
(3) Special Counsel -- The City Council shall have the right to retain special counsel at any time 

that it may deem necessary and appropriate to collect delinquent and ad valorem taxes and 
liens or for such purposes the City Council deems appropriate. 

 
(4) Compensation -- The City Attorney and Special Counsel shall receive compensation as may 

be determined by the City Council. 
 
(5) Additional Counsel --The City Attorney, with the approval of the City Council, may select 

additional attorneys to act for said City Attorney and the City in its representation and/or 
litigation. 

 
Removal -- The City Attorney may be removed, with or without cause, by five (5) affirmative votes 
of the City Council.  
 
SECTION 5.04 Official Bond of City Employees 
 
The directors of all administrative departments whose duties include the handling of monies, and 
all employees whose duties include the handling of monies belonging to the City shall, before 
entering upon the duties of their office or employment, make bond in a responsible surety 
company, acceptable to the City Council for such amount as the City Council may prescribe, the 
premium of such bond shall be paid by the City; the City Council may also require any such surety 
bond to be further conditioned that the principal thereon will faithfully perform and/or discharge 
the duties of said person's office and if there are provisions of State law  bearing upon the functions 
of said person's office under which the execution of a surety bond is required, it shall be further 
conditioned to comply therewith. 
 

ARTICLE VI 

Financial 

SECTION 6.01 Audit and Examination of City Books and Accounts 
 

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering
Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0" + Tab after:  0.5" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: .  Prior to the 2009 election, four (4) affirmative votes 
of the City Council are required to appoint the City Attorney.¶

Deleted:  

Formatted: Normal, Justified
Deleted: Prior to the 2009 election, four (4) affirmative votes of 
the City Council are required to remove the City Attorney.¶



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

18 

At the close of each fiscal year, and at such other times as may be necessary, the City Council shall 
call for an independent audit of all accounts of the City by a certified public accountant.  The same 
firm or certified public accountant shall complete no more than five (5) consecutive annual audits.  
The certified public accountant selected shall have no personal interest, directly or indirectly, in 
the financial affairs of the City or any of its officers.  The written report of audit will be presented 
to and discussed by the City Council at a regular meeting.  The auditor’s recommendations will be 
read into the record of the meeting.  Copies of the audit shall be placed on file as a public record 
with the City Secretary.  

SECTION 6.02 Budget 
 
The fiscal year of the City shall begin on the first day of October and end on the last day of September 
of each calendar year.  Each year and in sufficient time to provide for all necessary hearings, the City 
Manager shall prepare and submit to the City Council a budget to cover all proposed expenditures 
of the City for the succeeding fiscal year.  Such budgets shall be prepared and administered pursuant 
to the applicable general laws of this state.  In the event that the budget is not enacted prior to October 
1st, the preceding fiscal year budget shall be deemed adopted, which may be amended or 
supplemented, as the City Council deems appropriate. 

SECTION 6.03 Taxes and Taxation 
 
(1)  Powers --  
 

(A) The City Council may levy, assess and collect taxes of any type or character not 
prohibited by state law. The maximum ad valorem tax rate shall be as provided in 
the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas. 

 
(B) The procedure, limitations and requirements for the levy, assessment and collection 

of any tax or lien thereof shall be as established by State law; provided that, if not 
established by State law, such procedures, limitations and requirements shall be 
established by ordinance.  

  
(2)  Office of Tax Collection – The finance director shall have the responsibility and duty for 

assessing and collecting taxes and the City Manager may appoint an officer in such 
department to perform such duties; provided that the City may contract for such services 
at the discretion of the City Council.  

 
(3)  Taxes; When Due and Payable --  
 

(A) All taxes due to the City shall be payable at the office of the city tax collector, or at 
such location or locations as may be designated by the City Council, and may be 
paid at any time after the tax rolls for the year have been completed and approved. 
Taxes for each year shall be paid before February 1st of the next succeeding year, 
and all such taxes not paid prior to that date shall be deemed delinquent, and shall 
be subject to penalty and interest as the City Council shall provide by ordinance. 

Deleted: Texas 

Deleted: .



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

19 

The City Council may provide discounts for the payment of taxes prior to January 
1st in amounts not to exceed those established by the laws of the State of Texas. 

 
(B) Failure to levy and assess taxes through omission in preparing the appraisal rolls 

shall not relieve the person, firm or corporation so omitted from obligation to pay 
such current or past due taxes as shown to be payable by recheck of the rolls and 
receipts for the years in question, omitting penalty and interest. 

 
(4)   Tax Liens, Liabilities and Suits -- 
 

(A) All taxable property located in the City on January 1st of each year shall stand 
charged from that date with special lien in favor of the City for taxes due. All 
persons purchasing any such property on or after January 1st of any year shall take 
the property subject to the liens provided above. In addition to the liens herein 
provided, on January 1st of any year, the owner of property subject to taxation by 
the City shall be personally liable for the taxes due for that year. 

 
(B) The City shall have the power to sue for and recover personal judgment for taxes 

without foreclosure, or to foreclose its lien or liens, or to recover both personal 
judgment and foreclosure.  In any such suit where it appears that the description of 
any property in the City appraisal rolls is insufficient to identify such property, the 
City shall have the right to plead a good description of the property to be assessed, 
to prove the same, and to have its judgment foreclosing the tax lien or for personal 
judgment against the owners for such taxes. 

SECTION 6.04 Designation of Depository for City Funds 
 
The City Council shall select a depository for City funds in accordance with State law, and to 
follow all the terms and provisions of State law. 
 

ARTICLE VII 

Bonds, Warrants and Other Evidence of Indebtedness 

SECTION 7.01 Authority to Issue 
 
The City shall have the right and power to borrow money for public purposes by whatever method 
it may deem to be in the public interest and as allowed by law.  The City shall have the right and 
power to issue tax bonds, revenue bonds, and any other evidences of indebtedness for permanent 
public improvements or for any other public purpose not prohibited by law or this Charter and to 
issue refunding bonds to refund outstanding evidences of indebtedness previously issued.  All such 
bonds or other evidences of indebtedness shall be issued in conformity with the laws of the State 
applicable at the time of issuance of such obligations. 

SECTION 7.02 Manner of Issuance 
 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

20 

Bonds and warrants of the City shall be issued as provided by the General Laws of Texas applicable 
to cities and towns. 
 

 
ARTICLE VIII 

Recall 

SECTION 8.01 Procedure  
 
The Mayor or any Councilmember may be removed from office in the following manner: 
 
(1) Any qualified voter of the City may make and file with the City Secretary an affidavit 

containing the name of any member of the City Council whose removal is sought, which said 
affidavit shall distinctly and specifically state the ground or grounds upon which removal is 
predicated.  The City Attorney shall review the affidavit for legal sufficiency and determine 
the validity of the allegations.  

 
(2) The City Secretary shall deliver a copy of such affidavit to the party so charged and also to 

the other members of the City Council.  The City Secretary shall then place the matter on the 
agenda of the next regular City Council meeting for the purpose of giving the affiant an 
opportunity to present such charges to the City Council and to give the Mayor or 
Councilmember so charged an opportunity to answer such charge or charges.  Such matter 
may be considered by the City Council in an executive session which is closed to the public, 
unless such officer requests a public hearing.  If, after such meeting, such officer has not 
tendered such resignation or such affiant has not withdrawn such charges, the City Secretary 
shall deliver to the affiant making such charges, copies of petition blanks for demanding such 
removal, printed on forms which shall be kept on hand.  Such blanks shall be issued by the 
City Secretary with the City Secretary's signature thereto attached, and they shall be dated 
and addressed to the City Council, indicate the person to whom issued, state the name of the 
member whose removal is sought, and such petition must distinctly and specifically point 
out the ground or grounds upon which such petition for removal is predicated, and, if there 
be more than one ground, such as for incompetency, misconduct or malfeasance in office, 
shall specifically state each ground with certainty, as was required in the initial affidavit, so 
as to give the officer sought to be removed and those signing the petition, notice of the matters 
and things with which such officer is charged.  A copy of the petition shall be recorded in a 
record book for that purpose to be kept in the office of the City Secretary.   

 
(3) For a recall petition to be effective, the petition must be returned and filed with the City 

Secretary within thirty (30) days after its issuance.  Such petition must bear the signatures of 
qualified voters of the City equal in number to at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the total 
number of voters casting votes for such office at the last regular election or the signatures of 
two hundred fifty (250) qualified voters of the City, whichever is the greatest. 

 
(4) Signatures to a recall petition need not be appended to one paper, but to each such petition 

paper there shall be attached an affidavit of the circulator thereof, stating that each signature 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

21 

thereto was made in the circulator's presence and is the genuine signature of the person whose 
name it purports to be.  Each signer of a recall petition shall sign in ink or indelible pencil 
and shall place after such signature, said name printed, the date when said signature was 
made, signer's residence by street and number, or other description to identify signer's place 
of residence, and if available, signer's voter registration certificate number.  Inclusion of the 
voter registration number is not required and may be placed on the petition by the signer or 
added to the petition by the person circulating the petition.  It shall serve only as an aid to 
assist the City Secretary in the task of determining whether or not the signer is a qualified 
voter.  Provided, however, nothing in regard to the inclusion of such registration number 
shall affect the validity of the petition including, but not limited to, errors in regard to the 
number supplied or its total omission.  Recall petition papers provided by the City Secretary 
shall be in form that substantially complies with the form in Appendix A. 

 
(5) All papers and affidavits comprising a recall petition shall be assembled and filed with the 

City Secretary as one instrument, with a notarized statement attached thereto giving the 
names and addresses of three (3) qualified voters, who as a committee of the petitioners, shall 
be officially regarded as filing the petition.  Within twenty (20) business days of the date of 
filing a recall petition, the City Secretary shall determine the sufficiency thereof and attach 
thereto a certificate showing the result of the examination.  If the City Secretary shall certify 
that the petition is insufficient, the City Secretary shall set forth in the certificate the 
particulars in which it is defective and shall within three (3) business days notify the 
committee of petitioners of such finding. 

 
(6) A recall petition may be amended at any time within twenty (20) business days after the 

making of the certificate of insufficiency by the City Secretary by filing a supplementary 
petition upon additional papers issued, signed and filed as provided herein for an original 
petition.  The City Secretary shall within five (5) business days after such amendment is filed, 
make examination of the amended petition and, if the City Secretary certificate shall show 
the petition still to be insufficient, the City Secretary shall file the petition in the office of the 
City Secretary and notify the committee of petitioners of such findings.  The finding of 
insufficiency of a recall petition shall not prejudice the filing of a new petition for the same 
purpose. 

 
(7) If a recall petition, or amended petition shall be certified by the City Secretary to be sufficient, 

the City Secretary shall within three (3) business days submit it to the City Council with the 
City Secretary certificate to that effect and shall notify the member whose removal is sought 
on such action.  The officer whose removal is sought may, within five (5) days after such 
recall petition has been presented to the City Council, request that a public hearing be held 
to permit the officer whose removal is sought to present facts pertinent to the charges 
specified in the recall petition.  In this event, the City Council shall order such public hearing 
to be held, not less than five (5) nor more than fifteen (15) business days after receiving such 
request for public hearing.  If the officer whose removal is sought does not resign within five 
(5) business days after such public hearing, or if no public hearing is requested, within five 
(5) business days after the deadline for requesting such public hearing, the City Council shall 
thereupon order and fix the date for holding a recall election which shall be held at the next 
date authorized for City elections by State law, but not less than forty (40) days after the date 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

22 

of said public hearing, if requested, or if a public hearing has not been requested, not less 
than forty (40) days after the deadline for requesting such public hearing. 

 
(8) The question of recalling any number of members of the City Council may be submitted at 

the same election, but as to each member whose removal is sought a separate affidavit and a 
separate petition shall be filed and there shall be an entirely separate ballot.  Candidates to 
succeed any members of the City Council whose removal is sought shall be placed in 
nomination in compliance with this Charter. 

 
(9) The ballot to be used in a recall election shall submit the proposition in substantial 

compliance with the form in Appendix B.  Except as provided in this section, ballots used in 
recall elections shall comply with the provisions of this Charter regarding ballots for regular 
municipal elections. 

 
(10) If a majority of the votes cast on the question of recalling the Mayor or a Councilmember 

be against recall, such Mayor or Councilmember shall continue in office for the remainder 
of the unexpired term, but subject to recall as before.  If a majority of such votes be for 
recall of the officer on the ballot, such officer shall, regardless of any technical defect in 
the recall petition, be deemed removed from office.  When the Mayor or a Councilmember 
is removed from office by recall, the candidate to succeed such officer who receives the 
highest vote shall be declared elected to fill the unexpired term. 

 
(11) If a Mayor or Councilmember in regard to whom sufficient recall petition is submitted shall 

resign, the seat shall be declared vacant by the City Council and shall be filled by the qualified 
voters at an election called for the next available uniform election date prescribed by State 
law, as amended.  If the term of office or offices is or are unexpired, the member or members 
elected at such election shall serve in such office or offices for the remainder of the unexpired 
term of such office or offices following the date of the election. 

 
(12) No recall shall be filed against the Mayor or a Councilmember within three (3) months after 

such Mayor or Councilmember takes office.  In the case of a Mayor or Councilmember 
subjected to a recall petition and not removed thereby no recall shall be filed against the 
Mayor or Councilmember until at least six (6) months after the recall election.  In the case of 
a Mayor or Councilmember subjected to an ineffective recall petition that is not returned to 
the City Secretary within thirty (30) days after its issuance no recall shall be filed against the 
Mayor or Councilmember until at least six (6) months after the expiration of the thirty (30) 
days. 

 
 

ARTICLE IX 

Legislation by Initiative and Referendum 

SECTION 9.01 Initiative 
 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

23 

(1) Qualified voters of the City shall, on at least two (2) separate regular meetings of the City 
Council within a sixty (60) day period, request adoption of an ordinance (except one 
appropriating money, levying a tax, issuing bonds, zoning, or salaries of City officers or 
employees).  In the event the City Council fails to enact such an ordinance, such voters may 
submit a petition to the City Council which, after approval as to legal form by the City 
Attorney, requests that the ordinance be passed by the City Council, or, if not passed, it be 
submitted to a vote of the qualified voters of the City.  Said petition must be signed by 
qualified voters of the City equal in number to twenty percent (20%) of the number of votes 
cast at the last regular municipal election, or 250, whichever is greater, and each copy of the 
petition shall have attached to it a copy of the proposed ordinance. 
(A) The petition must state the residence of each signer and bear the oath of one of the 

Petitioners that each signature thereon is the genuine signature of each person whose 
name it purports to be subscribed thereon. 

(B) The petition shall be filed with the City Secretary and within twenty (20) business 
days after such filing the City Secretary shall check the signatures on the petition 
against the county voter registration lists and attach thereto the City Secretary 
certificate showing the results of such examination. 

(2) Any person who has filed an insufficient petition shall be notified within three (3) business 
days upon discovery of such insufficiency and may present additional signatures within ten 
(10) business days after such notice or may file a new petition at any time. 

 
(3) Within twenty (20) business days after the City Secretary finds such a petition to be 

sufficient, the City Council shall either pass the ordinance as submitted or order an election 
to submit the proposed ordinance to a vote of the qualified voters of the City who shall vote 
on the question: "For the Ordinance" or "Against the Ordinance."  If a majority of the 
qualified voters at such election vote for the ordinance, it shall thereupon be an ordinance of 
the City. 

SECTION 9.02 Referendum 
 
Qualified voters of the City may require that any ordinance, with the exception of ordinances 
appropriating money or levying taxes, passed by the Council be submitted to the voters of the City 
for approval or disapproval, by submitting a petition for this purpose within thirty (30) days after 
final passage of said ordinance, or within thirty (30) days after its publication. The petition shall 
be signed in the same manner as recall petitions are signed, as provided in this article, and shall be 
verified by oath in the manner and form provided for recall petitions in this article and shall be 
submitted to the City Secretary. Immediately upon the filing of such petition, the City Secretary 
shall present to the Council. Thereupon the Council shall immediately reconsider such ordinance 
and, if the Council does not entirely repeal the same, shall submit it to the popular vote as provided 
in this charter. Pending the holding of such election, each ordinance shall be suspended from taking 
effect and shall not later take effect unless a majority of the qualified voters voting thereon at such 
election shall vote in favor thereof.  
 
SECTION 9.03 Voluntary Submission of Legislation by the City Council 
 

Deleted: or 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

24 

The City Council, upon its own motion and by the affirmative vote of a majority of the full 
membership of the City Council, may submit to popular vote at any election for adoption or 
rejection any proposed ordinance, or may submit for repeal any existing ordinance, in the same 
manner and with the same force and effect as provided in this Article for submission of petition, 
and may at its discretion call a special election for this purpose.  
 
SECTION 9.04 Form of Ballots 
 
The ballots used when voting upon such proposed and referred ordinance, resolution or measures, 
shall set forth their nature sufficiently to identify them and shall also set forth upon separate lines 
the words: 
 
 “For the Ordinance” or 
 “Against the Ordinance”  

SECTION 9.05 Publication of Proposed or Referred Ordinances 
 
Prior to the date early voting shall begin in any election on an initiative or referendum, the City 
Secretary shall cause the caption of the  particular ordinance to be published in at least one issue of 
the official newspaper of the City or a printed copy thereof mailed to each qualified voter of the City 
as appears on the tax roll of the City on the 1st day of January of the year the petition was presented 
and the City Secretary shall do such other things relative to such election as are required in general 
municipal elections or by the order calling said election. 
 
SECTION 9.06 Adoption of Ordinances 
 
If a majority of the qualified voters voting on any proposed ordinance shall vote in favor thereof, it 
shall thereupon or at any time fixed therein, become effective as a law or as a mandatory order of 
the Council. 
 
SECTION 9.07 Inconsistent Ordinances 
 
If the provisions of two (2) or more proposed ordinances approved at the same election are 
inconsistent, the ordinance receiving the highest number of votes shall prevail.  
 
SECTION 9.08 Ordinances Passed by Popular Vote, Repeal or Amendment 
 
No ordinance which may have been passed by the Council upon a petition or adopted by popular 
vote under the provisions of this article shall be repealed or amended except by the Council in 
response to a referendum petition or by submission as provided by this charter. 
 
SECTION 9.09 Further Regulations by the City Council 
 
The City Council may pass ordinances or resolutions providing other and further regulations for 
carrying out the provisions of this Article consistent herewith.   
 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

25 

SECTION 9.10 Franchise Ordinances 
 
Nothing contained in this Article shall be construed to be in conflict with any provisions of this 
charter pertaining to ordinances granting franchises when valuable rights shall have accrued 
thereunder.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

ARTICLE X 

Franchises 

SECTION 10.01 Ordinance Granting Franchise 
 
Except for franchises issued under state or federal law, the City Council shall have the power by 
ordinance to grant, amend, renew and extend, all franchises, both public and private, operating 
within the City of Lucas.  
 
No grant to use the public right-of-way or property under ownership of the City shall be granted 
for a term of more than twenty (20) years from the date of the grant, renewal or extension of such 
franchise unless approved by citizens in accordance with this article.  The City Council may, by a 
majority vote, seek approval from the voters by submitting all applications exceeding twenty (20) 
years to an election in accordance with State law.  The prospective franchisee, not the City, shall 
fund the cost of said election. 

SECTION 10.02 Right of Regulation 
 
In granting, amending, renewing and extending public service and utility franchises, the City 
reserves unto itself all the usual and customary rights, including, but not limited to, the following 
rights: 
 
(1) To repeal the franchise by ordinance for failure to begin construction or operation within 

the time prescribed, or for failure to comply with terms of the franchise; 
 
(2) To require all extensions of service within the City limits to become part of the aggregate 

property of the service and operate subject to all obligations and reserved rights contained 
in this Charter.  Any such extension is considered part of the original grant and terminable 
at the same time and under the same conditions as the original grant; 

 
(3) To require expansion and extension of facilities and services and to require maintenance 

of existing facilities to provide adequate service at the highest level of efficiency and 
effectiveness; 

 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

26 

(4) To require reasonable standards of service and quality of product and prevent rate 
discrimination; 

 
(5) To impose reasonable regulations and restrictions to insure the safety and welfare of the 

public; 
 
(6) To examine and audit accounts and records and to require annual reports on local 

operations of the public service or utility; 
 
(7) To require the franchisee to restore, at franchisee's expense, all public or private property 

to a condition as good as or better than before disturbed by the franchisee for construction, 
repair or removal; 

 
(8) To require the franchisee to furnish to the City, from time to time within a reasonable time 

following request of the City, at franchisee's expense a general map outlining current 
location, character, size, length, depth, height and terminal of all facilities over and under 
property within the City and its extraterritorial jurisdiction; and 

 
(9) To require compensation, rent or franchise fees to be paid to the City as may be permitted 

by the laws of the State. 

SECTION 10.03 Regulation of Rates 
 
(1) The City Council has the power to fix and regulate the rates and charges of all utilities and 

public services, consistent with State law. 
 
(2) Upon receiving written request from a utility or public service requesting a change in rates, 

or upon a recommendation from the City that rates for services provided by or owned by 
the City be changed, the City Council shall call a public hearing for consideration of the 
change. 

 
(3) The City, public service or utility must show the necessity for the change by any evidence 

required by the City Council, including but not limited to, the following: 
(A) Cost of its investment for service to the City; 
(B) Amount and character of expenses and revenues connected with rendering the 

service; 
(C) Copies of any reports or returns filed with any state or federal regulatory agency 

within the last three (3) years; or 
(D) Demonstration that the return on investment, if any, is within the state and federal 

limitations. 
(4) If not satisfied with the sufficiency of evidence, the City Council may hire rate consultants, 

auditors and attorneys to investigate and, if necessary, litigate requests for rate changes, 
the expense of which shall be reimbursed to the City by the franchisee. 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

27 

SECTION 10.04 Transfer of Franchise 
 
No public service or utility franchise is transferable, except with the approval of the City Council.  
However, the franchisee real or personal property may pledge franchise assets as security for a 
valid debt or mortgage. 

SECTION 10.05 Franchise Value Not to be Allowed 
 
Franchises granted by the City are of no value in fixing rates and charges for public services or 
utilities within the City and in determining just compensation to be paid by the City for property 
which the City may acquire by condemnation or otherwise. 
 

ARTICLE XI 

Legal Provisions 

SECTION 11.01 Notice of Claim 
 
The City shall not be held liable on account of any claim for the death of any person or injuries to 
any person or damage to any property unless the person making such complaint or claiming such 
damages shall, within ninety (90) days after the time at which it is claimed such damages were 
inflicted upon such person or property, file with the City a written statement, under oath, stating 
the nature and character of such damages or injuries, the extent of the same, the place where same 
happened, the circumstances under which the same happened and the condition causing same, with 
a detailed statement of each item of damages and the amount thereof, giving a list of any witnesses 
known by affiant to have seen the accident. 

 
SECTION 11.02 Service of Process Against the City 
 
All legal process against the City shall be served upon the City Secretary. 

 
SECTION 11.03 Nepotism 
 
No person within the second degree by affinity or within the third degree by consanguinity to a 
Councilmembers or the City Manager shall be employed by or contracted with the City.  This shall 
not apply to the following: 
 
(1) Any person employed by the City prior to the person related in the above degree filing to 

run for elective office or being nominated for an appointment; or 
 
(2) Any person who is a seasonal employee or intern of the City. 

 
SECTION 11.04 Construction of Terms 
 
The construction of the provisions of this Charter shall comply with State law as amended. 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

28 

 
SECTION 11.05 Charter Deemed Public Act 
 
This Charter must be deemed a public act and judicial notice shall be taken thereof in all courts. 

SECTION 11.06 Severability of Portions of Charter 
 
If any provision of this Charter violates the Constitution of the United States, the Texas Constitution 
or any statues of the State, or if any court holds such provisions for naught for any reason, the 
remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby and shall continue in effect. 

 
 
 

ARTICLE XII 

Amendment and Review of Charter 

SECTION 12.01 Amendment of Charter 
 
Amendments to this Charter may be framed and submitted to the qualified voters of the City as 
provided by the Texas Constitution and the laws of the State as presently enacted or hereafter 
amended; but no more often than once every two (2) years, as provided by the laws of the State. 

SECTION 12.02 Council Review of Charter 
 
The City Council shall review the Charter at least once every five (5) years to determine whether 
any amendments are necessary.   
 
 

Deleted: Adoption of

Deleted: SECTION 12.01 Procedure¶
¶
This Charter shall be submitted to the qualified voters of the City for 
adoption or rejection on May 10, 2008, at which election, if a 
majority of the qualified voters voting in such election shall vote in 
favor of the adoption of this Charter, it shall then immediately 
become the governing law of the City until amended or repealed.¶
¶
It being impractical to submit this Charter by sections, it is hereby 
prescribed that the form of ballot to be used in such election shall be 
as follows, to-wit:¶
¶
FOR THE ADOPTION OF THE CHARTER¶
AGAINST THE ADOPTION OF THE CHARTER¶
¶
The present City Council of the City shall call an election in 
accordance with the provisions of the general laws of the State 
governing such elections, and the same shall be conducted and the 
returns made and results declared as provided by the laws of the 
State governing municipal elections, and in case a majority of the 
votes cast at such election shall be in favor of the adoption of such 
Charter, then an official order shall be entered upon the records of 
said City by the City Council of Lucas declaring the same adopted, 
and the City Secretary shall record at length upon the records of the 
City, in a separate book to be kept in the City Secretary office for 
such purpose, such Charter as adopted, and such City Secretary shall 
furnish to the Mayor a copy of the Charter which copy of the Charter 
shall be forwarded by the Mayor as soon as practicable, to the 
Secretary of State under the seal of the City together with a 
certificate showing the approval of the qualified voters of such 
Charter.¶

Deleted: 02

Deleted: 03



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

29 

Appendix "A"  RECALL PETITION 
 
 We, the undersigned qualified voters of the City of Lucas, Texas, hereby demand that the 
question of removing                                                                               from the City Council be 
submitted to a vote of the qualified voters of the City of Lucas based upon the following grounds: 
                                                                                                               
      * VOTER 
   NAME   REGISTRATION 
SIGNATURE  PRINTED  ADDRESS  DATE  NUMBER 
                                                                                                                    
                                                                                                                    
 
 
* Voter Registration Number is not required, may be placed on or added to the petition by the signer 
or person circulating the petition and neither its omission nor any error in regard thereto shall affect 
the validity of its petition. 
 
STATE OF TEXAS 
 
COUNTY OF                                         
 
 BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, personally appeared                                          who, 
after being duly sworn, deposes and says that he/she is the circulator of the foregoing petition paper 
and that the signatures appended thereto were made in his/her presence and are genuine signatures 
of the persons whose names they purport to be. 
 
                                                              
 
 SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME, this the             day of        __           , 2008. 
                                                     
        
 Notary Public in and for                        
                                       County, Texas 
 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

30 

Appendix "B"  BALLOT 
 
 
  
 Ballots used at recall election shall conform to the following requirements: 
 

1. With respect to each person whose removal is sought, the question shall be 
submitted: 

 
“Shall ________________ be removed from the Office of 
___________________ by recall?” 

 
2. Immediately below each such question there shall be printed the following words, 

one above the other, in order indicated: 
 

“Yes” 
 
 “No” 

 



 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Ordinance # 2008-05-00612 Canvass of Election for Home Rule Charter 
Approved May 15, 2008 

31 

 



City of Lucas 
City Council Meeting 

February 7, 2019 
7:00 P.M. 

City Hall - 665 Country Club Road - Lucas Texas 

MINUTES 

Call to Order 

Mayor Olk called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

City Councilmembers Present: 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Mayor Pro Tern Kathleen Peele 
Councilmember Wayne Millsap 
Councilmember Tim Baney (arrived at 8:54pm) 
Councilmember Steve Duke 
Councilmember Philip Lawrence 
Councilmember Debbie Fisher 

Staff Present: 
City Manager Joni Clarke 
City Secretary Stacy Henderson 
City Attorney Joe Gorfida 
City Engineer Stanton Foerster 
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn 
Fire Chief Ted Stephens 

Mayor Olk determined that a quorum was present. Everyone was reminded to silence their cell 
phones and the Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

Citizen Input 

1. Citizen Input. 

There was no citizen input at this meeting. 

Community Interest 

2. Community Interest. 

A. Presentation of Proclamation celebrating the City of Lucas' 60th Anniversary. 

Mayor Olk read into the recotd the Proclamation celebrating the City of Lucas' 60th Anniversary. 

B. Discuss pending legislation that is being considered by the 86th Legislature and 
provide guidance to City Staff and City Attorney. 

Councilmember Fisher encouraged citizens to go online to view the legislative meetings that are 
being livestreamed. 

Mayor Olk discussed other items of community interest stating that the City would be hosting an 
open house on February 19, 2019 celebrating the City's 60th anniversary from 5-7 pm. Mayor Olk 

ll Page City Council 
February 7, 2019 



9. Consider nominations for the 2019 Service Tree Award Program. 

Councilmember Fisher stated that the Service Tree Subconunittee met and nominated Mrs. Lee 
Ford and Peggy Rusterholtz as Service Tree recipients for their many contributions to the City and 
community. 

MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Fisher, seconded by Councilmember Duke 
to approve Mrs. Lee Ford and Peggy Rusterholtz as Service Tree recipients for 
2019. The motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote. 

10. Review Articles I and II of the City Charter and provide direction to the City Attorney 
regarding any proposed amendments to be considered as part of a Charter update. 

City Attorney Joe Gorfida stated that from a legal standpoint, there were no items that needed to be 
amended in Articles I and II of the Home Rule Charter. There were some provisions that needed to 
be updated relating to when the original charter was adopted, but nothing that conflicted with State 
law. 

The City Council had no suggested changes for Articles I and II of the Home Rule Charter. 

11. Consider appointing a Grand Marshal for the 2019 Founders Day Parade. 

Councilmember Fisher noted that Representative Candy Noble had been attentive to the 
community and nominated Representative Noble as the Grand Marshal for Founders Day. 

Mayor Olk asked City staff to extend an invitation to Representative Noble. 

12. Consider approving Resolution R 2019-02-00479 accepting the voluntary annexation 
petition submitted by Cary L. and Sharon C. Cobb for a tract of land located in the 
Montogomery Birch Survey, Abstract A0115, Tract 19, being all of 10.696 acres of 
land, otherwise known as 2020 East Lucas Road. 

Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn stated that the property owner had submitted for 
voluntary annexation as part of the development agreement. Mr. Hilboum noted that a new State 
law requires the Council to formally accept the voluntary annexation application. 

MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Fisher, seconded by Mayor Pro Tern Peele, 
to approve Resolution R 2019-02-00479 accepting the voluntary annexation petition 
submitted by Cary L. and Sharon C. Cobb for a tract of land located in the 
Montogomery Birch Survey, Abstract A0115, Tract 19, being all of 10.696 acres of 
land, otherwise known as 2020 East Lucas Road. The motion passed unanimously by 
a 7 to 0 vote. 

13. Discuss future transportation projects, the 2018 Collin County Bond Program and 
Park and Open Space funding with Collin County Commissioner Darrell Hale. 

Mayor Pro Tern Peele stated that the meeting should focus on larger items, such as the intersection 
near Southview and East Lucas Road, where land was purchased between the City and County to 
make improvements to the area, as well as the future project of Stinson Road. 

71 Pagc C i ty Counci l 
February 7. 20 1 9 



City of Lucas 
City Council Meeting 

March 7, 2019 
7:00 P.M. 

City Hall - 665 Country Club Road - Lucas Texas 

MINUTES 

Call to Order 

Mayor Olk called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

City Councihnembers Present: 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Mayor Pro Tern Kathleen Peele 
Council.member Wayne Millsap 
Council.member Tim Baney 
Council.member Steve Duke 
Council.member Philip Lawrence 
Council.member Debbie Fisher 

Staff Present: 
City Manager Joni Clarke 
Special Projects Coordinator Kent Souriyasak 
City Attorney Joe Gorfida 
City Engineer Stanton Foerster 
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn 
Finance Director Liz Exum 

Mayor Olk determined that a quorum was present. Everyone was reminded to silence their cell 
phones and the Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

Citizen Input 

1. Citizen Input. 

John Ballis, 1820 Winningkoff Road, shared that two accidents have occurred recently. Both 
accidents occurred on Winningkoff Road and one hit the mailbox located at 1818 Winningkoff 
Road. Mr. Ballis indicated that he hears traffic noise from his office and that last year there was an 
accident at the intersection of Blondy Jhune Road and Winningkoff Road and is requesting a stop 
sign for the intersection. Mr. Ballis also indicated that vehicles are traveling at a high rate of speed 
from Orr Road and from the Winningkoff Bridge. 

Michele Streiff, 1730 Winningkoff Road, lives next to the Winningkoff Bridge and expressed it is 
dangerous to pull in and out of the driveway. Ms. Streiff explained cars are pulling too far into the 
intersection of Blondy Jhune Road and Winningkoff Road and the traveling public is not stopping at 
the stop sign at the intersection of East Winningkoff Road and Orr Road. 

Bob Streiff, 1730 Winningkoff Road, requested the City's assistance with a neighbor's German 
Shepherd that is barking nonstop. 

lj Page Ci t y Co un ci l 
Ma r c h 7 , 2 0 1 9 



MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Baney, seconded by Councilmember Duke 
to approve the request by O'Reilly Auto Parts for landscape plan, site plan and 
architectural plan for a tract of land being 1.140 acres located in the William Snyder 
Survey, ABS #821, otherwise known as Lot 1, Block A of the O'Reilly addition. 

The motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote. 

7. Review Article III of the City Charter and provide direction to the City Attorney 
regarding any proposed amendments to be considered as part of a Charter update. 

The City Attorney review proposed amendments to Article III of the City's Home Rule Charter. 
The proposed revisions discussed included: 

• Deleting transitional provisions 

• Clarify the qualification language 

• Remove the referral of taxes in the arrears as it is no longer allowed 

• Remove language about filing and city hall not remaining open as it is not necessary 

• Filling a vacancy by four affirmative votes of the City Council so the City would not be 
required to call a special election (some councilmembers are not in favor of this change) 

• Change residency requirement to one year for the minimum time as a resident 

Mayor Olk will wait to review the whole charter and then decide if an election is warranted. 

Councilmember Fisher asked about the Denton County issue and a Mayor holding the position of 
County Appraiser. 

MOTION: No action was taken. 

Executive Session Agenda 

8. Executive Session. 

An Executive Session was not held at this meeting. 

9. Adjournment. 

MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Millsap, seconded by Councilmember 
Lawrence to adjourn the meeting at 8:57 pm. The motion passed unanimously by a 
7 to 0 vote. 

APPROVED: 

May~ 
- .......... -·······-····-···-· ...... - ........ ·- ... -··--······--- -· .. """········- ··· 

City Counc il 
M a rch 7, 2019 



City of Lucas 
City Council Meeting 

April 4, 2019 
7:00 P.M. 

City Hall - 665 Country Club Road - Lucas Texas 

MINUTES 
Call to Order 

Mayor Olk called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

City Councilrnembers Present: 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Mayor Pro Tero Kathleen Peele 
Councilmember Wayne Millsap 
Councilmember Steve Duke 
Councilmember Debbie Fisher 

City Councilrnembers Absent: 
Councilmember Tim Baney 
Councilmember Philip Lawrence 

Staff Present: 
City Manager Joni Clarke 
City Secretary Stacy Henderson 
City Attorney Joe Gorfida 
Fire Chief Ted Stephens 
City Engineer Stanton Foerster 
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn 

Mayor Olk determined that a quorum was present. Everyone was reminded to silence their cell 
phones and the Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

Citizen Input 

1. Citizen Input. 

There was no citizen input at this meeting. 

Community Interest 

2. Community Interest. 

A. Discuss pending legislation that is being considered by the 86th Legislature and 
provide guidance to City Staff and City Attorney. 

City Attorney Joe Gorfida noted that there was no further information regarding pending legislation 
at this time. Councilmember Fisher explained that HB 2 regarding property tax relief may provide 
no relief for taxpayers and suggested citizens reach out to their legislatures and monitor the bill as it 
may change. 

Mayor Olk discussed other items of community interest that included: 

• Cancellation of the Texas Trash Off Cleanup and electronic recycling event scheduled for April 
6, 2019 due to inclement weather. This event has been rescheduled to June 15. 

ll Page Cit v Co u n e i J 

April 4, 2019 



8. Consider appointing a Grand Marshal for the 2019 Founders Day Parade. 

City Manager Joni Clarke informed the Council that Representative Candy Nob le would be unable 
to attend the Founders Day festivities as Grand Marshal due to her schedule. 

The City Council nominated Mrs. Lee Ford as Grand Marshal for the Founders Day parade and 
asked staff to reach out to Mrs. Ford to check her availability. 

9. Review Articles IV and V of the City Charter and provide direction to the City 
Attorney regarding any proposed amendments to be considered as part of a Charter 
update. 

City Attorney Joe Gorfida reviewed with the City Council proposed amendments to Articles IV and 
V of the City's Charter. Mr. Gorfida identified several items for removal related to date specific 
items that were no longer valid, a typographical error in Section 5.01, and removal of item 9, Section 
4.03 under City Manager duties. 

City Manager Joni Clarke stated that Section 6.01 Financial, referring to changing auditing firms 
every five years was challenging for the City to find available firms and suggested this could be 
amended to reflect that different field auditors could be used within the same firm. 

Mayor Pro Tern Peele stated that changing the language and maintaining the same auditors may not 
give confidence in the audits performed. 

The City Council discussed various ways in which this section could be amended such as changing 
partners within the firm and changing the auditors that perform the work. 

The Council asked Mr. Gorfida to compile a complete listing of proposed amendments, once the 
Charter had been completely reviewed, and to add the auditor amendment to the list for further 
discussion. 

10. Consider the City's Compensation System. 

City Manager Joni Clarke gave a presentation regarding the City's compensation system noting that 
the City provides for cost of living adjustments as well as merit compensation. Ms. Clarke discussed 
identifying benchmark cities, defining the City's labor market, the need for future assistance in a 
market study. Ms. Clarke discussed the current benchmark cities used that did not provide the best 
comparison to Lucas, those included: 

• Celina 

• Fairview 

• Fate 

• Melissa 

• Parker 

• Prosper 

• Sunnyvale 

• Trophy Club 

51 P '1 ~ c' c i ty c (l ti 11 c i 1 
Apr i I -l . 1 ll I •J 



City of Lucas 
City Council Meeting 

May 2, 2019 
7:00 P.M. 

City Hall - 665 Country Club Road - Lucas Texas 

MINUTES 
Call to Order 

Mayor Olk called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

City Councilmembers Present: Staff Present: 
City Manager Joni Clarke 
City Secretary Stacy Henderson 
City Attorney Joe Gorfida 

Mayor Pro Tern Kathleen Peele 
Councilmember Tim Baney 
Councilmember Steve Duke 
Councilmember Debbie Fisher Development Services Director Joe Hilboum 

City Councilmembers Absent: 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Councilmember Wayne Millsap 
Councilmember Philip Lawrence 

Mayor Pro Tern Peele detennined that a quorum was present. Everyone was reminded to silence 
their cell phones and the Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

Citizen Input 

1. Citizen Input. 

There was no citizen input at this meeting. 

Community Interest 

2. Items of Community Interest. 

A. Presentation of Service Tree Awards to the 2019 Recipients Peggy Rusterholtz and Mrs. 
Lee Ford. 

Mayor Pro Tern Peele presented the Service Tree Award Certificates to recipients Peggy Rusterholtz 
and Mrs. Lee Ford. 

B. Discuss pending legislation that is being considered by the 86th Legislature and provide 
guidance to City Staff and City Attorney. 

There was no legislation update discussed at this meeting. 

lj Page City Co un cil 
May2 , 2019 



Mayor Pro Tero Peele discussed the following items of community interest: 

• The City's General and Special Election was scheduled for May 4 that included City Council 
seats 5 and 6 on the ballot as well as renewing the one-half percent sales tax allocated towards 
the Fire District. Mayor Pro Tero Peele clarified that the sales tax being collected was included 
in the existing sales tax and would not be an additional tax. 

• The City's Founders Day event was scheduled for May 11 from Noon to 4 pm, and should there 
be inclement weather, the event would still take place with fewer amenities. 

• The Blackland Prairie Raptor Center would be holding their Kids Fishing Derby on May 11 
from 8 am to 11 am. 

Consent Agenda 

3. Consent Agenda. 

A. Approval of the minutes of the April 4, 2019 City Council meeting. 

MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Fisher, seconded by Councilmember Baney 
to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. The motion passed unanimously by a 
4 to 0 vote. 

Regular Agenda 

4. Consider rejecting the bids received on April 9, 2019, for the North Pump Station Water 
Tower and Pump House Bid #018-19. 

Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn stated that staff received two bids for the North Pump 
Station and pump house that were over the engineers estimate of approximately $3 million. Mr. 
Hilbourn stated that the project was very complicated and contained more elements than most water 
tower projects. 

Mr. Hilbourn recommended the proposals be rejected and rebid the projects breaking out each item 
for the water tower, pump house, main extensions, and fencing to bring the project closer in line with 
the original estimate. 

MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Baney, seconded by Councilmember Duke to 
reject the bids received on April 9, 2019 for the North Pump Station Water Tower and 
Pump House Bid #018-19. The motion passed unanimously by a 4 to 0 vote. 

5. Review Articles VI and VII of the City Charter and provide direction to the City 
Attorney regarding any proposed amendments to be considered as part of a Charter 
update. 

City Attorney Joe Gorfida reviewed Articles VI and VII with the City Council noting the following 
chapters/sections that could be considered for updates: 

• Section 6.01. Financial - the statement "the same firm or certified public account shall 
complete no more than five (5) consecutive annual audits." It was discussed at a previous 

2j Pagc City Council 
May 2 . 20 1 9 



meeting to consider removing this requirement; however, the City Council was in agreement 
to leave this requirement as written. 

• Section 6.03. Taxes and Taxation - language relating to State Law could be clarified to laws 
of the State of Texas. 

• Section 7.01. Authority to Issue - language relating to "whatever method it may deem to be 
in the public interest" be clarified to as allowed by State law. 

There were no other recommended changes, this item was for discussion purposes only, no formal 
action was taken. 

6. Consider calling a special City Council meeting for the purpose of canvassing the 
May 4, 2019 election results. 

City Secretary Stacy Henderson stated that a special meeting was required to canvass the election 
results of the May 4, 2019 election. Per Section 67 .004(a) of the Texas Election Code, for the 
purpose of canvassing a city election, only two members of the City Council are needed to constitute 
a quorum. Ms. Henderson proposed May 13 or 14, 2019 as dates to hold the special meeting. 

Mayor Pro Tern Peele and Councilmembers Fisher and Duke stated they would be in attendance at 
the special called meeting. 

MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Fisher, seconded by Councilmember Baney 
to approve calling~ special meeting for May 13, 2019 at 8:15 am for the purpose of 
canvassing the May 4, 2019 election results. The motion passed unanimously by a 4 
to 0 vote. 

Executive Session Agenda 

7. The City Council will convene into Executive Session as permitted under the Texas 
Government Code, Section 551.074, Personnel Matters, to conduct interviews of 
Board of Adjustment applicants and discuss Board of Adjustment appointments. 

The City Council convened into Executive Session at 7:25 pm to conduct interviews of Board of 
Adjustment applicants and discuss Board of Adjustment appointments. 

8. Reconvene from Executive Session and take any action necessary as part of the 
Executive Session. 

The City Council reconvened from Executive Session at 8:03 pm and took no action as a result of 
the Executive Session. 

31 Page c it y c (l ll !) c i 1 
M ay 2 , ~ 0 1 9 











Item No. 07 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

Requester: Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Discuss permitting the sale of beer and wine produced locally during the Lucas Farmers Market.   
 
Background Information  
 
The Farmers Market Committee received a request from a local vendor Berkshire Farms about 
the potential for selling locally produced wine at the City’s Farmers Market event. Staff reached 
out to the City Attorney for guidance regarding the sale of beer and wine at the farmers market. 
The City would have to change the park regulations to permit the sale of beer and wine and the 
vendor would have to comply with the requirements below: 
 

• Berkshire Farms holds a Winery Festival Permit (GF) and a Winery Permit (G). The 
Winery Festival Permit is a subordinate permit issued to holders of a Winery Permit and 
allows wineries to sell wine at a civic or wine festival, farmers market, celebration or 
similar event per Texas Alcohol Beverage Code Section. 17.01. 

 
• Any winery holding a Winery Festival Permit (GF) intending to sell wine at a civic or 

wine festival, farmers' market, celebration or similar event must obtain a Winery Festival 
Certificate from the TABC and the certificate must be posted in a conspicuous place at all 
times at the festival location. The Winery Festival Certificate may not be used for more 
than four days within any 30-day period or more than three consecutive days at the same 
location. 

 
Lucas is wet for off-premise consumption of beer and wine and may allow sales of wine pursuant 
to a Winery Festival Permit for off-premise consumption at a farmer’s market or other civic 
festivals or celebrations by a facilities agreement or special permit.  
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
NA 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
  



Item No. 07 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

Recommendation  
  
Staff is seeking guidance from City Council regarding the proposed request before any potential 
changes would be made to the parks ordinance.  
 
Motion  
 
NA 
 



Item No. 08 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

October 3, 2019 
 

Requester: Mayor Jim Olk 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Executive Session:  
 
An Executive Session is not scheduled for this meeting.  
 
As authorized by Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may 
convene into closed Executive Session for the purpose of seeking confidential legal advice from 
the City Attorney regarding any item on the agenda at any time during the meeting. This meeting 
is closed to the public as provided in the Texas Government Code.  
 
Background Information  
 
NA 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
NA 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
 
NA 
 
Motion  
 
NA 


	00 - 10-03-2019 agenda
	AGENDA
	City of Lucas
	City Council Meeting
	October 3, 2019
	7:00 PM
	City Hall – Council Chambers
	665 Country Club Road – Lucas, Texas
	Notice is hereby given that a special meeting of the Lucas City Council will be held on Thursday, October 3, 2019 at 7:00 pm at Lucas City Hall, 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, Texas 75002-7651 at which time the following agenda will be discussed.  As a...
	Call to Order
	Citizen Input
	Community Interest
	Consent Agenda
	Regular Agenda
	Executive Session Agenda
	Certification

	01 - Citizen Input cs
	Agenda Item Request
	Background Information
	Attachments/Supporting Documentation
	Budget/Financial Impact
	Recommendation
	Motion

	02 - Community Interest cs
	Agenda Item Request
	Background Information
	Attachments/Supporting Documentation
	Budget/Financial Impact
	Recommendation
	Motion

	03 - Consent Agenda
	Agenda Item Request
	Background Information
	Attachments/Supporting Documentation
	Budget/Financial Impact
	Recommendation
	Motion

	03a - 08-29-2019 cc minutes
	City of Lucas
	City Council Meeting
	August 29, 2019
	7:05 P.M.
	(or immediately following the Lucas Fire Control, Prevention and EMS District meeting)
	City Hall - 665 Country Club Road – Lucas Texas
	MINUTES
	Consent Agenda
	Regular Agenda

	03aa - 09-19-2019 cc minutes
	City of Lucas
	City Council Meeting
	September 19, 2019
	7:00 P.M.
	City Hall - 665 Country Club Road – Lucas Texas
	MINUTES
	Consent Agenda
	Regular Agenda

	03B - 2019 Water Conservation Plan and Water Resource and Emergency Management Plan
	03c - 2019 Water Conservation Plan for the City of Lucas
	04 - Four Star Contact cs 
	Agenda Item Request
	Background Information
	Attachments/Supporting Documentation
	Budget/Financial Impact
	Recommendation
	Motion

	04a - Four Star On-Call Contract FY 19-20
	04b - Four Star Exhibit A
	05 - Call for City Projects application 
	Agenda Item Request
	Background Information
	Attachments/Supporting Documentation
	Budget/Financial Impact
	Recommendation
	Motion

	05a - Resolution 2019-10-00490 Collin County Call for Projects
	05b - Collin County Call for City Projects Submittal Process
	06 - Charter Review
	Agenda Item Request
	Background Information
	Attachments/Supporting Documentation
	Budget/Financial Impact
	Recommendation
	Motion

	06a - PROPOSED Home Rule Charter Amendments
	Home Rule Charter
	City of Lucas, Texas
	HOME RULE CHARTER


	PREAMBLE
	Form of Government and Boundaries
	SECTION 1.01 Form of Government
	SECTION 1.02 Boundaries
	SECTION 1.03 Extension and Alteration of Boundaries

	Powers of the City
	SECTION 2.01 Powers of the City
	SECTION 2.02 Legislative Authority
	SECTION 2.03 Municipal Court
	SECTION 2.04 Enumerated Governmental Powers
	SECTION 2.05 Health Regulations

	City Council
	SECTION 3.01 Governing Body
	SECTION 3.02 Elected Officers
	SECTION 3.03 Candidacy of the Mayor and Councilmembers
	SECTION 3.04 Election
	SECTION 3.05 Judge of Election
	SECTION 3.06 Date and Conduct of Election
	SECTION 3.07 Qualifying of Officers
	SECTION 3.08 Candidates Holding Special Positions with the City
	SECTION 3.09 City Council Vacancies and Attendance
	SECTION 3.10 Mayor Pro-Tem
	SECTION 3.11 Compensation for the Mayor and Councilmembers
	SECTION 3.12 Duties of Mayor
	SECTION 3.13 Duties of City Council
	SECTION 3.14 Meetings of City Council
	SECTION 3.15 Quorum of City Council and Minutes of City Council Meetings
	SECTION 3.16 Ordinances and Resolutions
	SECTION 3.17 Official Newspaper
	SECTION 3.18 Influence of Appointments
	SECTION 3.19 Public Comment
	SECTION 3.20 Code of Ethics

	City Manager
	SECTION 4.01 Appointment
	SECTION 4.02 Compensation
	SECTION 4.03 Duties
	SECTION 4.04 Absence of City Manager
	SECTION 4.05 Removal

	City Officers
	SECTION 5.01 City Secretary
	SECTION 5.02 Municipal Judge
	SECTION 5.03 City Attorney

	Financial
	SECTION 6.01 Audit and Examination of City Books and Accounts
	SECTION 6.02 Budget
	SECTION 6.03 Taxes and Taxation
	SECTION 6.04 Designation of Depository for City Funds

	Bonds, Warrants and Other Evidence of Indebtedness
	SECTION 7.01 Authority to Issue
	SECTION 7.02 Manner of Issuance

	Recall
	SECTION 8.01 Procedure

	Legislation by Initiative and Referendum
	SECTION 9.01 Initiative
	SECTION 9.02 Referendum
	SECTION 9.05 Publication of Proposed or Referred Ordinances

	Franchises
	SECTION 10.01 Ordinance Granting Franchise
	SECTION 10.02 Right of Regulation
	SECTION 10.03 Regulation of Rates
	SECTION 10.04 Transfer of Franchise
	SECTION 10.05 Franchise Value Not to be Allowed

	Legal Provisions
	SECTION 11.01 Notice of Claim
	SECTION 11.02 Service of Process Against the City
	SECTION 11.03 Nepotism
	SECTION 11.04 Construction of Terms
	SECTION 11.05 Charter Deemed Public Act
	SECTION 11.06 Severability of Portions of Charter

	Amendment and Review of Charter
	Amendment and Review of Charter
	SECTION 12.01 Amendment of Charter
	SECTION 12.02 Council Review of Charter

	Appendix "A"  RECALL PETITION
	Appendix "B"  BALLOT

	06b - City Council Minute excerpts
	02-07-2019 City Council Minutes
	03-07-2019 City Council Minutes
	04-04-2019 City Council Minutes
	05-02-2019 City Council Minutes
	06-06-2019 City Council Minutes
	06-20-2019 City Council Minutes

	07 - sale of beer and wine at farmers market
	Agenda Item Request
	Background Information
	Attachments/Supporting Documentation
	Budget/Financial Impact
	Recommendation
	Motion

	08 - Executive Session
	Agenda Item Request
	Background Information
	Attachments/Supporting Documentation
	Budget/Financial Impact
	Recommendation
	Motion


